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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERHE

To Shareholders,

On behalf of Xinyang Maojian Group Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased
to present the annual report of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 30 June 2019 (the “Year”).

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the Year, the Group was suffering from the outbreak of Sino-US trade war
and, thus, recorded a loss of approximately HK$698 million. The Group
recorded a loss attributable to the owners of the Company of approximately
HK$667 million, representing an increase of 235% compared with that of the
previous financial year. It was because that a one-off written off of idle assets
in Mudanjiang had been provided for the Year. For the Year, the Group
recorded a revenue of approximately HK$323 million, representing a decrease
of 12% compared with that of previous financial year. The decrease in
revenue was derived from the decrease in heat supply in the industrial sector
of the heat and power division and the decrease in the number of
construction projects in relation to the construction services division.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Following the Sino-US trade war, the industrial sector of the People Republic
of China (the “PRC”) was sustained downturn. In light of the current situation,
it is believed that the production plants in Mudanjiang could not be resumed.
On the other hand, the operation, of Heihe Longjiang Chemical Limited (the
“Heihe LongdJiang”) had been suspended in March 2019 due to the low
market selling price of its final products — calcium carbide. Therefore, we are
exploring the opportunity to transform the plant and equipment of Heihe into
another product — high carbon ferromanganese. Fortunately, the heat and
power division and the construction service division is still providing a stable
revenue to the Group. Our management will closely monitor the business
environment and explore new and value-added businesses from time to time
in order to diversify the risk of the Group and provide a stable return to the
Group.

PROSPECTS

The uncertainty of the global economy and ongoing Sino-US trade war have
created downside risks and increased volatility for the economy in PRC.
Among the conservative and pragmatic approach to the existing business,
we are actively exploring other business opportunities to broaden the sources
of revenue and diversify business risk in the best interest of shareholders of
the Company.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

EEHRE (A)

GRATITUDE

On behalf of the Company, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to our
shareholders, the business partners and the management and staff for their
unreserved support and continuing trust to the Group.

By order of the Board

Chan Yuk, Foebe
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 September 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BERBNWKkD

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, following the outbreak of the Sino-US trade war and the
devaluation of RMB, the economy of the PRC had been negatively impacted.
The Group suffered from this and as a result, recorded a loss of approximately
HK$698 million. The loss was mainly derived from the one-off written-off of
idle production lines in Mudanjiang, which have been suspended for a few
years already.

During the Year, revenue of the Group amounted to approximately HK$323
million (2018: approximately HK$368 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 12% compared with that of the last financial year. Loss
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$667 milion (2018: approximately HK$199 million), representing an
increase of 235% compared with that of the last financial year.

The decrease in the Group’s revenue was mainly derived from the decrease
in heat supply in the industrial sector of the heat and power division and the
decrease in the number of construction projects in relation to the construction
services division.

The Group’s selling and distribution costs for the Year was approximately
HK$20 million (2018: approximately HK$18 million), representing an increase
of approximately 11% compared with that of the last financial year. The
increase in selling and distribution costs was mainly due to the expenditure
on the newly set up fee collection station for the residential heat supplying
area during the Year.

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year was approximately HK$163
million (2018: approximately HK$192 million), representing a decrease of
approximately 15% compared with that of the last financial year. In the last
financial year, the amortisation on construction contract of approximately
HK$26 million derived from the acquisition of Mudanjiang Jinyang Municipal
Engineering Company Limited (“Jinyang Engineering”) was included under
administrative expenses. Since the amortisation was a one-off item and did
not recur during the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses significantly
decreased during the Year.

The Group’s other operating expenses for the Year was approximately HK$75
million (2018: approximately HK$60 million), representing an increase of
approximately 25% compared with that of the last financial year. The increase
in other operating expenses resulted from the suspension of Heihe Longjiang
HLCCL since March 2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEHWED 7 (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The Group has recognised a written-off of approximately HK$410 million
during the Year (2018: impairment of approximately HK$4 million) on the
property, plant and equipment of the idle production plants in Mudanjiang. In
light of the global economic environment and industrial policy in the PRC, the
management considers that the coal-related business in Mudanjiang will not
resume in the foreseeable future. Thus, a written-off was made on the idle
production plants.

Heat and power division

During the Year, the heat and power segment recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$173 million (2018: approximately HK$185 million) from
external customers, representing a decrease of approximately 6% compared
with that of the last financial year. Income from residential supply of heat for
the Year was approximately HK$160 million (2018: approximately HK$166
million), representing a decrease of approximately 4% when compared with
that of the last financial year. The decrease was mainly due to the devaluation
of RMB. Segment profit of approximately HK$20 milion was attained
compared with a segment profit of approximately HK$31 million for the last
financial year.

Apart from the expansion of the residential heat supplying area, the
management of the Group had also closely monitored the operation to
reduce coal and energy consumption and avoid wastage so as to increase
the profit from our heat and power generating facilities.

Coal-related chemical production division

Coal related chemical production division included the calcium carbide
segment (the “CC segment”), the polyvinyl-chloride segment (the “PVC
segment”) and the vinyl acetate segment (the “VA segment”).

During the Year, the CC segment recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$76 million (2018: approximately HK$75 million) from external customers,
representing an increase of approximately 1% compared with that of the last
financial year. The segment loss of the CC segment was approximately
HK$398 million (2018: approximately HK$107 million), representing an
increase of approximately 272% compared with that of the last financial year.
The increase in segment loss for the CC segment was mainly due to the one-
off written-off on the idle production line.

The segment losses of the PVC segment and the VA segment were
approximately HK$129 million (2018: approximately HK$22 million) and
approximately HK$58 million (2018: approximately HK$31 million),
representing an increase of approximately 486% and approximately 87%,
respectively, compared with that of the last financial year. The increase in
segment losses were mainly due to the one-off written-off on the idle
production lines.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEHWED 7 (&)

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

Coal-related chemical production division (Continued)

Due to the current market environment, the management is not optimistic to
resume the idle production lines in Mudanjiang for the foreseeable future.
Thus, a one-off written-off was recognised for each of the CC segment, the
PVC segment and the VA segment during the Year.

Construction services division

During the Year, the construction services division recorded a revenue and a
segment profit of approximately HK$74 million (2018: approximately HK$108
million) and approximately HK$3 million (2018: approximately HK$16 million),
respectively. Due to the downturn of the PRC economy, the demand for
infrastructure construction was slowing down which caused a significant drop
in both revenue and segment profit.

PROSPECT

During the Year, following the outbreak of the Sino-US trade war and the
devaluation of RMB, the industrial sector of the PRC had been significantly
affected. The Group was facing the challenge of the continuous low market
pricing of final products in the industrial market.

Heat and Power division

During the Year, the residential heat supplying area maintained as 4,000,000
square meters. After the reporting period for the Year, the Group had entered
into several residential heat supplying contacts. The Group expects that the
residential heat supplying area will be increased by 500,000 square meters by
the end of the next financial year. The management also targets to expand
the residential heat supplying area to approximately 10 million square meters
over the next 3 years. Although the coal price remained at its peak during the
Year, the residential heat supplying area contributed a stable return to the
Group. The management strongly believes that the heat and power division
will continue to be the growth driver of the Group.

Coal-related chemical production division

Heihe

HLCCL had suspended the production of calcium carbide since March 2019,
due to the continuous low pricing in the final products of calcium carbide
resulting in a gross loss in production. To avoid the further deterioration of the
financial performance of the Group, the management had suspended its
operations. The management is also exploring the opportunity to transform
the plant and equipment into another product — high carbon
ferromanganese. The transformation is still in the preliminary stage and the
cost of transformation will be minimal.
transformation of the plant and equipment would benefit the Group and its
shareholders as a whole.

The Group believes that the
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEHWED 7 (&)

PROSPECT (continued)

Coal-related chemical production division (Continued)
Mudanjiang

Due to the current market environment, the management is not optimistic to
resume the plant and equipment in Mudanjiang for the foreseeable future.
Thus, a one-off written-off was recognised for the plant and equipment for
each of the CC segment, the PVC segment and the VA segment for the Year.

Construction services division
In the last financial year,
contributed a remarkable result for the Group due to its external construction
contracts. However, due to the weakening of the economic environment in
relation to the infrastructure industry in the PRC, the revenue of this segment
significantly decreased. Despite this, Jinyang Engineering will continue
providing support to the Group to help expand its heat supply network,
including the construction of heat exchange stations and facilities and pipeline
networks.

the acquisition of Jinyang Engineering had

Tea division

Following the outbreak of the Sino-US trade war, commodity products had
been greatly impacted, which caused the tea division to suffer a loss during
the Year.

Nonetheless, on 20 January 2019, the Company entered into a cooperation
framework agreement (the “Framework Agreement”) with Xinyang Maojian
Investment Development Company Limited* (5f5E LR EZERE AR A7), an
independent third party. The management considers that the entering into of
the Framework Agreement would enable both parties to leverage on their
respective strengths, resources and know-how to build a stable and mutually
beneficial strategic relationship for the development of tea industry related
projects. For details, please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
26 March 2019.

Appointment as window company of Mudanjiang City
Government

On 25 August 2015, the Mudanjiang City Government appointed the
Company as its Hong Kong based agent and foreign window company
representing it in the negotiation of matters concerning the city government’s
listing of domestic enterprises and projects, fund raising exercise and transfer
of equity interest. The Company was honored the appointment due to its
contribution to the local economy and good relationship with the Mudanjiang
City Government. The appointment has no fixed term and is intended to be a
high level initiative for the promotion of commercial and capital market
activities. The duty of the Company was not set out in the appointment letter,
nor has the Company performed any particular task, function or role as the
local government’s agent and window company since being appointed.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEHWED 7 (&)

PROSPECT (continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
Capital structure

The Group financed its operations and business development with internally
generated resources and equity and non-equity funding.

Liquidity and Financial Ratios

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had total assets of approximately HK$2,266.8
million (2018: approximately HK$3,176.8 million), which were financed by
current liabilities of approximately HK$276.5 million (2018: approximately
HK$386.3 million), non-current liabilities of approximately HK$1,125.4 million
(2018: approximately HK$1,113.6 million), non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$63.8 million (2018: approximately HK$93.1 million) and
shareholders’ equity of approximately HK$801.1 million (2018: approximately
HK$1,583.8 million).

As at 30 June 2019, the current assets of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$252.3 million (2018: approximately HK$357.7 million),
comprising inventories of approximately HK$40.5 million (2018: approximately
HK$28.2 million), trade receivables of approximately HK$42.9 million (2018:
approximately HK$6.8 million), prepayments, deposits and other receivables
of approximately HK$161.0 million (2018: approximately HK$258.6 million),
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$0.7
million (2018: approximately HK$1.9 million), cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$7.2 million (2018: approximately HK$62.2 million). As at 30
June 2019, the Group’s current ratio (current assets/current liabilities), quick
ratio ((current assets — inventory)/current liabilities), gearing ratio (total debts/
total assets) and debts to equity ratio (total debts/shareholders’ equity) of the
Group were approximately 0.9 (2018: approximately 0.9), approximately 0.8
(2018: approximately 0.9), approximately 61.8% (2018: approximately 47.2%)
and approximately 175.0% (2018: approximately 94.7%), respectively. The
higher gearing ratio was mainly attributable to the one-off written-off on the
idle production lines in Mudanjiang, whilst the total debts of the Group
remained stable. Throughout the Year, the management had taken several
measures to improve the liquidity position and financial position of the Group.

Although the Group was in net current liabilities position as at 30 June 2019,
the management has closely monitored the Group’s liquidity position and has
taken appropriate measures to ensure it had sufficient resources to meet its
financial obligations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEEHWED 7 (&)

PROSPECT (continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Equity funding

On 5 October 2018, the Company and Mr. Sha Tao (“Mr. Sha”), entered into
a subscription agreement for the subscription of 220,000,000 new shares of
the Company (“‘Shares”) of HK$0.1 each, at the subscription price of
HK$0.315 per Share (the “Subscription”). The Subscription was completed
on 10 December 2018. The gross proceeds and net proceeds were
approximately HK$69.3 million and approximately HK$68.8 million,
respectively. Details of the Subscription were disclosed in the circular of the
Company dated 15 November 2018 and the announcements of the Company
dated 5 October 2018, 30 November 2018 and 10 December 2018,
respectively.

The intended and actual use of proceeds from the Subscription up to 30 June
2019 and the date of the announcement of final results for the Year (the
“Results Announcement”) are set out as follows:
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PROSPECT (continued)

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources
(Continued)

Non-equity funding

Bank loans

As at 30 June 2019, the bank loans of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$73.8 million (2018: approximately HK$97.8 million). Based on the agreed
repayment schedule set out in the loan agreements, bank loans of
approximately HK$52.4 million (2018: approximately HK$73.5 million) were
repayable within 12 months, of which HK$2.6 milion was denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and approximately HK$49.8 million was denominated in
RMB (2018: approximately HK$2.4 million was denominated in Hong Kong
dollars and approximately HK$71.1 milion was denominated in RMB,
respectively). Further details of the Group’s bank loans are set out in note 35
of the financial statements.

Bonds

As at 30 June 2019, the aggregate amount of bonds payable was
approximately HK$906 million (2018: approximately HK$820 million). The net
proceeds raised from the placing of bonds were applied to enhance the
working capital of the Group.

Significant investment held by the Company

As at 30 June 2019, the Company did not have any significant investments
except for the financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$0.7 million. During the Year, the Company had recorded a fair value loss
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$0.1
million.

Charges on the Group’s assets

As at 30 June 2019, bank loans and other loans of approximately HK$73.8
million (2018: approximately HK$38.1 million) and approximately HK$28.3
million (2018: approximately HK$53.3 million), respectively, were secured by
charges over the Group’s certain fixed assets, land held under finance leases
and prepaid land lease payments.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT
VENTURES

On 5 January 2018, Prosper Path Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) (the “Purchaser”) entered into a share transfer agreement (the “Share
Agreement”) with Dragon Wise Group Limited (an indirect non wholly-owned
company of Mr. Sha) (the “Vendor”) to acquire 100% of the entire issued
share capital (the “Sale Shares”) of Xinyang Maojian International Holding
Limited (the “Target Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Target
Group”) at a total consideration (the “Consideration”) of HK$85,800,000 (the
“Acquisition”). On 11 June 2018, the Purchaser and the Vendor entered into
a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”, together with the
Share Agreement, the “Existing Agreements”), pursuant to which the
Purchaser and the Vendor agreed to amend certain terms of the Share
Agreement. The Consideration will be satisfied by way of allotment and issue
of 220,000,000 new Shares (the “Consideration Shares” and each a
“Consideration Share”) to the Vendor or its nominee(s) at an issue price of
HK$0.39 per Consideration Share. Pursuant to the Existing Agreements, the
Consideration Shares will not be allotted and issued to the Vendor unless and
until the guaranteed financial performance (the “Guaranteed Financial
Performance”) is met by the Target Group and the Purchaser shall in
accordance with the Existing Agreements, procure the Company to allot and
issue the Consideration Shares to the Vendor. The Acquisition was completed
on 4 October 2018.

Pursuant to the Existing Agreements, in the event that any of the Guaranteed
Financial Performance is not met after completion of the Acquisition, the
Purchaser shall exercise an irrevocable and unconditional put option in
relation to the Sale Shares within seven Business Days after the provision of
the Target Company’s audited accounts to the Vendor at an exercise price of
HK$1.

As the accumulated audited loss after tax of the Target Group for the Year
was approximately RMB4,165,000, the Guaranteed Financial Performance for
the Year (i.e. not less than profit of RMB8,500,000) could not be met. As the
circumstances were out of the control of the Vendor and after considering the
Group’s alternatives, in view of the potential of the development of the tea
industry and in order to achieve a long-term cooperation and success
between the Purchaser and the Vendor, on 9 October 2019, the Purchaser
and the Vendor entered into a second supplemental agreement and agreed
that the existing Guaranteed Financial Performance be amended.

Details of the Acquisition were disclosed in the circular of the Company dated
23 July 2018 and the announcements of the Company dated 5 January
2018, 11 June 2018, 15 August 2018 and 9 October 2019, respectively.
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LAPSE OF PLACING AGREEMENT

On 19 September 2018, the Company and a placing agent entered into a
placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”) in relation to the placing of up to
an aggregate of 220,000,000 new Shares (the “Placing Shares” and each a
“Placing Share”) to not less than six Placees at a price of HK$0.315 per
Placing Share during the placing period (the “Placing of Shares”). Assuming
all the Placing Shares are successfully placed by the Placing Agreement, the
aggregate gross proceeds from the Placing will be approximately
HK$69,300,000. The net proceeds from the Placing of Shares (after
deduction of placing commission and other costs and expenses) was
estimated to be approximately HK$68,500,000, representing a net issue price
of approximately HK$0.311 per Placing Share. The net proceeds from the
Placing of Shares were intended to be used for the repayment of bank loans
and bonds payable. The Placing of Shares did not proceed on or before 3
October 2018 (being the expiry date of the placing period) and lapsed
accordingly.

Details of the Placing of Shares were set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 19 September 2018 and 3 October 2018, respectively.

DISPOSAL OF SHARES BY THE SINGLE LARGEST
SHAREHOLDER

The Company was informed by Mr. Chan Yuen Tung (“Mr. Chan”), the then
single largest shareholder of the Company and Mr. Sha, the then second
single largest shareholder of the Company, that on 16 April 2019, Mr. Chan
and Mr. Sha entered into a conditional sale and purchase agreement (the “SPA”)
pursuant to which Mr. Chan agreed to sell and Mr. Sha agreed to purchase
146,000,000 Shares, representing approximately 10.97% of the total issued
Shares as at the date of the announcement of the Company dated 16 April
2019 (the “Disposal Announcement”), at a price of HK$0.915 per Share (the
“Disposal”).

The Company was further informed that the closing of the SPA is conditional
upon the fulfillment of certain conditions precedent on or before 15 December
2019 (or such other date agreed by the parties to the SPA), including in
particular, the entering into of a placing agreement by Mr. Chan to appoint a
securities broker licensed to carry out Type 1 (dealing in securities) activities
under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) as placing agent, to place on a fully underwritten basis to placees
independent of and not parties acting in concert with Mr. Sha, the remaining
200,479,861 Shares held by Mr. Chan (the “Placing”) other than the Shares
to be disposed of under the SPA. Pursuant to the SPA, completion of the
Disposal and the Placing shall take place simultaneously.

Details of the Disposal was set out in the Disposal Announcement.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2019, except as disclosed in note 38 of the financial
statements, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Although most of the Group’s operations were carried out in the PRC in
which transactions were denominated in RMB, the Directors consider that the
Group has no significant exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations, despite
of the devaluation of RMB during the Year. The Directors also consider that
there will be sufficient cash resources denominated in Hong Kong dollars for
the repayment of borrowings and future dividends. During the Year, the
Group did not use any financial instrument for hedging purposes and the
Group did not have any hedging instrument as at 30 June 2019.

In face of currency market instability, the Group will make use of hedging
instruments to mitigate the exchange rate risk as and when appropriate.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME

Subsequent to the passing of the special resolution approving the proposed
change of company name by the shareholders of the Company at the special
general meeting of the Company held on 18 August 2018, the Certificate of
Incorporation on Change of Name and the Certificate of Secondary Name
were issued by the Registrar of Companies in Bermuda on 6 September
2018, certifying the change of primary name of the Company from “China
Zenith Chemical Group Limited” to “Xinyang Maojian Group Limited” and the
change of secondary name of the Company from “ff B X{t TE=E B[R A7)
to “EIHELREBEABRAF". The Registrar of Companies in Hong Kong
issued the Certificate of Registration of Alteration of Name of Registered Non-
Hong Kong Company on 31 October 2018, confirming the registration of the
Company’s new English and Chinese names of “Xinyang Maojian Group
Limited” and “[E[5EREB AR AT, respectively, in Hong Kong under Part
16 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

With effect from 9:00 a.m. on 8 November 2018, the stock short name
changed from “C ZENITH CHEM” to “XINYANG MAOJIAN” in English and
from “fRE XL " to “2f5FEL" in Chinese for the purpose of trading in the
Shares on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The stock code of the Company on the Stock Exchange
remained unchanged as “362”. The corporate website address of the
Company changed from chinazenith.com.hk to xinyangmaojian.com.hk with
effect from 8 November 2018.
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Details of the change of name of the Company were set out in the circular of
the Company dated 23 July 2018 and the announcements of the Company
dated 8 January 2018, 11 June 2018, 15 August 2018 and 2 November
2018, respectively.

TREASURY POLICIES

The Group adopts a treasury policy that aims to better control its treasury
operations and lower its borrowing cost. As such, the Group endeavours to
maintain an adequate level of cash and cash equivalents to address short-
term funding needs. The Board also considers various funding sources
depending on the Group’s needs to ensure that the financial resources have
been used in the most cost-effective and efficient way to meet the Group’s
financial obligations. The Board reviews and evaluates the Group’s treasury
policy from time to time to ensure its adequacy and effectiveness.
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This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices applied
throughout the year ended 30 June 2019 (the “Year”).

The Group is committed to achieving high standards of corporate governance
to safeguard the interests of shareholders and to enhance corporate value
and accountability.

The Company has, throughout the Year, complied with the Corporate
Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”), except
for a certain deviation which is summarised below:

DISTINCTIVE ROLES OF CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Code provision A.2.1

Paragraph A.2.1 of the Code provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing.

Throughout the Year, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer were
performed by the same individual, Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, and were not
separated. The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) meets
regularly to consider issues related to corporate matters affecting operations
of the Group and considers that this deviation will not impair the balance of
power and authority of the Board and the Company’s management and thus,
the Board believes the current structure will enable effective planning and
implementation of corporate strategies and decisions of the Group.
Notwithstanding the above, the Board will review the current structure from
time to time and shall make necessary amendments at the appropriate time.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition and practices

The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s strategic planning and
development, and for determining the objectives, strategic and policies of the
Group while delegating day-to-day operations of the Group to the
management. Besides, each member of the Board is expected to make a full
and active contribution to the Board’s affairs and ensure that the Board acts
in the best interests of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. The
Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a director to perform
his or her responsibilities to the Company, and whether he or she is spending
sufficient time performing them.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Composition and practices (Continued)

As at 30 June 2019, the Board comprised seven members, namely, Ms.
Chan Yuk Foebe as the chairman of the Board (the “Chairman”) and the Chief
Executive Officer, Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric, Mr. Yu Defa and Mr. Chen Lei as
executive Directors and Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr.
Hau Chi Kit as independent non-executive Directors. Details of their
respective experience and qualification are set out in the “Biographical Details
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report. An
updated list of Directors and their respective roles and functions have been
maintained on the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(*HKEX”) and the Company.

The Board has maintained a balance of skills and experience appropriate for
the requirements of the businesses of the Group. Its composition represents
a mixture of management, accounting and finance, marketing, manufacturing
and procurement with comprehensive experience in and exposure to
diversified businesses. It is the opinion of the Directors that the Board has the
necessary skills and experience appropriate for discharging their duties as
Directors in the best interests of the Company.

Besides, to the best knowledge of the Company, there is no material/relevant
relationship, whether financial, operational, business, family, etc, among
members of the Board.

The Company had received confirmation from the independent non-executive
Directors that they complied with the guidelines on independence set out
under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and had not violated any provision
thereunder throughout the Year. Amongst them, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr.
Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit have the appropriate professional
qualifications and accounting and related financial management expertise
required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

Appropriate liability insurance for Directors has been arranged for indemnifying
their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. This insurance coverage is
reviewed on an annual basis.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Training and support for directors

Directors must keep abreast of their collective responsibilities. Each newly-
appointed Director would receive an induction package covering the Group’s
businesses and the statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a
listed company. To comply with code provision A.6.5 of the Code, all
Directors, namely Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe, Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric, Mr. Yu Defa,
Mr. Chen Lei, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi
Kit have participated in the Group briefings and other training provided by the
Group to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills during the Year. The
Group continuously updates Directors on the latest developments regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Circulars or guidance notes were issued to Directors and senior
management, where appropriate, to ensure awareness of best corporate
governance practices.

During the Year, the Directors also read various literature on directors’
obligations and responsibilities. A record of the training received from each of
the Directors are kept and updated by the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”).
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting — full directors’ board meeting
The Board meets regularly at least four times a year at quarterly intervals and
holds additional meetings as and when the Board thinks appropriate.

During the year ended 30 June 2019, 6 Board meetings were held for
discussion of the Company’s matters. The attendance of each Director, on a
named basis and by category, at the Board meetings during the Year is set
out below:

EExgw
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EFEeEHRTEBERIORZFESH
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HE-_Z-NFRA=THLFEGHT
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BEARERNME I BREFTHRESS
mZRBEHIWT

N
i

(==
=

Number of meetings

attended/Number of
Board meetings held
HESRRE,
Directors = EEEERBTAH
Executive directors HITEE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe f 22+ 6/6
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTV RAE 6/6
Mr. Yu Defa TEELEE 0/6
Mr. Chen Lei (Note) PR o A (P EE) 0/0
Independent non-executive directors BUIHITESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan R A& 6/6
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BEHREE 6/6
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BEEGTE 6/6

Note: Mr. Chen Lei was appointed as an executive Director on 24 April 2019.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting — executive Directors’ Board
meeting

In addition, during the Year, 9 executive Directors’ Board meetings were held
to deal with the compliance of legal and administrative procedures, including
internal corporate re-structuring and company secretarial matters.

To handle the above-mentioned matters, at least two executive Directors
were required to form a quorum.

The attendance of each Director, on a named basis and by category, at the
executive Directors’ Board meeting during the Year is set out below:

BEExgw

EEEER —UITEEEER

BN RAFESREEAB@ETEE KT
BEFEERTINNTZESSH BEA
BrrEEARRAAIWESFE -

REELEIFEE EFTERIEAETAESR
ROMBNTES -

AEERN RUEBRBHIMESBRESH
FHROTEEEERZRBHIIMT

Number of meetings
attended/Number of
executive Directors’
Board meetings held

HESERE
BITEEE
Directors = ERETRE
Executive Directors HITEF
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe 24+ 9/9
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric S s 9/9
Mr. Yu Defa TR E 1/9
Mr. Chen Lei (Note) PR & o A4 (M) 2/2
Independent non-executive Directors BUIFNITESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BEREMEE N/A R A
Mr. Tam Ching Ho ERELE N/A N A
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BEEMHTE N/A 7~iE F

Note: Mr. Chen Lei was appointed as an executive Director on 24 April 2019.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting — committee meeting

During the Year, 10 Board committee meetings were held. The attendance of
each Director, on a named basis and by category, at Board committee
meetings during the Year is set out below:

EESm

EExggeE —ZTEEESR
RAFESRFIONEEEEERE - AF
EX REARENFAS B EEHEE
EEEYRE I ABEIIMT

Number of meetings attended/
Number of meetings held

HEEBERB ERETRE

Remuneration Audit Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
Directors 2= FHEES EREEY REZE®
Executive Directors HITEFE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe BREZ+ N/A T N/A T~ A 3/4
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric A N/A 7~ FR N/A 7~ N/A 7~
Mr. Yu Defa FREEEE N/A 7~ R N/A g N/A T3 B
Mr. Chen Lei (Note) PR 5 A (B EE) N/A T A N/A 7~ A N/A i A
Independent non-executive Directors BUIFBITEFE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan BERMAEE 4/4 3/3 3/4
Mr. Tam Ching Ho B eSS 4/4 3/3 4/4
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BEEGEEE 4/4 3/3 4/4

Note: Mr. Chen Lei was appointed as an executive Director on 24 April 2019.

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-laws, meetings or extraordinary meetings of
the Board may be convened by means of telephone or similar
telecommunication facilities. Regular meetings of the Board were held during
the Year. Extra meetings were also held to cater for important matters arising
from time to time. Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all
Directors at least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. Board papers
together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are sent to all
directors/committee members at least three days before each meeting to
keep the directors appraised of the latest developments and financial position
of the Company to enable them to make informed decisions.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board meeting — committee meeting (Continued)
Minutes of Board/committee meetings would be kept by the Company
Secretary and shall be open for inspection by Directors. Where Directors have
a material or conflict of interests in any transaction discussed in the Board/
committee meetings, such a transaction will not be dealt with by way of
written resolutions unless clear declaration of interest is made by the relevant
Directors. The Directors concerned could express their views on the matter
but would not be counted as part of the quorum and shall abstain from voting
on the relevant resolutions.

In addition, to facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors have free
access to the management for enquiries and to obtain further information,
when required. The Directors can also seek independent professional advice,
in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense in discharging their
duties to the Company. All Directors have unrestricted access to the
Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board/committee
procedures are complied with and for advising the Board/committee on
compliance matters.

Non-executive Directors, including independent non-executive Directors,
should attend Board, committee and general meetings and contribute to the
Company’s strategy and policies.

Appointment and re-election of directors
The Company has established formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment and succession plan of directors.

All independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term.
The term of office for Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan is two years with effect from 1
April 2019. The term of office for Mr. Tam Ching Ho is two years with effect
from 7 December 2017. The term of office for Mr. Hau Chi Kit is two years
with effect from 18 December 2017.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all Directors are subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years and any new Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

The Board as a whole, with the nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”), is responsible for reviewing the Board composition, developing
and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and appointment of
Directors, monitoring the appointment and succession plan of directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, the Board
confirmed that all the Directors had complied with the required standard of
dealings set out in the Model Code throughout the Year. No incidents of non-
compliance of such guidelines was noted by the Company during the Year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three Board committees, namely the remuneration
committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) and the Nomination Committee for overseeing particular aspects
of affairs of the Company. These Committees have been established with
defined written terms of reference, as approved by the Board, which set out
the committee’s major duties.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the expense of the
Company.

Audit committee

The Company set up the Audit Committee on 8 April 2001, with written terms
of reference, for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal control systems. In
accordance with the requirements of the Code, the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee were revised on 21 October 2006, 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in terms substantially the same as the code
provisions set out in the Code.

As at 30 June 2019, the Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (chairman), Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit, all of whom are not involved in the day-to-day
management of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
Company’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee is also
responsible for reviewing the auditor’s appointment, the auditor’s
remuneration and any matters relating to the termination of, the appointment
of and the resignation of the auditor. In addition, the Audit Committee also
examines the effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls and risk
management, which involve regular reviews of the internal controls of various
corporate structure and business processes on a continuous basis, and take
into account their respective potential risk and urgency, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Company’s business operations, risk management
system and the realisation of its corporate objectives and strategies. The
scope of such examinations and reviews include finance, operations,
regulatory compliance and risk management. Each member of the Audit
Committee has unrestricted access to the external auditor and all senior
management of the Group in order to discharge its responsibilities. Save as
disclosed above, during the Year, the Audit Committee reviewed the audited
financial statements of the Company for the Year and the unaudited financial
statements of the Company for the six months ended 31 December 2018. It
also reviewed the system of internal control and risk management of the
Company.

During the Year, the Audit Committee met twice with the external auditor.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting —
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Audit Committee members.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that Elite Partners CPA
Limited, be nominated for re-appointment as auditor of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration committee

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 July 2005 with its
specific written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of the
Code. As at 30 June 2019, the Remuneration Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan
(chairman), Mr. Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration committee (Continued)

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for, inter alia, advising the Board
on the remuneration policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Company, as well as reviewing and either
determining with delegated responsibility the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors and senior management or making
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual
executive Directors and senior management in accordance with code
provision B.1.2(c)(ii) of the Code; making recommendations to the Board on
the remuneration of non-executive Directors, and approving the compensation
to executive Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of
their office or appointment, and reviewing and approving compensation
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct. No Director was
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.
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Remuneration of directors and senior management EERGHREE ABS T
Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the Code, the remuneration of the RIEFAEXEBASKE  AFETREE A
members of the senior management by band for the Year is set out below: ENEFMSBEEHIWOT :
Number of
individuals
Remuneration band (HK$) FHoNEE (B T) A
Nil to 1,000,000 = % 1,000,000 10

Further particulars regarding Directors’ emoluments and the five highest paid
employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing
Rules are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. During the Year,
the Remuneration Committee met four times, during which it assessed the
performance of the executive Directors. The attendance of each member of
the Remuneration Committee, on a named basis and by category, at the
committee meetings during the Year is set out in the section “The Board
Meeting — Committee Meeting” of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 2 November 2007, with its
specific written terms of reference revised on 21 March 2012 and 31
December 2018, respectively, in compliance with the code provisions of the
Code. As at 30 June 2019, the Nomination Committee comprised one
executive Director, namely Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (chairman), and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr.
Tam Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for, inter alia, the following:

(@ to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and make
recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board to
complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

(b)  to identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of the
Board and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of, individuals nominated for directorships;

(c) toassess the independence of independent non-executive Directors;

(d)  to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors, in
particular the chairman and the chief executive officer;

(e)  to do any such things to enable the Committee to discharge its powers
and functions conferred on it by the Board;

4] to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitution
of the Company or imposed by the Listing Rules or applicable laws;
and

(@ to ensure the chairman of the Committee, or in the absence of the
chairman, another member of the Committee or failing this his duly
appointed delegate, be available to answer questions at the annual
general meeting of the Company.

The Nomination Committee would review the composition of the Board from
time to time where Board diversity would be considered from a number of
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination committee (Continued)

The Nomination Committee adopted the board diversity policy on 31
December 2018. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of
having a diverse composition of the Board, gender and other qualities will be
considered in determining the optimum Board composition. The ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates
are likely to bring to the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee met four times during which
discussed and reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board.
Please refer to the table set out in the section “The Board Meeting —
Committee Meeting” of this report for the attendance record of individual
Nomination Committee members.

Corporate governance functions

During the Year, the Board determined the policy for the corporate
governance of the Company, and performed, inter alia, the following duties: (a)
developed and reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and made recommendations to the Board; (b) reviewed and
monitored the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements; (c) developed, reviewed and monitored the code
of conduct applicable to employees and Directors; (d) reviewed the
Company’s compliance with the Code and disclosure in the Corporate
Governance Report; and (e) reviewed and monitored the training and
continuous professional development of Directors and senior management.

Company secretary

Mr. Ma Kin Ling was appointed as the Company Secretary since May 2016.
Mr. Ma has confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training during the Year. The Company is of the view that Mr. Ma
has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for (i) overseeing the
preparation of the financial statements of the Group with a view to ensuring
such financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and
applicable accounting standards; and (ji) selecting suitable accounting policies
and applying them consistently with the support of reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates.

The independent auditor’s report of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements of the Group is set
out on pages 57 to 65 of this annual report.
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ACCOUNTARBILITY AND AUDITOR’S
REMUNERATION

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, price-sensitive announcements
and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory
requirements. The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the Year.

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about their
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” section of this annual report.

There are no material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. The Board has not taken any different view from that of the Audit
Committee in respect of the selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal
of external auditor.

The remuneration paid to Elite Partners CPA Limited, the external auditor of
the Company, and the nature of services are set out as follows:
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Type of services provided by Fee paid/payable
the external auditor SNEZEEATREREER e ENER
HK$’000
FAET

Audit services: HERT -
Audit of annual financial statements EREFHBHRE 1,480

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control
and risk management systems. The internal control and risk management
systems are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and the risks to
which it is exposed, and by their nature can only provide reasonable, but not
absolute assurance against misstatement or loss.

Procedures have been set up to safeguard assets against unauthorised use
or disposition, control capital expenditure, maintain proper accounting
records and ensure the reliability of financial information used for business
and publication. Qualified management throughout the Group maintains and
monitors the internal control systems on an ongoing basis.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

The internal audit department was set up on 15 May 2006, under the
supervision of the Board. During the Year, the Board reviewed the
effectiveness of the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group on the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s internal controls
and risk management. The review covers aspects relating to financial and
compliance controls of the major subsidiaries of the Company. Moreover,
operation professionals had been appointed to perform reviews on the new
information systems and operations. These reviews included operational
workflow and risk management controls over new manufacturing functions of
the Company. It was also the Board’s review to consider the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and
budget of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS

The Company encourages two-way communications with both institutional
and private investors. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in its annual reports and interim reports, which are sent to
shareholders of the Company.

Designated executive Directors and senior management maintain regular
dialogue with institutional investors and analysts to keep them abreast of the
Company’s developments. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the Company at
its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any inquiries.

At general meetings, the Chairman of the meetings raises separate resolutions
for each effectively independent matter. The general meetings of the
Company provide an opportunity for communication between the
shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of the Board and the chairman of
the Board committees, or in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, must attend the annual general meeting to address shareholders’
queries. The external auditor is also invited to attend the Company’s annual
general meetings and is available to assist the Directors in addressing queries
from shareholders relating to the conduct of the audit and the preparation
and content of its auditor’s report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

Shareholder(s) holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings can make a requisition to convene an extraordinary general
meeting pursuant to article 62 of the Company’s Bye-laws. The procedures
for shareholders to put forward proposals at general meetings are stated as
follows:

@)

The written requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and
must be signed by all the shareholders concerned and may consist of
several documents in like form each signed by one or more
shareholders concerned.

The written requisition must be stated with the head office of the
Company at Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building, 26 Harbour
Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong, for the attention of the Directors or the
Company Secretary.

The written requisition will be verified with the Company’s branch share
registrar and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in
order, the Company Secretary will ask the Board to include the relevant
resolution in the agenda for such general meeting. Such general
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition.

If within 21 days of such deposit, the Directors fail to proceed to
convene such a general meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves)
may themselves convene a meeting, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors
to do so shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (Continued)

During the Year, three general meetings were held. The 2018 annual general
meeting was held on 20 December 2018, and two special general meeting
were held on 15 August 2018 and 30 November 2018. The attendance
record of each Director, on a named basis and by category, at the general
meetings held during the Year under review is set out below:

BREMNRBREEBRR @

REAFEE BEITZAREREG . —T— )\
FREBFAEIR_ZE—NFF+_A=+
BRIT UERZZE-NFNA+HEBEZ=
E-NEFE+—-A=ZFTHRTMABEEFR X
G oOBEFRN  RUBRERMESTEES
HERERE 2R HI T

Number of general
meetings attended/
Number of general
meetings held

HERRAERE
Directors B BRRAXEEITRHE
Executive Directors HITEE
Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe RE L4+ 3/3
Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric BTV RAE 1/3
Mr. Yu Defa TEELEE 073
Mr. Chen Lei (Note) bR o A (M EE) 0/0
Independent non-executive Directors BIIFNITESE
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan R A& 0/3
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BEHREE 0/3
Mr. Hau Chi Kit BEEGTE 073

Note: Mr. Chen Lei was appointed as an executive Director on 24 April 2019.

No amendments were made to the Company’s Bye-laws during the Year.
The Company’s Bye-laws is available on both the websites of HKEx and the
Company.

Shareholder services

Any matter in relation to the transfer of shares, change of name or address,
or loss of share certificates should be addressed to the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office as follows:

Tricor Tengis Limited

54/F, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai,
Hong Kong

Tel: 2980 1888

Fax: 2861 0285
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND INVESTOR
RELATIONS (continued)

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may send their enquiries to the Board in writing
with contact details (including registered name, address, telephone number
and email address) to the Company Secretary as follows:

Address: Room 4007, 40/F., China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Telephone: 2845 3131

Fax: 2845 3535

Email: info@xinyangmaojian.com.hk
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREBAEEHN

DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe (R £), aged 50, is the chairman (the “Chairman”) and
chief executive officer of the Group and joined the Group as an executive
Director in January 2004. Ms. Chan is responsible for the overall management
and business development of the Group. Ms. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Accountancy from the Queensland University of Technology in Australia.
Ms. Chan has more than 10 years of experience in the areas of corporate
finance and management. Ms. Chan was a non-executive director of Heng
Tai Consumables Group Limited (“Heng Tai”) (Stock Code: 197), whose
shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the”Stock Exchange”) until 21 December 2016. Save as disclosed
herein, Ms. Chan did not hold any other directorships in listed public
companies in the last three years. Ms. Chan was appointed as the Chairman
and a member of nomination committee of the Company (the “Nomination
Committee”) with effect from 2 February 2012.

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric (& F), aged 39, is an executive Director. Prior to
joining the Group, Mr. Law worked as a business consultant and provided
consultancy services for listed and non-listed companies in Hong Kong. Save
as disclosed herein, Mr. Law did not hold any other directorships in listed
public companies in the last three years. Mr. Law was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 3 March 2015.

Mr. Yu Defa (F1£2%), aged 52, is an executive Director. He is currently the
chief operation director of Heihe Longdiang, a subsidiary of the Company. Mr.
Yu had been the sales and operating general manager of medium-sized
enterprises with more than ten years of extensive experiences in sales
operation and management.

He joined the Group in October 2011 and was promoted as the deputy
general manager of Heihe Longdiang in October 2013. Mr. Yu majored in civil
work engineering in Harbin University of Science and Technology from 1988
to 1990. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Yu did not hold any other directorships
in listed public companies in the last three years. Mr. Yu was appointed as an
executive Director with effect from 5 May 2014.
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Mr. Chen Lei (BRE), aged 56, is a well-known media planner. Mr. Chen
graduated from Beijing Normal University with a degree in Chinese language
in 1986. In the 1980s, he engaged in literature critique, focusing his work on
novels and poetry. After the 1990s, Mr. Chen moved into the television
industry, involving in the planning, editing and production stages of various
television programme, among which, “Touching China” is widely known. He is
currently a director of new media laboratory of Beijing Hongyun Rongtong
Technology Co., Limited (bRATZ@:BHMTARAR]), an executive vice
president of Strategy and Development Research Institution of the Chinese
Eco Development Association (2 Bk 4 BE3S R (T # €), a brand consultant
of the China Foundation for Poverty Alleviation (TEIH%EX4€) and a
member of council of the Muxin Entrepreneur Fellowship (KEFEIZRE®).
Mr. Chen was appointed as an executive Director effect from 24 April 2019.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan (§%fX), aged 53, is an independent non-
executive Director and is also the chairman of the audit committee of the
Company (the “Audit Committee”) and a member of each of the remuneration
committee of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the
Nomination Committee. Mr. Ma is the finance director of Union Sun
International Group Limited, a non-listed company with affiliates dealing in
property development in the PRC. He was an independent director of
Celestial Nutrifoods Limited (the shares of which are listed on the main board
of Singapore Exchange Securities Trade Limited (the “Singapore Exchange”))
until 18 July 2011. He has approximately 20 years of experience in the areas
of audit, financial management and operational management. Mr. Ma is an
associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Ma was appointed as an independent non-executive Director in February
2001.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
EEREREBRASHN (F)

Mr. Tam Ching Ho (2 %), aged 48, appointed on 30 June 2007, is an
independent non-executive Director and is also a member of each of the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee. Mr. Tam is a certified public accountant (practising) registered
with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”). He
has worked in a reputable international accounting firm for about eight years
and specialised in providing assurance services for pre-listing, listed and
multinational companies. He has also held senior positions in several
companies, including as a financial controller of a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange and another company listed on the main board
of the Singapore Exchange for a total of about seven years. Mr. Tam has
accumulated extensive experiences in corporate finance and administration,
listing compliance, investor relations, accounting and auditing. Mr. Tam holds
a bachelor’s degree of arts with honors in accountancy. He is an associate
member of the HKICPA and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants. Mr. Tam is also an independent non-executive director
of Chaoda Modern Agriculture (Holdings) Limited (Stock Code: 682), the
shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange. Save as
disclosed herein, Mr. Tam did not hold any other directorships in listed
companies in the last three years.

Mr. Hau Chi Kit ({%£), aged 47, appointed on 18 December 2013, is an
independent non- executive Director and also a member of each of the Audit
committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. He
was a barrister-at-law in private practice in Hong Kong from 2001 to 2008.
Prior to becoming a barrister, he worked at the Securities and Futures
Commission. Mr. Hau is currently a solicitor and is an independent non-
executive director of e-Force Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 943), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and Trillion Grand Corporate
Company Limited (Stock Code: 8103), a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Hau was an independent non-executive director of Code
Agriculture (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 8153) until 18 July 2019. Save as disclosed herein,
Mr. Hau did not hold any other directorships in listed companies in the last
three years.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Kin Ling (§#2%), aged 37, is the chief financial officer and the
company secretary of the Group. Mr. Ma is responsible for the financial
reporting and company’s secretarial functions of the Group. Mr. Ma
graduated from City University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree in
Accountancy and Law. Mr. Ma joined the Group in May 2016. Prior to joining
the Group, he worked in a reputable international accounting firm and has
over 10 years of professional experience in accounting, auditing and financial
management. Mr. Ma is a member of the HKICPA. Mr. Ma is also an
independent non-executive director of SunCorp Technologies Limited (Stock
Code: 1063) and Hong Kong Finance Investment Holding Group Limited (Stock
Code: 7), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Save as disclosed herein, Mr. Ma did not hold any other
directorships in listed companies in the last three years.

Mr. Tian Yu (HRS), aged 62, is the Vice General Manager of the Mudanjiang
Better Day Power Limited of the Group, and is mainly responsible for the
production technology of power and steam. He joined the Group in December
2006. Mr. Tian has over 20 years’ extensive experience in the production,
management and project construction aspects of enterprises which generate
and supply power and steam. He further studied and graduated from
Heilongjiang Province Economic Cadre Institute (23E)T4 £ E# 20 in
2000, majoring in economic management.

Mr. Sun Jianfei (£ &), aged 46, is the Vice General Manager of the Heihe
Longjiang. Mr. Sun has over 10 years’ experience in the production
management of chemical enterprises. He joined the Group in September
2005 and was promoted to Vice General Manager of the Mudanjiang Daytech
Chemical Ltd. Mr. Sun completed a program of chemical technology from
Mudanjiang Vocational University (T B T A E2) in July 1995.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT REMUNERATION
SYSTEM

The remuneration system of the senior management of the Group is a
combination of the economic benefit of the senior management (including
executive directors) and the operational results and share performance of the
Group. Most of the members of the senior management have signed result
examination contracts’ with the Company. In this system, the remuneration of
the senior management comprises three parts, namely, basic salary, bonus
and share options. The floating remuneration of the senior management
represents approximately 70% to 75% of their total potential remuneration,
which includes result bonuses and share options representing approximately
15% to 25% and 50% to 60% respectively of their total potential
remuneration. Floating remuneration is linked with the specific business
performance indicators, for example, the net profit, capital return and cost
reduction indicator.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEEHS

The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) present their report and the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2019 (the
“Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the financial
statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by business segments is
set out in note 11 to the financial statements and in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the Year and the state of affairs of the Company and of
the Group as at that date are set out in the financial statements on pages 66
to 168 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the Year.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The following is a summary of the published consolidated results and of the
assets, liabilities and equity of the Group for the last five financial years, as
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extracted from the audited financial statements and restated as appropriate: SEEGE BEHABBEURERBE:
Results 4
Year ended 30 June
BEAA=1HLEE
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
“B-hE —T-N\F Bt —E-RF —E-IF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FEL FEL FHEL FET
REVENUE I & 323,048 367,632 186,110 68,300 62,911
LOSS FROM OPERATIONS RS (606,188)  (143,287) (91,744)  (429,842)  (257,450)
Finance costs B B R AR (92,627) (82,594) (60,078) (68,945) (48,019)
LOSS BEFORE TAX BB AER (698,815) (225,881) (151,822) (498,787) (305,469)
Income tax crediit FEHE R 1,233 7,267 20,945 4,580 28,418
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR  7< 4 i % %,/ (%5 18) (697,582)  (218,614) 61,318 (508,396)  (298,261)
Attributable to: FEAS -
Owners of the Company ZN/NIEZ P =N (667,369) (199,324) 68,481 (421,647) (248,517)
Non-controlling interests JEIE AR RE = (30,213) (19,290 (7,163) (86,749) (49,744)
(697,582) (218,614) 61,318 (5608,396) (298,261)
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) B EERBE @
Assets, liabilities and equity EE BERER

At 30 June

RAxA=+H
2019 2018 2017 2016 2015
—E-NF ZE-N\F ZE—tF ZT-—RF ZT—-AfF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET FAT FAT FAET

Non-current assets ERBEE 2,014,529 2,819,057 2,919,362 3,123,917 3,353,154
Current assets RBEE 252,313 357,732 231,442 171,612 161,446
TOTAL ASSETS BEEHE 2,266,842 3,176,789 3,150,804  3,295529 3,514,600
Non-current liabilities ERBaE 1,125415 1,113,572 937,770 461,324 340,737
Current liabilities FHaE 276,518 386,302 344,750 1,010,947 883,000
TOTAL LIABILITIES BEALE 1,401,933 1,499,874 1,282,520 1,472,271 1,223,737
TOTAL EQUITY MRS 864,908 1676915 1,868,284 1,823,258 2,290,863
Attributable to: FEfh :

Owners of the Company KARHER A 801,121 1,583,802 1,758,756 1,693,344 2,126,830

Non-controlling interests JEIE RS 63,787 93,113 109,528 129,914 164,033

864,908 1,676,915 1,868,284 1,823,258 2,290,863

Note: The results of the Group for the Year and the assets, liabilities and equity of the Wi ANEEBAFEZEBEUREAEER =
Group as at 30 June 2019 are those set out in the audited financial statements E-NENA=THZEE BELIE
on pages 66 to 68 and pages 69 to 70 of this annual report, respectively. HOREHNANFERECCECSE X F69

BI0E R ERTBRE -

The results of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2015, 2016, 2017 and REFBHEEZE-_ZT—FHF - —_ZT—XKF

2018, respectively, have been extracted from the audited financial statements of —E—+t+tEER_ZE-NEFEXA=+H

the Company for the respective years and have been restated as appropriate. FTEEZEES N EEAARNATEHA
FREZKEVUBRARERBER
SMTEG -
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FIXED ASSETS

Details of movements in the Group’s fixed assets and prepaid land lease
payments are set out in notes 18 and 19 to the financial statements,
respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

The Company’s current share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was proposed
by the Board on 29 November 2012 and approved by its shareholders on 20
December 2012. The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or
rewards to the eligible participants for their contribution to the Group. The
Directors may, at its absolute discretion, offer any employee (whether full time
or part time, including any executive Directors, any non-executive Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors), any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to the Group,
any shareholder of any member of the Group, any adviser (professional or
otherwise) or consultant to the Group and any joint venture partner or
counterparty to business transactions of the Group, to take up share options
(the “Options”) to subscribe for Shares on the terms set out in the Scheme.
Details of the Scheme were provided in the Company’s circulars dated 29
November 2012, 17 February 2017 and 14 November 2017.

Unless otherwise terminated by the Company’s shareholders at general
meeting in accordance with the terms of the Scheme, the Scheme shall be
valid and effective for a period of 10 years from 20 December 2012, after
which no further Option will be granted or offered, but the provisions of the
Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect to the extent
necessary to give effect to the exercise of any subsisting Option granted prior
to the expiry of this 10-year period or otherwise as may be required in
accordance with the provisions of the Scheme. The remaining life of the
Scheme is three years.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which Options may be granted
under the Scheme when aggregated with the maximum number of Shares in
respect of which Options may be granted under any other scheme shall not
exceed 10% of the Company’s issued Shares on the adoption date without
prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The maximum number of
Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding Options granted
and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other Options granted
and yet to be exercised under any other scheme shall not exceed 30% of the
Company’s issued Shares from time to time. No Option may be granted to
any person such that the total number of Shares issued and to be issued
upon the exercise of Options granted and to be granted to that person in any
12-month period up to the date of the latest grant exceeds 1% of the
Company’s issued Shares from time to time, unless the approval of the
Company’s shareholders is obtained. As at 22 October 2019, being the latest
practicable date prior to the printing of this annual report (the “Latest
Practicable Date”), the Scheme mandate limit was 111,042,731 Options, and
the Company may further grant 1,042,731 Options, representing
approximately 0.08% of the issued Shares of the Company as at the Latest
Practicable Date.

The period within which the Options must be exercised will be specified by
the Company at the time of grant, and must expire no later than 10 years
from the date of grant of the Option (being the date on which the Board
makes a written offer of grant of the Option to the relevant proposed
beneficiary) unless the Company obtains separate shareholders’ approval in
relation to such grant.

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at
any time during a period to be determined and notified by the Directors to
each grantee, which period may commence on a day after the date upon
which the offer for the grant of Options is made but shall end in any event not
later than 10 years from the date of grant of the Option subject to the
provisions for early termination thereof. Unless otherwise determined by the
Directors and stated in the offer of the grant of Options to a grantee, there is
no minimum period required under the Scheme for the holding of an Option
before it can be exercised.
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS (Continued)

The subscription price for Shares under the Scheme shall be a price
determined by the Directors, but shall not be less than the highest of (i) the
closing price of Shares as stated in The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited’s (the “Stock Exchange”) daily quotations sheet on the date of the
offer of grant, which must be a business day; (i) the average closing price of
Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (i)
the nominal value of the Shares. A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable
on acceptance of the grant of an Option within such time as may be specified
in the offer (which shall not be later than 21 days from the offer date).

B% AN &% BB AR RE ()
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Details of the movement of the Options pursuant to the Scheme during the B RER AN FEEFREZ 2 2SS BEHRL
Year are set out in notes 27 and 28 of the financial statements and are B 7R & M sE27 128 B A T & ¢
included in the table as follows:
Options Options Options  Options Options Exercise
Number of Options held granted exercised cancelled lapsed held at Date of Date of price of
category of at 30 June  during the during the during the during the 30 June grant of expiry of Options
participants 2018 Year Year Year Year 2019 Options  Options per Share
R=ZEB-N\F R=ZZE-h#F BR
2 EJ ARAZTAEE FARLEN FROTE FAEHE FAXY NA=ZtHEE BRE - 3g BREZ
k%A BB RE BRE WNWBRE MNEBRE NBRE BANERE BLAY ERBH TEE
Directors
B
Chan Yuk Foebe 10,780,000 - - - 10,780,000 26/07/2017 25/07/2020 HK$0.345
[ 0.345% 7T
Law Tsz Ping Eric 10,780,000 - - - 10,780,000 17/07/2017 16/07/2020  HK$0.31
& 0.3187T
Other Employees 43,120,000 - (2,000,000) - 41,120,000 26/07/2017 25/07/2020 HK$0.345
HttE T 0.3457 7T
- 110,000,000 - - 110,000,000 24/12/2018 23/12/2021  HK$0.325
0.3258 7T
Total 64,680,000 110,000,000 (2,000,000) - 172,680,000
mEt
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BB

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-laws
and there was no restrictions against such rights under the laws of Bermuda,
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
the existing shareholders.
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CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan, Mr. Tam
Ching Ho and Mr. Hau Chi Kit an annual confirmation of their independence
pursuant to the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company are of the
view that all independent non-executive directors of the Company have met
the independent guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and
considers that they are independent.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or
sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company
during the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 71 of this annual report and note 29(b) to the financial statements as
set out on page 154 of this annual report, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted
for approximately 51% of the Group’s total sales for the year and the sales to
the largest customer included therein amounted to approximately 22%.

Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 62% of the Group’s total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately 17%.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest
customers or suppliers.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into the following connected transactions, details of which
had been disclosed in compliance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules:

Acquisition of Xinyang Maojian

On 5 January 2018, Prosper Path Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company) entered into a share transfer agreement (the “Share Agreement”)
with Dragon Wise Group Limited (an indirect non-wholly owned company of
Mr. Sha Tao (“Mr. Sha”)) (the “Vendor”) to acquire the entire issued share
capital (the “Sale Shares”) of Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited (the
“Target Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Target Group”) at
a total consideration of HK$85,800,000 (the “Acquisition”). The consideration
will be as satisfied by way of allotment and issue of 220,000,000 new Shares
(the “Consideration Shares”) to the Vendor or its nominee.

The Vendor was owned as to 55% by Virtue Ever Limited (“Virtue Ever”) and
45% by an independent third party. Mr. Sha is the legal and beneficial owner
of the entire issued share capital of Virtue Ever and hence, a controlling
shareholder of the Target Company. The Company considered Mr. Sha to be
a connected person as he, through Virtue Ever, would be a substantial
shareholder of the Company when the Consideration Shares are allotted and
issued in full to the Vendor pursuant to the terms of the Share Agreement (as
amended and supplemented by the supplemental agreements (the
“Supplemental Agreements”)).

The Group had suffered from the slump of chemical market in the last five
years. For the Group’s future development, the management explores new
and value-added businesses from time to time. The management believed
that the Acquisition could diversify the risk of the Group and, hence, provide a
stable return to the Group.

Further details of the Acquisition can be referred to in the section “Management
Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

Issue of Subscription Shares to Mr. Sha

On 5 October 2018, the Company and Mr. Sha entered into a subscription
agreement for the subscription of 220,000,000 new Shares (the “Subscription”).
The Subscription was completed on 10 December 2018.

Referring to the paragraph headed “Acquisition of Xinyang Maojian” in this
report, the Company considered Mr. Sha to be a connected person.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Issue of Subscription Shares to Mr. Sha (Continued)

The Company considered that due to the recent stock market performance in
Hong Kong and the increase in bank interest rates, there were uncertainties
as to the regional economic and financial conditions. Therefore, the
unfavourable market condition limited the Company’s ability to raise capital.
In the circumstances, the Company considered that the Subscription from
Mr. Sha was the best alternative for the Company to raise capital in order to
enable the Group to maintain a sufficient cash position, to meet its current
liabilities and to enhance its capital base.

Further details of the Subscription can be referred to in the section
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Target Group became subsidiaries of the Company upon completion of
the Acquisition, and accordingly certain ongoing transactions of the Target
Group with Henan Xinyang Maojian Group Co., Ltd.* (A {Ef5EREEER
A ) (“Henan Xinyang Maojian”), Xinyangshi Longtan Chaye Co., Ltd.* ({55
MEEEREARR AR (“Xinyangshi Longtan”) and Xinyang Maojian Holding
Co., Ltd.* ((ERBELIZR AR A7) (Xinyang Maojian Holding”), respectively,
became non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Company
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, which are subject to the reporting,
announcement and/or independent shareholders’ approval requirements.

Referring to the paragraph headed “Acquisition of Xinyang Maojian” under
“Connected Transactions”, the Company considered Mr. Sha to be a
connected person and any transaction between (1) Mr. Sha or his associates
and (2) the Group (including the Target Group) will constitute a connected
transaction of the Company.

Henan Xinyang Maojian is indirectly owned as to 90.28% by Xinyang Maojian
Holding, which in turn is owned as to 51% indirectly by Mr. Sha and 49%
directly by Henan Xinyang Maojian. Xinyangshi Longtan is owned as to
79.03% by Henan Xinyang Maojian. Therefore, Henan Xinyang Maojian,
Xinyangshi Longtan and Xinyang Maojian Holding (together, the “Suppliers”)
are associates of Mr. Sha and became connected persons of the Company.

Further details of the continuing connected transactions can be referred to in
the Company’s circular dated 23 July 2018 and as follows:
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

China Xinyang Agreement

On 5 January 2018, the Suppliers entered into an agreement (the “China
Xinyang Agreement”) with China Xinyang Maojian Group Limited (“China
Xinyang”) and Xinyang Maojian Chaye (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.* ({S[5FER G E(F
JNEBRAR]) (“Xinyang Shenzhen”) to grant exclusive distributorship on
e-commerce platforms in the PRC to sell Xinyang Maojian Tea Leaves.

Under the China Xinyang Agreement, China Xinyang and/or Xinyang
Shenzhen shall place individual orders with the Suppliers by issuing a written
order to the Suppliers stating the quantity, price and details of delivery. The
Suppliers shall arrange for the manufacturing and delivery of products after
receiving such orders from China Xinyang and/or Xinyang Shenzhen.

The Suppliers have undertaken to supply to China Xinyang:

i. Xinyang Maojian Tea Leaves representing a value not less than
RMB100 million in 2018;

ii. Xinyang Maojian Tea Leaves representing a value not less than
RMB200 million in 2019; and

iii. Xinyang Maojian Tea Leaves representing a value not less than
RMB500 million per year from 2020 to 2028.

The term of the China Xinyang Agreement shall be 10 years, commencing on
5 January 2018 to 5 January 2028. The Suppliers shall supply Xinyang
Maojian Tea Leaves to China Xinyang at the ex-factory price. The ex-factory
price is constituted by the cost of production, value-added tax and packaging
costs.

The proposed annual caps for the China Xinyang Agreement for each of the
period commencing on the day on which the Vendor and the Purchaser
complete the transfer of the Sale Shares in accordance with the Share
Agreement (as amended and supplemented by the Supplemental
Agreements) (the “Sale Share Transfer Date”) to 30 June 2019 and for the
two years ending 30 June 2021 are RMB54,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$65,000,000), RMB81,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$97,000,000) and RMB114,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$136,000,000), respectively.

The actual amount of fees paid or payable by the Group to the Suppliers
under the China Xinyang Agreement for the Year was approximately
RMB657,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$754,000).
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Xinyang Overseas Agreement

On 5 January 2018, the Suppliers entered into an agreement (the “Xinyang
Overseas Agreement”) with Xinyang Maojian Overseas Development Limited
(“Xinyang Overseas”) to grant exclusive distributorship for places outside of
the PRC to sell Xinyang Maojian Tea Leaves.

Under the Xinyang Overseas Agreement, Xinyang Overseas shall place
individual orders with the Suppliers by issuing a written order to the Suppliers
stating the quantity, price and details of delivery. The Suppliers shall arrange
for the manufacturing and delivery of products after receiving such orders
from Xinyang Overseas.

The Suppliers have undertaken to supply Xianyang Maojian Tea Leaves
representing a value not less than RMB200 million per year to Xinyang
Overseas.

The term of the Xinyang Overseas Agreement shall be 10 years, commencing
on 5 January 2018 to 5 January 2028. The Suppliers shall supply the Xinyang
Maojian Tea Leaves to China Xinyang at the ex-factory price. The ex-factory
price constitutes the cost of production, the value-added tax and the
packaging costs.

The proposed annual caps for the Xinyang Overseas Agreement for each of
the period commencing on the Sale Share Transfer Date to 30 June 2019
and for the two years ending 30 June 2021 are RMB25,500,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$30,600,000), RMB32,300,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$38,760,000) and RMB47,175,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$56,610,000), respectively.

The actual amount of fees paid or payable by the Group to the Suppliers
under the Xinyang Overseas Agreement for the Year was Nil.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent non-executive
Directors have confirmed that the continuing connected transactions set out
above were entered into:

i. in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

ii. on normal commercial terms or on better terms to the Group than
terms available to or from independent third parties; and

. in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them on terms
that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s
shareholders as a whole.

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Board engaged the
Company’s auditor to perform certain agreed-upon procedures in respect of
the continuing connected transactions set out above on a sample basis. The
auditor has reported their factual findings on the selected samples based on
the agreed procedures to the Board and has confirmed that the continuing
connected transactions set out above have complied with the requirements
under Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The related party transactions of the Group as set out in note 42 to the
financial statements constituted fully exempted connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Save as disclosed in this annual report,
there was no other transaction which would need to be disclosed as
connected transactions in compliance with the disclosure requirements in
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are as follows:

Executive Directors:

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric

Mr. Yu Defa

Mr. Chen Lei (appointed on 24 April 2019)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan

Mr. Tam Ching Ho

Mr. Hau Chi Kit

In accordance with clause 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws, Mr. Yu Deta and
Mr. Chen Lei and Mr. Tam Ching Ho will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“AGM”).

Pursuant to code provision A.4.3 of the Corporate Governance Code
contained in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, if an independent non-
executive director serves more than nine years, his further appointment
should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
Mr. Tam Ching Ho was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
in June 2007 and therefore would have served for more than 9 years as at
the date of the AGM. Mr. Tam Ching Ho has confirmed his independence
with reference to the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Notwithstanding his years of service as an independent non-executive
Director, (i) the Board has assessed and reviewed the annual confirmation of
independence based on the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules
and affirmed that Mr. Tam Ching Ho remains independent; (ii) the Nomination
Committee has assessed and is satisfied of the independence of Mr. Tam
Ching Ho; and (i) the Board is satisfied that through exercising scrutinising
and monitoring functions as an independent non-executive Director, Mr. Tam
Ching Ho has continued to provide independent and objective judgement and
advice to the Board to safeguard the interests of the Group and the
Shareholders. As such, the Board believes that Mr. Tam Ching Ho has the
character, integrity, independence and expertise to continue to fulfil his role
as an independent non-executive Director effectively and will continue to bring
valuable experience, knowledge and professionalism to the Board and would
recommend Mr. Tam Ching Ho for re-election as an independent non-
executive Director at the AGM.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF THE DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are
set out on pages 34 to 37 of this annual report.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
UNDER RULE 13.51B(1) OF LISTING RULES

The following is the updated information of the Directors required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules:

° Mr. Hau Chi Kit, an independent non-executive Director, has resigned
as an independent non-executive director of Code Agriculture (Holdings)
Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, Stock Code 8153)
with effect from 18 July 2019.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe has entered into a service contract with the Company
commencing from 22 November 2004, which shall, subject to the re-
appointment as a director of the Company in accordance with the Company’s
Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not less than three
months’ notice in writing to the other. Mr. Yu Defa has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of two years commencing
from 5 May 2014, which shall, subject to his re-appointment as a director of
the Company in accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until
terminated by either party giving not less than three months’ notice in writing
to the other. The term of his appointment was since renewed for a further
term of two years commencing from 5 May 2018. Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric have
entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial term of
two years commencing from 3 March 2015, which shall, subject to the
reappointment as a director of the Company in accordance with the
Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not less
than three months’ notice in writing to the other. The term of his appointment
was since renewed for a further term of two years commencing from 3 March
2019. Mr. Chen Lei has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company for an initial term of one year commencing from 24 April 2019,
which shall, subject to the reappointment as a Director in accordance with
the Company’s Bye-laws, continue until terminated by either party giving not
less than one month’s notice in writing to the other.
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Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan was appointed for a term of two years as an
independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from 28
February 2001. The term of his appointment was renewed for a further two-
year term commencing from 28 February 2003. Upon expiry of his
appointment on 27 February 2005, the Company did not renew the service
contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan until 24 March 2006. The Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Ma Wing Yun, Bryan for a further term
of three years, commencing from 1 April 2006. The term of his appointment
was since renewed for a further term of two years commencing from 1 April
2009, 1 April 2011, 1 April 2013, 1 April 2015, 1 April 2017 and 1 April 2019,
respectively.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Continued)

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho
commencing from 30 June 2007 to the then following annual general meeting
(i.e. 6 December 2007) of the Company. On 7 December 2007, the Company
renewed the service contract with Mr. Tam Ching Ho for a term of two years
as an independent non-executive director of the Company commencing from
7 December 2007. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed for a
further term of two years commencing from 7 December 2009, 7 December
2011, 7 December 2013, 7 December 2015 and 7 December 2017,
respectively.

The Company entered into a service contract with Mr. Hau Chi Kit for a term
of two years commencing from 18 December 2013 as an independent non-
executive director. Moreover, the term of his appointment was renewed for a
further term of two years commencing from 18 December 2015 and 18
December 2017, respectively.

Save as disclosed above, no Director proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

No Director had a material interest in any contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a
party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or in
existence during the Year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS OR SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 30 June 2019, the interests of the Directors and chief executive of the
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
and its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFQO”)),
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) in the Listing Rules
were as follows:

Interests in the Shares and Underlying Shares

13 1§UJ)%XV*B)ZHxTﬁ *H?ﬁﬂx@&ﬁ%tp
BEHREES KPR RG L3621K AL K HE
ZEPIFAERMA RS IRBELTR
Al EMBETAESETERRZINIRETH
(MREFRDAMEARNRA LB 2R
s

REHREBERS 2 ES

Number of % of issued Share % of issued

Shares held capital of options capital of

Name of director Type of interest (long position) the Company held the Company
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EEnA EHER (FRr) REBDE B R REBDE

Ms. Chan Yuk Foebe Beneficial Interest 7,170,000 0.65% 10,780,000 0.97%
fR S 22+ B

Mr. Law Tze Ping Eric Beneficial Interest 0 0% 10,780,000 0.97%
R EmiEn

Save as disclosed herein, as at 30 June 2019, none of the Directors and chief B ARERIFTEEIIN R -_ZEE—HLENHA =+

executives of the Company and their respective associates had or was
deemed to have any interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying
Shares or debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed or
taken to have under provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant
to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register maintained by the
Company, or which were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Year were rights to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any director or their respective spouse or children under
18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by them; or was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

INTERESTS OF SHAREHOLDERS DISCLOSEABLE
UNDER THE SFO

As far as the Directors are aware and the disclosure information published on
the Stock Exchange’s website, as at 30 June 2019, the following persons,
other than a Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest or a
short position in the shares and underlying shares in the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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Approximate

Capacity percentage
Name Number of Ordinary shares (subject to the notes below) interest
®A ZERHE SR (2T XHETRR) BOREES L
Mr. Chan Yuen Tung Long position Beneficial owner
PREREE A BEmEBA
200,479,861 15.06%
Mr. Sha Tao Long position Beneficial owner
iRt A EmEBA
220,000,000 16.54%
Save as disclosed above, as far as the Directors are aware, as at 30 June [ FXHBEEIN  BEERH R —AFE
2019, no other person had an interest or a short position in the shares and <A =108 ' RIE BB 5 & B S &7 5336 &

underlying shares in the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY AND LONG-TERM
INCENTIVE SCHEME OF THE GROUP

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had 678 full time employees in the PRC and
Hong Kong. The Group recognises the importance of human resources to its
success. Compensation for the Group is made in reference to the prevailing
market conditions, individual performance, contributions as well as duties and
responsibilities.

The Scheme is in place to provide appropriate long-term incentive to key staff
of the Group including executive Directors. Details of the Scheme are set out
in section “Share Capital and Share Options” of this report and note 28 to the
financial statements in this annual report.

BASIS OF DETERMINING EMOLUMENT TO
DIRECTORS

The same remuneration philosophy is applicable to the Directors. Apart from
benchmarking against the prevailing market condition, the Company will
assess individual performance, contributions, duties and responsibilities in
determining the remuneration for each Director.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report, there is
sufficient public float of more than 25% of the Shares in the market as
required under the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN A COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Year and up to the date of this annual report, no Director is
considered to have an interest in a business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group,
pursuant to the Listing Rules, other than those businesses of which the
Directors were appointed as directors to represent the interests of the
Company and/or the Group.
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INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers liability
insurance and such permitted indemnity provision (as defined in section 469
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout the
Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The corporate governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE REVIEW

The audit committee of the Company has reviewed the audited consolidated
results of the Group for the Year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 of the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by
the Directors. Having made specific enquiries to all the Directors, all the
Directors confirmed that they have complied with the code provisions in the
Model Code during the Year.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed under the paragraph headed “Material Acquisitions or
Disposals of Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures” in this annual
report, the Group had no significant events after 30 June 2019.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.
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AUDITOR

A resolution to re-appoint the retiring auditor, Elite Partners CPA Limited, will
be put to a vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Chan Yuk Foebe
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong
30 September 2019
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CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE MEMBERS OF XINYANG MAOJIAN GROUP LIMITED
(formerly known as China Zenith Chemical Group Limited)
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and continued in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Xinyang Maojian
Group Limited (formerly known as China Zenith Chemical Group Limited) (the
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set
out on pages 66 to 168, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 30 June 2019, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of its consolidated financial position of the Group as at 30 June 2019, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”).

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit
of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.
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MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING

CONCERN

We draw attention to the financial statements, which indicates that as of 30
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$24,205,000, this event or condition, along with other matters as set forth
in note 2 of the financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going

June 2019,

concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements for
the year ended 30 June 2019. These matters were addressed in the context
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of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in ERAZE R BESLLAHBRELLEEER

forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Key audit matters
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

EEFTHEESBENE E

1. Valuation of buildings

1. BFZME

The Group’s building held for use in production or for
administration purpose are stated at revalued amount of
HK$449,583,000 as at 30 June 2019.

R-ZE-—NFEAA=1H B£EEHELESETEARZ
R AE 5 T4 A B8 5 {E 449,583,000 78 7T 51 Bk ©

Significant effort was spent auditing the assessment of the
valuation on the buildings recognised by the Group due to the
suspended operations, involving the consideration of the
obsolescence, capacity and replacement cost of these buildings.
HREFLENRBE EEEHINEFHENGEFEK
FiIE BEREEEZEERBA ERLAZTETH
BEERAK-

Our major audit procedures in relation to these matters included
the following:

REZEEHZIEENARFEERTIEE

- We discussed with management as to whether there was
any indicator of impairment;

- ETEREREARESFEEMAENR

- We performed the physical inspection of these buildings
as to whether there are in good conditions;

FETEMER REZXFEFOM
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

RREETEHE

FERETEE @

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EETHEEBRNGE

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to
determine the fair value of the buildings as at 30 June 2019.

R=B-AEXA=+E -
ERFHATE -

EEBZREBYEXMEME

Under the fair value assessments, with the assistance of the
independent professional valuer, the amount of fair value was
assessed by the valuer using depreciated replacement cost
method. The approach adopted required significant judgements
and estimates on the new replacement cost of the buildings, the
deductions to be made on the value, including ages, conditions,
functional obsolescence, etc. Therefore, we have identified the
valuation of the buildings as a key audit matter.

REAFENE A FEREEBYEXGEONGE T
HAEEMRABTHKREERAEZAERE - RAZ T ERY
REBFHREERAS HEEFELNOINR(BEZE R
RTHEEMRES) W ER A Kb - Bt 52 &5
BFzhESHEREFEHE-

2. Acquisition of subsidiaries

2. WEKEAFR

During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group completed the
acquisition of Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited and
its subsidiaries, which is engaged in sales of beverage, at
contingent consideration of 220,000,000 shares at HK$0.39.

REBEE-ZE—NLFNA=Z+BELEFERN BEEB XK
WEEEELAEEERERAGLEWE A A
AINEHERBELR ARAREATRRKRM0.39E THY
220,000,000 & J 19 ©

EZ/N

- We discussed with management and independent
external valuer engaged by the Company and assessed
the methodology and assumptions used in arriving at the
valuation (e.g. adjustment depreciation factor and useful
life, etc.) to see whether the methodology and
assumptions applied in valuing buildings and impairment
assessments were reasonable;

- BECHEEER EQRNINBBIAEMET
M THERGHEWNMARTERZRERFH)
FIRARIERBRETHGE UTREBFHE
KA RAEITERBRARHEFHREESBSIE

- We checked, on a sample basis, the accuracy and
reliability of the input data used; and

- EBEEUMESRA HARBZEARBNERE
MASEMETRE R

- We evaluated the competency and capabilities of the
independent external valuer taking into account of its
experience and qualifications.

- REBBMIELAEMZERIEERR B5FCY
HA R R pe DTS -

Our major audit procedures to address the business acquisition
included the following:

EEREEBUENIEEZARFERATSE:

- We examined the sales and purchase agreement for the
acquisition and enquired the management the basis
determination of completion date of the acquisition and
tested the supporting thereof;

- BERTUBLEEWE YHEAEEEETRE
TRBEHZEE  WARERHER:
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BYZEMEE (&)
KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BAREEBITEE@®
Key audit matters How the matter was addressed in our audit
BERETSE EEFPRESENSZE

We had identified business acquisition as a key audit matter -

because significant management judgement for purchase price
allocation (i.e. intangible asset and remaining goodwill balance)
and special attention on accounting treatment were required.

EEREBUBRANASAREASTEDARBEE K
(MEVEERNSBEER) EREHEREREHE R

MEBE SR - =

We tested the purchase price allocation in which we
especially focused on the valuation of net assets amount
and the intangible asset amount;

EZAEBEEIRK LEETAAEBEFERE
WEEZME:

We discussed with management and the independent
external valuer engaged by the Company in relation to the
methodology and assumptions adopted in arriving to see
whether the methodology and assumptions were
reasonable;

EZARATEARBREEEER BEARAME
BB UIBEEMRFANRAEREBTERR

RETAE:

We checked on a sample basis the accuracy and reliance
of the input data used;

FEMERE A EABURR EREE LA FEMNT

We assessed the competency of the independent
external valuer taking into account its experience and
qualifications; and

EERFRBINEEEMNER N ERTEHEE
Feeh &

We tested the adequacy of the related disclosures.

EEAABERENTRME -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matters

RREETEHE

FERETEE @

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EETHEEBRNGE

3. Impairment assessment of trade receivables

3. EWREZRBERETMG

As at 30 June 2019, the Group had trade receivables of
approximately HK$43 million, net of impairment. We had
identified impairment of trade receivables as a key audit matter
because significant judgements had to be made for the
assessment of the recoverability for each debtor including
trading history, credit history and estimated future cash flow.
Management has concluded that approximately HK$7 million in
respect of the impairment allowance of trade receivables was
recognised in the Group’s consolidated profit or loss.

R-ZE-NAFRNA=1TRH  BEEEHRRERZEBKES
RBEARBEERT ARFEEULEBT AN KE A
EHERHE T Ak BHEREZESL - ERALH &G
ARBAERE REAMBEREZRBBESR SERE
AER-BFEHERAS REKESRBAZREREBNTAES
BN BESENGESBREANER -

Our audit procedures to address the impairment of trade
receivables included the following:

BMRERKE ZHRBRENEAIZEFEENT

—  Testing the accuracy of the ageing of trade receivables
balances on sample basis.

— RBREAEEJNAEWE ZIRBRBERE A ERENL -

—  Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates on trade receivables by examining
the information used by management to form such
judgements, including testing the accuracy of the
historical default data, evaluating whether the historical
loss rates are appropriately adjusted based on current
conditions and forward-looking information and examining
the actual losses recorded during the current financial
year and assessing whether there was an indication of
management bias when recognizing loss allowances.

- ZZEREEEEEDNRBHEEARAES FHE
EEHREESREANERRERBLIAEEAE &
ERAERZEOBE CEEN - RIEE AR KA
BEUHEERFEELERXEEEEEARBRKRES
AMMBRFEANESNERER YERIABEER
FRAGEEFEEERENTR

— Testing on large individual aged receivables balances,
understanding the rationale for management’s
provisioning decisions by reference to payment patterns
during the year as well as other information available.

- ARERSERAAEREBRERNERFIASRE B
B2EFANNREAREMCRAEEN THREEE
BREZERE -

—  Assessing the level of cash collected by the business after
the year end of past due receivable balances to consider
any additional provisioning requirements.

- HERFRZEXBLBBEEFAKED LD Z
BEeKF AEEREGIELEMBINEBRER -
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND AUDITOR’S
REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises the information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information,
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but
to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

RETE 2 B

EE0EHMEN HUBEHNBREFHEMHE
ZER ETERGAVBHRRREPMH
EEZRBEHS

BERBAMBRRZBEALTRER LA
BOESATHERZERESEARAL
R -

RESHEAUBHRRETZEFME &
SNELRHEEMER  YritEBEE M
ENMETEGAMBRE  NEBEFMESH
EREHREARN—BER AHBEKRHER
Rt - R IBEESEETHNIE FZHER
HiEMEREAHERRL EEFTERZ
REBEFERE - HUTEEZLEEERS

ZWRE

EER
AN

AERGEMBERREA

=i
BfE

EXZARERBEEESAMOAERMOERE
MBERELENRBFERARGIZEERE
REEBEMTENEAMBRER  LHER
RRERAVBRINERIFEBARKG
sk 5 BR 1 8 BUAY B K #5 5R BRI P 75 /0 P BB 42
HEE-

EREGaVBHRRT EFAAFE &
SERELENRN TEERBEATHRE
BEELLAMNER UREAFELSE
REFER KRIEFEER EKEER

EOS

HIFLERE IR EEMCERNBRTR -
ERERAEEE BEXREMNMBKREMERE-
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with Section 90 of Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design
and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain
audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made
by the directors.

BREMARBERGS W BRRAE
EHEE

EENER RYSRAMBBRERBIS AT
FEANMRFRERMERNERMERER
RAMSEEREF THABEEEERD
REMBRE AREDREBEARE- NN\ —
FRBEDEFEWNHK ER BTUERER)H
OBRUZIABERNEEMEN - BETE
RARENABTEEMEMA LA EFAE
EAEE - AEREILRKFHRE - HERE
FEEENETHEZ TIETBEIREF AL
REMGFAENEAREREML - FRKRA A
HMFFSERSIE  WENKXBEESIERS
BATAZEERERESAMBBRIFL
BV EORTER - AR S ERHERERAL -

ERBEESEFRENETETNBRES &
CERAEXHE REZEERREE-TFS
I

o BRI R AYh B R RRAF 2B RR T B BUAR
EMBBREFEEAERRANER
Rt RRTEAEFUNEEZERAR -
AREBRTRMEENREE 1S
EEERNER - AR RGFA a8 K& &$
womE BERAER EBRRAIZE
MEBESE V1B 0L - B Lk oK BE 3 3R (R AR
B H B AR R RSN AREE
HHRERMEMNE KRB RR AR

)
AA

THRERGTHEBOANRERE
EMESEF EIFEEY
NBMEENEREERER -

B 3
g%

s HAEEEMEASHERRNRENERE
BEt AT REEREN SR -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
related safeguards.

REMPMEBEZRGESMBEHRR AR
ENET@®

HEERAKEKE ST ERNRE N
EL & LRBMERNERSRE
BEERLFEEFEAXBRABMNE
APEEMN AT EHYE B&H
MBERERNELEERARE - MBS
RBRFEEATHEN AELEER
BEHRETRFBERAEIZECEAVBTR
REWBBERE - WERKRETRE A
BEAEEER BEREBNERBER
MRS AR ETEE - A
il ARFEKBERAEES BEH

BOAFBRE -

s HERAMBHRIANEBRBEZHRIA &
BLAD BREREEN UARGEAH
BHREARETERBRBBRXSRER-

e 3 ERERNEBIAXBEBNOMKE
HERZTREREENENRE UEY
HAVBHREABRER - BEERAEHE
BT M EERAT -EERER
BRAEZEE

EFHEEREN(HPERE) BN EH
CHRETHERBERBRITBHRETER ZF
BRBRESERNTERPRNN A EE
B ERBRK -

BEETRMEABFLER BHBEFEHTE
ERBYMEMNMERERER YRAKEFRR
AR ERREYEE SR MNMAH
FEREMER  URBEEHEEREER) -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current period and are therefore the
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of
such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s
report is Siu Jimmy with Practising Certificate number P05898.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

10/F, 8 Observatory Road,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon,

Hong Kong

30 September 2019

REBERBZES M BRER AR
EWETw

REERERBNERT EEEETHAY
MG EMERENBAEHEENETE
AmBKEAREFER - EEERBMBRE
TR ZEFER RIPERIEARTIAFR
MREZEEE AEBRBELNERT @
EEENEESHETBEBRETRENNE
HERBHEENARME - BIEFRED
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GEEBERAEMEZEHKRAR

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z = FE— N FNH=1THIFFE

2019 2018
—E—-hE —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 5E FET FAET
Revenue Iy &= 9 323,048 367,632
Cost of sales 5 65 B AN (256,306) (299,216)
Gross profit E R 66,742 68,416
Gain on bargaining purchase on acquisition WEEH B A 2 & B
of a subsidiary I8 8 & - 27,491
Other income g A 10 55,358 50,844
Gain on fair value of financial assets at BAFEFABZZE®
fair value through profit or loss, net BEATERZFE 4,904 -
Selling and distribution costs HE R HKA (20,055) (18,064)
Administrative expenses THAX (163,072) (191,577)
Other operating expenses Hih&amt (75,493) (60,421)
Written-off/impairment of fixed assets EEEME RE (409,817) 4,218)
Deficits on property revaluation ESHE A (64,073) (15,758)
Share of loss of joint venture SMEEEREEE (682) -
Loss from operations ReEEE (606,188) (143,287)
Finance costs B 75 B A 12 (92,627) (82,594)
Loss before tax Br B AT 18 (698,815) (225,881)
Income tax credit FriS i % 13 1,233 7,267
Loss for the year KEEEER 14 (697,582) (218,614)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
RERBERHEMZEKARE)

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #ZE = FE—NFNH=1THIFFE

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FEx FAT
Attributable to: FE4L
Owners of the Company ZiN/NETEZ ¥ =N (667,369) (199,324)
Non-controlling interests IEE AR = (30,213) (19,290)
(697,582) (218,614)
Loss per share BRER
— Basic -ER HK(54.19) HK(17.98)
17 cents &l cents 7811l
— Diluted -5 HK(54.19) HK(17.98)

17 cents &1l cents 7l
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)
RERERAMEEBAR

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z = FE— N FNH=1THIFFE

2019 2018
—®-hE —EN\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Loss for the year rEEEBR (697,582) (218,614)
Other comprehensive income after tax: BRBEAEMEEBRA
Item that will not be reclassified to profit or loss: BT EEH D EZBn 2B -
Deficits on property revaluation W) 3 A (56,227) (36,232)
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss: AEEH D EZEmZIHE
Exchange differences on translating foreign BEFINERIE X =5
operations (121,940) 40,615
Other comprehensive income for the year, AEEHMEEBA > HBRHIE
net of tax (178,167) 4,383
Total comprehensive income for the year AEEEZHEBRALRH (875,749) (214,231)
Attributable to: FEfh
Owners of the Company RATHEE A (846,423) (197,7593)
Non-controlling interests FEIE IR R = (29,326) (16,478)

(875,749) (214,231)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
mEMBRRR

at 30 June 2019 R=—ZF—hFNNA=+H

2019 2018
—E-AF —E-)N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
B & FET FAT

Non-current assets ERBEE
Fixed assets EEE 18 1,699,586 2,480,315
Prepaid land lease payments BNLHHEE 19 308,288 325,861
Investment in a joint venture R—HEEREZRE 20 2,787 3,614
Other intangible assets HEmEmEEE 21 3,868 9,267
2,014,529 2,819,057

Current assets REBEE

Inventories TE 23 40,485 28,231
Trade receivables FERE 5 R 24 42,862 6,748
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR RIE  FTe REMBEYHIE 25 161,038 258,574
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss XA F(EEt ABHZ M EE 743 1,939
Bank and cash balances BITRBREET 26 7,185 62,240
252,313 357,732
TOTAL ASSETS WEE 2,266,842 3,176,789

Capital and reserves EXRRHE
Share capital R& AR 27 133,243 111,043
Reserves & 30 667,879 1,472,759
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ARAREE ARGEERD 801,122 1,583,802
Non-controlling interests FEE AR FE S 63,787 93,113
Total equity M RE R 864,909 1,676,915
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
B B R R R ()

at 30 June 2019 R=—ZF—hFNNA=+H

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
Bt FHBxT FHET
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank loans RITE R 35 21,403 24,259
Bonds payable B EH 36 895,111 820,458
Other payables H b FE A SRR 33 208,799 251,313
Deferred tax liabilities RERIAE & 31 102 17,542
1,125,415 1,113,572
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade payables JERE 58RIE 32 58,555 100,171
Other payables and accruals H b FE T 7008 K FE 5T FRIA 33 126,010 159,276
Other loans H B R 34 28,263 53,339
Bank loans RITE R 35 52,440 73,516
Bonds payable e ESH 36 11,250 =
276,518 386,302
Total liabilities BaF 1,401,933 1,499,874
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HEZRER 2,266,842 3,176,789
Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (24,205) (28,570)
Total assets less current liabilities HMEERRBEE 1,990,324 2,790,487

Approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on 30 R-ZT—AWFHALA=+tHEEETSHELE

September 2019. T8 o
Chan Yuk Foebe Law Tze Ping Eric

RE ‘1T

Chairman Executive Director

2y HITEF



EBEXREEERAR —Z-hFFR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REERBER

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #ZE = FE—NFNH=1THIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KRR ERAERS
(Accumulated
Issued Fixed asset  Share losses)/ Non-
share revaluation option Other Exchange Retained controlling
capital reserve reserve  reserve  reserve profits Sub-total interests Total
B#f7T EEEE BRE (BHER)/ FER

REx  EfEE #BE HoREE SERRK REEF it it a5t
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$O000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TEr FTHEr FExT FEx TET TEx TEx TFHEx

At 1 July 2017 R-ZE—tF+A—H 107,809 110,368 10,722 - 206,346 1,323,511 1,758,756 109,528 1,868,284
Loss for the year AEEER - - - - - (199,324) (199,324)  (19,290) (218,614
Other comprehensive income:  Ef2HEKA :

- deficits on property revaluation E X - (32,951) - - - - (32951) (3,281)  (36,232)

- exchange differences —ERESE = - - - 34522 - 34522 6,093 40,615
Total comprehensive income AEE2EMALE

for year - 3295) - S B4E2 (199324) (197753  (16478) (214231)
Cancellation of share options i ERE - - (10,722) - - 10,722 - - -
Employee share option benefits EERBRENZ - - 12,837 - - - 12837 - 12837
Exercise of share options TRk E 3,234 - (4,026) = = 10,817 10,025 - 10025
Disposal of fixed assets HEBRTEE - (18,613) - - - 18,550 63) 63 -

At30June 2018and 1 July 2018  RZZ—/\FXA=1H

R-Z-N\EtA—-8 111,043 58804 8811 - 240868 1,164,276 1583802 93,113 1,676,915
Adoption of HKFRS 9 EREBMBRE LR
F9% - - - - - (9,963  (9,963) - (9,963

Adjusted balance as at 1 July 2018 R-Z—-N\E+F—Hz

MRS 111,043 58,804 8,811 - 240,868 1,154,313 1,573,839 93,113 1,666,952

Loss for the year AEEFR - - - - - (667,369) (667,369)  (30,213) (697,582)
Other comprehensive income:  HAI2EKA :

— deficits on property revaluation ~ —¥1% & ff E 4t - (48,242 - - - - (48,242 (7,985)  (56,227)

- exchange differences —ERER - - - - (130,812 - (130,812 8,872 (121,940)
Total comprehensive income AER2EMALE

for year - (48,242) - - (130,812) (667,369) (846,423) (29,326) (875,749)
Issue of shares under share BERNEEETRG

placement 22,000 - - - - 47,300 69,300 - 69,300
Employee share option benefits EEBRERZ - - 3454 - - - 3454 - 3454
Exercise of share options TR E 200 - @en - - 942 865 - 865
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEEH B LR - - - 87 - - 87 - 87

At 30 June 2019 RZZE-AFRXA=+R 133243 10,562 11,988 87 110,056 535,186 801,122 63,787 864,909
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z —F—NFNA=1+HILFE

2019 2018
—ZE-AF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
Fox T T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& ZBsHERE
Loss before tax MR AIE 1B (698,815) (225,881)
Adjustments for: ELLTRE
Finance costs B 7 K AR 92,627 82,594
Interest income FEHA (1,901) (1,262)
Depreciation e 115,282 109,376
Amortisation of prepaid land lease payments BEEMN I HES 6,528 6,559
Amortisation of intangible assets BEEEEAE 5,067 29,436
Share of loss of joint venture DIEEETEEE 682 =
Net provision for trade and other receivables B 5 K Eo b e W R I8 55 B (1,179) (9,995)
Loss on disposal of fixed assets tEBRTEEZEE - 44
Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets at fair value 2 A F{Ezt ABH 2 S RMEEZ
through profit or loss NFE k), BB (4,904) 1,063
Share option benefits 8 IR A I 2 3,454 12,837
Deficits on property revaluation MESHEL 64,073 15,758
Gain on bargaining purchase on acquisition of WHEMRB AR 2ZERE k=
subsidiary - (27,491)
Written-off/Impairment of fixed assets EEEME RE 409,817 4,218
Impairment loss on goodwill A REEE 699 -
Gain on disposal of prepaid land lease HEBEMNLHESOKES - 7,085
Operating (loss)/profits before working capital #ZE&E L@ a2 &% (FE), %5F
changes (8,570) 4,341
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories F& (g M),/ w (11,004) 3,192
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables FEWE 5 BRE (), 5 (40,009) 22,476
Decrease in prepayments, deposits and TERTRIE © 5] & K& A fth B YRR
other receivables R 111,177 164,206
Decrease/(Increase) in financial assets at EBEATEFAEZSZCERMEE
fair value through profit or loss B, (3 ) 1,196 (2,957)
(Decrease)/Increase in trade payables BN E SERIE CRd), (35,981) 60,334
Decrease in other payables and accruals H b B {5 3R I8 & FE AT RCE R (75,780) (225,849)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations REEK (A EE2Be (58,971) 25,743
Interest received =R P! 1,901 1,262
Interest paid B E (29,104) (22,159)
Tax paid BEARIIE (34) (172

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating BeEEE (TR, EE2RERE
activities (86,208) 4,674




EBEXREEERAR —Z-hFFR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
RERERER(E)

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z —F—NFNA=1+HILFE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHER T T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES #HREEHREKE
Purchases of fixed assets BERETEEE (18,243) (25,089
Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets HEBTEEZMERE - 593
Invested in a joint venture R—HEEERECKRE - (3,727)
Acquisition of a subsidiaries U g — M B A A - (24,189
Net cash used in investing activities KERGFMABZREFHA (18,243) (52,412)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES METBH2HESRE
Issue of shares capital P& AR 1T 69,300 =
Exercise of share options ITIE B AR A 865 10,025
Issue of bonds EITES 22,380 126,548
Repayment of bank loans RITEFER (23,932) (83,731)
Repayment of other loans HEEFER (25,076) (11,792)
Net cash generated from financing activities BEFDEE RS FE 43,537 41,050
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH REPHRSESEEBEBREZRD FE

EQUIVALENTS (60,914) (6,688)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes EEEEH w2 5,859 (24,231)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING £ B € R R EEEH

OF YEAR 62,240 93,159
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRESRESESEEE

OF YEAR 7,185 62,240
ANALYSIS OF CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ReRBEELZEEHERA O
Bank and cash balances BITRBEEET 7,185 62,240
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
mEMBHRERNE

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z - ZE—NFNA=+HIFFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands on 7 December 2000 and continued in
Bermuda on 24 April 2017. The address of its registered office is
Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda.
The address of its principal place of business is Room 4007, 40th
Floor, China Resources Building, No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai,
Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

GOING CONCERN BASIS

As at 30 June 2019 the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$24,205,000 (2018: HK$28,570,000) and incurred a
loss of HK$697,582,000 (2018: HK$218,614,000) from operations
during the year then ended. These conditions indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the Group may be
unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal
course of business.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors have
given careful consideration to the current and anticipated future liquidity
of the Group and the ability of the Group to achieve profitable and
positive cash flows from operations in immediate and long terms. The
directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for the period up to June
2020 after taking into account of the measures below. In order to
strengthen the Group’s capital base and maintain sufficient financing
necessary for future business development, the directors of the
Company have taken the following measures:

- On 9 September 2019, the Company entered in a loan
agreement with a financial institution to borrow an amount of
HK$35,000,000. The loan is secured by the property of the
Group in Hong Kong, interest bearing at 18% p.a. and repayable
in one year.

— The Group will apply cost cutting measures to reduce
administrative expenses and cash outflows for the next twelve
months.

—REF

KRR ZZEZEZTF+_ALtBEHE
HEAMK I REREERAE - WM
TR+ FNA-_+HNBEERER
18 o H 5% it #% = &R i 7 Victoria Place, 5th
Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10,
Bermuda° N A Al 2 £ E & FE BN
B B 7 75 8 18 26 5% 2 M K [E 4012 4007
E-RARAIROREAEBEXZFAER
AaEl (BT ER T e

ARABREERRGR - ARBWNE R
AZETEXBEANKREPBERRME
22 °
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B B EF %84 524,205000/8 o( =
T — )\ 4 : 28,570,000 7T ) » I 7 &
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218,614,000 T ) - Z EMR A B R F £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mRa B R R MY AL ()

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z - ZE—NFNA=+HIFFE

2.

GOING CONCERN BASIS (Continued)

Based on the above conditions, the directors are therefore of the
opinion that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a
going concern basis. Should the Group be unable to continue as a
going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the financial
statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets to their
recoverable amounts, to provide for any further liabilities which might
arise and to reclassify non-current assets and liabilities as current

assets and liabilities, respectively.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Report Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”). HKFRSs comprise Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRS”); Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(*HKAS”); and interpretations. These consolidated financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”)

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and
revised HKFRSs, which include HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKAS(s)”), amendments and Interpretations (“Int(s)”),
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the

“HKICPA”).

HKFRS 9 Financial instruments

Amendments to HKFRS 2 Classification and measurement of
share-based payment transactions
Amendments to HKFRS 4 Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial instruments”
with HKFRS 4 “Insurance contracts”

HKFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
and the related amendments

Amendments to HKAS 40  Transfers of investment property

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22 Foreign currency transactions and
advance consideration

Annual improvements Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28

2014-2016 cycle
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
G B R A (D

for the year ended 30 June 2019 EHZE—ZFE—NFNA=+HIFFE

4.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”) (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and revised
standards has had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.

Application of HKFRS 9

HKFRS 9 and the amendments to HKFRS 9 have replaced HKAS 39
Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement. HKFRS 9 sets
out the requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets,
financial liabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items.
In accordance with the specific transitional provisions set out in HKFRS
9, the Group has applied the classification and measurement
requirements (including requirements relating to impairment) to items
that existed as of the date of initial application (i.e. 1 July 2018) on a
retrospective basis based on the facts and circumstances and business
models that existed as at 1 July 2018. However, the Group has
decided not to restate the comparative figures. Accordingly, the
comparative information continues to be presented based on the
requirements of HKAS 39 and hence may not be comparable with the
current year information. The cumulative effect of initial application of
HKFRS 9 has been recognised as adjustments to the opening equity
as of July 2018.

() Classification and measurement of financial assets
In general, HKFRS 9 categories financial assets into the following
three classification categories:

o amortised cost;

° fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI);
and

° fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).

These classification categories are different from those set out in
HKAS 39 which included held to-maturity investments, loans and
receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets
measured at FVTPL. The classification of financial assets under
HKFRS 9 is based on the business model under which the
financial asset is managed and its contractual cash flow
characteristics.

4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 4. ERAFIRKLEBITETEBUE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS HELEA(FEBHIFHREE
(“HKFRS(s)”) (Continued) Al )

Application of HKFRS 9 (Continued) EREENBKRETERFIR
(%&)
() Classification and measurement of financial assets () EREEZIERGE @
(Continued)
Details about the Group’s accounting policies for its financial REBEHRSHEERSHAEE
assets and financial liabilities are disclosed in the consolidated METHEZHFRBEERGZEH
financial statements. The Group did not designate or de- KRR - R-_E—N\F+H—H"
designate any financial asset at FVTPL at 1 July 2018. K B k45 T =k B B 18 E T ) iR
ANEBEFABHEZSREE -
The following table shows a reconciliation from how the Group’s T FRIWRAEERZ=ZZT—NF Lt
financial assets existed as of 1 July 2018 were classified and —BEENS R é ERERE
measured under HKAS 39 to how they are classified and ”mz.f STEBFEHm N ERGTE R
measured under HKFRS 9: BEEEVBEREENFIRHH
HERFTEZEHE:
Old classification New classification ~ Carry amount Carrying mount
under HKAS 39 under HKFRS 9 under HKAS 39 Remeasurement under HKFRS 9
RESBH® REEBES REZBHHK
REFBGHER REEAEIR %R 5395 BEEREIR
EIRENESE W28 #Y BR [ B EXTE Y B E &
HK’000 HK’000 HK’000
FAT FHET THET
Trade receivable Loan and receivables Amortised cost 6,748 (12) 6,736
e E 5 IR IE B3Rk W R IE 8 55 X AR
Other receivable Loan and receivables Amortised cost 77,440 (9,951) 67,489

H it JE W IR R E YR IE BHAR
Notes: The amount represented additional impairment loss based on

the new expected loss model under HKFRS 9.

Mzt : R BEIEEREBHBRE LR
FOFBT M EMEBIEE N

SR E 1R
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
G B R A (D

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z —F—NFNA=1+HILFE

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 4. ERAFIRKLEBITETEBUE
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS REEN(EBHBEREE
(“HKFRS(s)”) (Continued) Al )

Application of HKFRS 9 (Continued) EREENBKRETERFIR
(%&)
(i) Impairment (i) WE
HKFRS 9 has introduced the “expected credit loss model” to EBMBEHREERFIRE S| A
replace the “incurred loss” model under HKAS 39. The “expected [TEHREEEEER] WERES
credit loss model” requires an ongoing measurement of credit SHERFRFRETNHNEELEE
risk associated with a financial asset. The Group has applied the BlIERX - [EHEEEREER|E
“expected credit loss model” to the following types of financial SiEFEtE RS EEEBEMNE
assets: BRB AEECEE FNIEANE
MEERRBIEBEEBRBRER]
. financial assets that are subsequently measured at o BERIREHEK AT ENE R
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents, BEEPREHREeLRS2EERE
account receivables and loans receivables); and B EUWERMERER)
&
. contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15. . BB MELERF155E 7
ERENEE -
The following table is a reconciliation that shows how the closing TRAEINTRIZEBEBSSTERSE
loss allowance as at 30 June 2018 determined in accordance VREETHNR_ZT—-NFRA=
with HKAS 39 can be reconciled to the opening loss allowance +HRBREERERIZBES
as at 1 July 2018 determined in accordance with HKFRS 9: IR EERFECRETHN -
—NFE+tA— BB EEERE
2
HK$'000
FET
Additional loss allowance as a result of the application FEREBMEHREEBFOHIE N FEL
of “expected credit loss model” under HKFRS 9 EEEBEXN MELENBINGERE
— Trade receivables -FEWE 5 HRIA 12
— Other receivables — H fth jE I SRR 9,951

Loss allowance recognised as at 1 July 2018 RZZE—NFLA—BERNEBEE 9,963
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
G B R A (D

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z —F—NFNA=1+HILFE

4. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(S)”) (Continued)

Application of HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii) Effect on the Group’s retained earnings as of 1 July
2018
The following table shows the impact of the application of HKFRS
9 on the Group’s retained earnings and other equity components
as of 1 July 2018:

FE R & BB ®RE %R SHIR
)

(i) BEEFER-Z-NFLA
—HNRBEN z2EE
TRIIRERZE Y ®RE%ER
BORUAEER T —\F+tA
—BNREARNEHEMES I D
ZEE:

Decrease in
the Group’s
retained profit
rEE

& B8 723 Fl R 2
HK$’000
FHET

Recognition of additional expected credit loss recognised
— Trade receivables
— Other receivables

BREBRNBINEHEERSIE
-FEUE 5 RIA 12
— H fth fE W SR IR 9,951

9,963

Application of HKFRS 15

HKFRS 15 establishes a comprehensive framework for recognising
revenue and some costs from contracts with customers. HKFRS 15
replaces HKAS 18, Revenue , which covered revenue arising from sale
of goods and rendering of services, and HKAS 11, Construction
contracts, which specified the accounting for construction contracts.

HKFRS 15 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to understand the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers.

The Group has elected to use the cumulative effect transition method
and has recognised the cumulative effect of initial application as an
adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 July 2018. Therefore,
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be
reported under HKASs 11 and 18. As allowed by HKFRS 15, the Group
has applied the new requirements only to contracts that were not
completed before 1 July 2018.

FERERVBEREENF155
BEMBMELEREISHREYL T — [H4R
BRERAERRAR -LREFFAL
ZHA - BB REERE15HE N
EEGHENBE SR URCREREE
MERERBEOKRE) REB G LR
FNRBZEAN(ETATREESHN
%E) -

RN REERFE1SFEINSI AREIIE
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4.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRS(s)”) (Continued)

Application of HKFRS 15 (Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following major sources which
arise from contracts with customers:

o Heat supply services;
o Electricity supplying services;
° Sales of calcium carbide; and

o Facilities construction services.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, unless mentioned otherwise in the
accounting policies below (e.g. buildings and certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRS
requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 6.
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5.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a)

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries made up to 30
June. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Group has control.
The Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.
The Group has power over an entity when the Group has existing
rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities,
i.e. activities that significantly affect the entity’s returns.

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential voting
rights as well as potential voting rights held by other parties. A
potential voting right is considered only if the holder has the
practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date
the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that results in a
loss of control represents the difference between (i) the fair value
of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of any
investment retained in that subsidiary and (i) the Company’s
share of the net assets of that subsidiary plus any remaining
goodwill and any accumulated exchange reserve relating to that
subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies
adopted by the Group.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(a)

Consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in subsidiaries not
attributable, directly or indirectly, to the Company. Non-
controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of changes in
equity within equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-controlling
shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling shareholders even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a subsidiary
that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity
transactions (i.e. transactions with owners in their capacity as
owners).
controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their
relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the
amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and
the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised
directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

The carrying amounts of the controling and non-

In the Company’s statement of financial position the investments
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less allowance for impairment
losses. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the
Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

Business combinations and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the acquisition of
a subsidiary in a business combination. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured at the
acquisition-date fair value of the assets given, equity instruments
issued, liabilities incurred and any contingent consideration.
Acquisition-related costs are recognised as expenses in the
periods in which the costs are incurred and the services are
received. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred over the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable
assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. Any excess of the
Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities over the sum of the consideration transferred is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain
purchase which is attributed to the Group.

In a business combination achieved in stages, the previously held
equity interest in the subsidiary is remeasured at its acquisition-
date fair value and the resulting gain or loss is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of
the consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are initially
measured at the non-controlling shareholders’ proportionate
share of the net fair value of the subsidiary’s identifiable assets
and liabilities at the acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated
to each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) or groups of CGUs
that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the goodwiill
is monitored for internal management purposes. Goodwill
impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate a potential
impairment. The carrying value of the CGU containing the
goodwill is compared to its recoverable amount, which is the
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
Any impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is
not subsequently reversed.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(c) Foreign currency translation

@i

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(the “functional currency”). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is
the Company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the
functional currency on initial recognition using the
exchange rates prevailing on the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
translated at the exchange rates at the end of each
reporting period. Gains and losses resulting from this
translation policy are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rates
at the dates when the fair values are determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised
in other comprehensive income, any exchange component
of that gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive
income. When a gain or loss on a nonmonetary item is
recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of
that gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continved) 5. F E & 5 BUX (@)

(c) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (c) HEEE )
(iii) Translation on consolidation (i) ZKEREREE

The results and financial position of all the Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
Company’s presentation currency are translated into the
Company’s presentation currency as follows:

Assets and liabilities for each statement of financial
position presented are translated at the closing rate
at the date of that statement of financial position;

Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this average is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative
effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are translated
at the exchange rates on the transaction dates); and

All resulting exchange differences are recognised in
statement of comprehensive
accumulated in the exchange reserve.

income and

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of monetary items that form part of the net
investment in foreign entities is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve. When a foreign operation is sold, such exchange
differences are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as
part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at the closing
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Fixed assets

Buildings held for use in the production or for administrative
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at their revalued amounts, being the fair value at the date
of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation
and subsequent accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations
are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amounts do not differ materially from those that would be
determined using fair values at the end of each reporting period.
All other fixed assets are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit
or loss during the period in which they are incurred.

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such
buildings is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in fixed asset revaluation reserve, except to the
extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case the increase
is credited to profit or loss to the extent of the decrease
previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising
on the revaluation of such buildings is recognised in profit or loss
to the extent that it exceeds the balance, if any, held in the
property revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset.

Depreciation of revalued buildings is recognised in profit or loss.
On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the
attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the properties
revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained profits.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(d)

Fixed assets (Continued)

Depreciation of other fixed assets is calculated at rates sufficient
to write off their cost less their residual values over the estimated
useful lives on a straight-line basis. The principal useful lives are
as follows:

Buildings The shorter of the lease terms
and 30 to 50 years

Leasehold improvements 10 years

Pipelines and trench 30 years

Plant and machinery 10 to 30 years

Furniture, office equipment and 5 to 10 years
motor vehicles

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method are
reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction
and plant and machinery pending installation, and is stated at
cost less impairment losses. Depreciation begins when the
relevant assets are available for use.

The gain or loss on disposal of fixed assets is the difference
between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset, and is recognised in profit or loss.

Operating leases

(i) The Group as lessee
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the Group all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Lease payments (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are recognised as
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Prepaid land lease payments are stated at cost and
subsequently amortised on the straight-line basis over the
remaining term of the lease.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e)

Operating leases (Continued)

(ii)

The Group as lessor

Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are
accounted for as operating leases. Rental income from
operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the term of the relevant lease.

() Research and development expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred. Development costs are
capitalised only if all of the following conditions are met:

An asset is created that can be identified (such as new
products);

It is probable that the asset created will generate future
economic benefits; and

The development cost of the asset can be measured
reliably.

Deferred development costs are measured initially at cost and
are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives of 5 years.

Other intangible assets

(i

(ii)

(iii)

Technical know-how

Technical know-how is measured initially at purchase cost
and is amortised on a straight-line basis over its estimated
useful life of 10 years.

Trade name and exclusive right

Trade name and exclusive right are measured initially at
purchase cost and are amortised on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of 25 years.

Construction contracts

Construction contracts are measured initially at fair value
and are amortised on a straight-line basis over the contract
period of 1-2 years.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the weighted average basis. The
cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw
materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of all
production overhead expenditure. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs
necessary to make the sale.

Financial assets
Classification of financial assets
Accounting policy prior to 1 July 2018

All financial assets are initially measured at fair value on initial
recognition. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets (other than financial assets held for
trading and those designated at fair value through profit or loss)
(FVTPL) are added to the fair value of the financial assets on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of held for trading and FVTPL investments are
recognised in profit or loss immediately.

Financial assets that are classified as “loans and receivables” or
“held-to-maturity investments” are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using an effective interest rate, less impairment.

Available-for-sale (AFS) equity investments are subsequently
measured at fair value with changes in fair value being recognised
in other comprehensive income accumulated under “AFS
investment revaluation reserve”. Amounts previously recognised
in “AFS investment revaluation reserve” are reclassified to profit
or loss upon impairment or disposal.

Available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be
reliably measured and derivatives that are linked to and must be
settled by delivery of such unquoted equity investments are
subsequently measured at cost less impairment.

Dividends from AFS equity instruments are recognised in profit or
loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policy prior to 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Available-for-debt investments are subsequently measured at fair
value with changes in fair value being recognised in other
comprehensive income accumulated under “AFS investment
revaluation reserve” except for (a) interest income measured
using the effective interest method and (b) foreign exchange
gains or losses determined based on the amortised cost of debt
investments are recognised in profit or loss.

Held-for-trading investments and FVTPL assets are subsequently
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value being
recognised in profit or loss.

Accounting policy from 1 July 2018

Investments in equity securities (other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures)

An investment in equity securities is measured fair value on initial
recognition. An investment in equity securities is subsequently
measured at FVTPL unless the investment is designated as at fair
value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) as at date
of initial application of HKFRS 9 based on the specific transitional
provisions set out in HKFRS 9. Under HKFRS 9, an investment in
equity securities can be designated as at FVTOCI on an
instrument-by-instrument basis provided that the investment is
neither held-for-trading nor contingent consideration recognised
by the Group in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies.

For investments in equity securities designated as at FVTOCI (as
described above), fair value changes are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the “FVTOCI (equity
investment) reserve”. Such fair value changes will not be
reclassified to profit or loss when the investments are
derecognised. However, they will be transferred to the Group’s
retained earnings when the investments are derecognised.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Investments in equity securities (other than investments in
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures) (Continued)

For investments in equity securities that are held-for-trading or
not designated as at FVTOCI (as described above), they are
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
such that changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss.

An investment is equity securities is derecognised when the
Group sells the investment.

Investments in debt securities

An investment in debt securities is classified as follows depending
on the instruments’ contractual cash flow characteristics and the
Group’s business model for managing the investment:

° Amortised cost when (a) the contractual terms of the asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payment of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding and (b) the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by collecting
contractual cash flows.

° FVTOCI when (a) the contractual terms of the asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payment of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding and (b) the financial asset is held within a
business model whose objective is achieved by both
collecting contractual cash flows and selling the financial
asset.

° FVTPL when either (a) the contractual terms of the asset
give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are not
solely payment of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding or (b) the financial asset is held within
a business whose objective is neither (i) collecting
contractual cash flows nor (i) collecting contractual cash
flows and selling the financial asset.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Financial assets (Continued)
Classification of financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Investments in debt securities (Continued)

For investments in debt securities subsequently measured at
FVTOCI, fair value changes are recognized in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the “FVTOCI (debt
investment) reserve” except for impairment loss (see below) and
foreign exchange gains or losses. Interest income is calculated
using the effective interest method and is recognised in profit or
loss. When an investment in debt securities is derecognised, the
fair value changes previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified from equity to profit or loss as a
reclassification adjustment.

An investment is debt securities is derecognised when the Group
sells the investment or when the contractual rights to the cash
flows from the asset expire.

Transaction costs

Transaction costs directly attributable for the acquisition of
financial assets (other than those classified or designated as at
FVTPL) are included in the initial measurement of the financial
assets. For financial assets subsequently measured at amortised
cost, such transaction costs are included in the calculation of
amortised cost using the effective interest method (i.e. in effect
amortised through profit or loss over the lives of the financial
assets). For investments in equity securities at FVTOCI, such
transaction costs are recognised in other comprehensive income
as part of change in fair value at the next remeasurement. For
investments in debt securities classified as FVTOCI, such
transaction costs are amortised to profit or loss using the
effective interest method (i.e. in effect amortised through profit or
loss over the lives of the financial assets).
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Impairment on financial assets
Accounting policy prior to 1 July 2018

Prior to 1 July 2018, the Group had adopted “incurred loss
model” in assessing and measuring impairment losses on
financial assets. Under the “incurred loss model”, an impairment
loss was recognised when there was objective indicators of
impairment which included:

° significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

° a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

° it becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy
or other financial reorganisation; and

° significant changes in the technology, market, economic or
legal environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor.

Accounting policy from 1 July 2018

The Group has applied the expected credit loss model under
HKFRS 9 to the following types of financial assets:

° financial assets that are subsequently measured at
amortised cost (including cash and cash equivalents and
trade receivables);

° contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15; and

° investments in debt securities that are subsequently
measured at FVTOCI;

Expected credit loss (ECL) of a financial asset is measured based
on an unbiased and probability-weighted amount. It also reflects
the time value of money and reasonable and supportable
information that is available to the Group without undue cost or
effect at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Impairment on financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

ECL is measured on either of the following bases:

° 12-month expected credit loss when, at the reporting date,
the credit risk on a financial asset has not increased
significantly since initial recognition; and

° Lifetime expected credit loss when (a) at the reporting
date, the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition; or (b) at the reporting
date, the financial asset has become credit-impaired.

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial asset as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers quantitative and qualitative reasonable and supportable
information that is available to the Group without undue cost or
effort, that is indicative of significant increases in credit risk since
initial recognition.

Specifically, the following information has been taken into
account in assessing whether the credit risk on a financial asset
has significantly increased since initial recognition:

° Significant changes in internal price indicators of credit risk
as a result of a change in credit risk since inception.

° Significant changes in terms of existing financial assets if
the asset was newly originated or issued at the reporting
date.

° Significant changes in external market indicators of credit
risk for a particular financial instrument or similar financial
instruments with the same expected life.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Impairment on financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

o An actual or expected significant change in the financial
instrument’s external credit rating.

° An actual or expected internal credit rating downgrade for
the borrower or decrease in behavioural scoring used to
assess credit risk internally.

° Existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change in the borrower’s ability to meet its debt
obligations (e.g. actual or expected increase in interest
rates or an actual or expected significant increase in
unemployment rates).

o Actual or expected significant change in the operating
results of the borrower.

o Significant change in the quality of guarantee provided.

o Contractual cash flows are more than 60 days past due.

In making the abovementioned assessment, the Group considers
that a default occurs when (a) it is unlikely that the borrower will
be able to settle his/her debts in full and (b) the financial asset is
more than 180 days past due.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

Impairment on financial assets (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

ECL is remeasured at the end of each reporting period to reflect
changes in financial asset’s credit risk since initial recognition.
Changes in ECL are recognised in profit or loss with the
corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset
through a loss allowance account, except for investments in debt
securities that are subsequently measured at FVTOCI for which
the corresponding adjustment is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in “FVTOCI (debt
investment) reserve”.

For trade receivables and contract assets without significant
financing component, ECL is always measured at an amount
equal to lifetime expected credit losses.

At the end of each of the reporting period, the Group assesses
whether its financial assets have become credit impaired.

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations
of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
This is generally the time when the Group assesses and
concludes that the debtor is unable to settle the debts in full or
part of the debts.

A provision for impairment of trade and other receivables is
established when there is objective evidence that the Group will
not be able to collect the amounts due.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(k)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets and goodwill), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charge to profit or
loss in the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

Trade and other receivables
Accounting policy prior to 1 July 2018

A provision for impairment and other receivables is established
when there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able
to collect the amounts due.

Accounting policy from 1 July 2018

Trade receivables are recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. The Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration when only the
passage of time is required before payment of the consideration
is due.

For the Group’s trade receivables, ECL is always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. In particular,
ECL is estimated using a provision of matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for (a)
information that is specific to particular debtors and (b)
forwardlooking information based on the current and forecast
general economic conditions available to the Group without
undue cost or effort at the reporting date. ECL is recognised in
profit or loss with the corresponding adjustment to the carrying
amount of the trade receivables through a loss allowance
account.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()

(m)

Trade and other receivables (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount of a
financial asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations
of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
This is generally the time when the Group assesses and
concludes that the debtor is unable to settle the debts in full or
part of the debts.

Contract assets and contract liabilities
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to
a customer when that right is conditioned on something other
than the passage of time.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with a customer, either a net contract asset
or a net contract liability is presented. Contracts assets and
contract liabilities arising from unrelated multiple contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 5. FE € HE @)
(m) EHNEEREGNERB @

(m) Contract assets and contract liabilities (Continued)

Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

As mentioned in note 4, the Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the
first time for the current year using the cumulative effect transition
method. Adjustments were made as at 1 July 2018 to reclassify
certain amounts from “trade and other receivables” and “gross
amount due from customers” to “contract assets” and certain
amounts from ’trade and other payables” and “gross amount due
to customers” to “contract liabilities”.

For the Group’s contract assets, ECL is always measured at an
amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. In particular,
ECL is estimated using a provision of matrix based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for (a)
information that is specific to particular customers available and (b)
forward-looking information based on the current and forecast
general economic conditions at the reporting date. ECL is
recognised in profit or loss with the corresponding adjustment to
the carrying amount of the contract assets through a loss
allowance account.

The Group directly reduces the gross carrying amount of a
contract asset when the Group has no reasonable expectations
of recovering a contract asset in its entirety or a portion thereof.
This is generally the time when the Group assesses and
concludes that the Group is unable to recover the costs.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial liabilities
Accounting policy prior to 1 July 2018

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the
purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other
payables, borrowings, certain preference shares and the debt
element of convertible loan note issued by the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Accounting policy prior to 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor
to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments
issued are the consideration paid and are recognised initially and
measured at their fair value on the date the financial liability or
part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity
instruments are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Accounting policy from 1 July 2018

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the
purpose for which the liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include
financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit
or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are
acquired for the purpose of sale in the near term. Derivatives,
including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as
held for trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognised in profit or loss.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

Where a contract contains one or more embedded derivatives,
the entire hybrid contract may be designated as a financial liability
at fair value through profit or loss, except where the embedded
derivative does not significantly modify the cash flows or it is clear
that separation of the embedded derivative is prohibited.

Financial liabilities may be designated upon initial recognition as
at fair value through profit or loss if the following criteria are met: (i)
the designation eliminates or significantly reduces the inconsistent
treatment that would otherwise arise from measuring the liabilities
or recognising gains or losses on them on a different basis; (i) the
liabilities are part of a group of financial liabilities which are
managed and their performance evaluated on a fair value basis,
in accordance with a documented risk management strategy; or (iii)
the financial liability contains an embedded derivative that would
need to be separately recorded.

Subsequent to initial recognition, financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are measured at fair value, with changes in
fair value recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other
payables, borrowings, certain preference shares and the debt
element of convertible loan note issued by the Group are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is recognised in
profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the amortisation process.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(n)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Accounting policy from 1 July 2018 (Continued)

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected
life of the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a
shorter period.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition
Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity instruments to a creditor
to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments
issued are the consideration paid and are recognised initially and
measured at their fair value on the date the financial liability or
part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of the equity
instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity
instruments are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability or part thereof extinguished and the
consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents represent cash at bank and on hand, demand
deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and short-
term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and subject to an insignificant risk of
change in value. Bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand
and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are
also included as a component of cash and cash equivalents.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(P)

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and is recognised when it is probable that
the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the amount of
revenue can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognised on the transfer of
significant risks and rewards of ownership, which generally
coincides with the time when the goods are delivered and the
title has passed to the customers.

Revenue from supply of heat and electricity are recognised when
the heat or electricity are provided.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

Revenue from facilities construction services are recognised
when services are provided.

Employee benefits

(i) Employee leave entitlements
Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
G B R A (D

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z —F—NFNA=1+HILFE

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(@)
(i)

(iii)

Employee benefits (Continued)

Retirement benefits schemes

The Group operates a mandatory provident fund scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the “Ordinance”) for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The Group’s
contributions to the MPF Scheme are calculated at 5% of
the salaries and wages subject to a monthly maximum
amount specified in the Ordinance per employee and vest
fully with employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries established in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) are members
of a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required to
contribute certain percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and wages to the central pension scheme to fund
the retirement benefits. The local municipal government
undertakes to assume the retirement benefits obligations
of all existing and future retired employees of these
subsidiaries. The only obligation of these subsidiaries with
respect to the central pension scheme is to meet the
required contributions under the scheme.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of the
dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of termination
benefits.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(r)

(s)

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain
directors and employees. Equity-settled share-based payments
are measured at fair value (excluding the effect of non-market
based vesting conditions) of the equity instruments at the date of
grant. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect of non-
market based vesting conditions.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying a
capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

A government grant is recognised when there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to it and that the grant will be received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match them with
the costs they are intended to compensate.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(t)

Government grants (Continued)

Government grants that become receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are
recorded as deferred income and recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Taxation
Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit recognised in profit or loss
because of items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using
tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses or unused tax credits can be
utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit
nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(u)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available
to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its
current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Related parties
A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of
the Company or of a parent of the Company.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

)

Related parties (Continued)

An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

)

(i

(iii)

(V)

(vi)

(vii

(viii)

The entity and the Company are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a
plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to
the Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (A).

A person identified in (A)() has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services
to the Group or a parent of the Group.
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5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(v)

Related parties (Continued)
(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner;

(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic
partner; and

@iy  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse
or domestic partner.

(w) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will
be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the
obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is not
appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting
period that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to
the consolidated financial statements when material.
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6.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING 6.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
In the process of applying the accounting policies, the directors have
made the following judgements that have the most significant effect on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those
involving estimations, which are dealt with below).

(@) Going concern basis
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going concern basis, the validity of which depends upon
whether the banks will exercise their discretion to demand
immediate repayment of bank loans which are subject to a
repayment on demand clause. Details are explained in note 2 to
the consolidated financial statements.

(b) Legal titles of certain buildings

As stated in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements, the
legal titles of certain buildings were not yet obtained as at 30
June 2019. Despite the fact that the Group has not obtained the
relevant legal titles, the directors have determined to recognise
those buildings as fixed assets on the grounds that they expect
the legal titles should be obtained in future with no major
difficulties and the Group is in substance controlling those
puildings.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed
below.

(a) Fixed assets and depreciation

The Group determines the estimated useful lives, residual values
and related depreciation charges for the Group’s fixed assets.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives and residual values of fixed assets of similar nature
and functions. The Group will revise the depreciation charge
where useful lives and residual values are different to those
previously estimated, or it will write-off or write-down technically
obsolete or nonstrategic assets that have been abandoned.
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6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(@

(b)

(c)

(d)

Fixed assets and depreciation (Continued)
The carrying amount of fixed assets as at 30 June 2019 was
approximately HK$1,699,586,000 (2018: HK$2,480,315,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in several jurisdictions.
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for
income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for
which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the
ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that were initially
recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made. During the year, income tax credit of approximately
HK$1,233,000 (2018: HK$7,267,000) was recognised in profit or
loss based on the estimated deferred tax liabilities.

Useful lives of other intangible assets

The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related
amortisation charges for the Group’s other intangible assets. This
estimate is based on the expected pattern of consumption of the
future economic benefits embodied in the asset or, where
appropriate, the contractual or other legal rights associated with
the assets. The Group will revise the amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset where the useful life
is different to that previously estimated.

Fair value of certain fixed assets

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of certain fixed assets. In determining the
fair value, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which
involves certain estimates. The directors have exercised their
judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation and
inputs used are reflective of the current market conditions.
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6. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(e)

(f)

(9)

Fair value of buildings

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to
assess the fair value of the buildings. In determining the fair value,
the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The directors have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the method of valuation and inputs used
are reflective of the current market conditions.

The carrying amount of buildings as at 30 June 2019 was
approximately HK$449,583,000 (2018: HK$680,900,000).

Loss allowance for ECL

The Group’s management estimates the loss allowance for trade
receivables based on risk of a default and expected loss rate.
The assessment of the credit risk involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty as the Group’s management
estimates the risk of a default and expected loss rate for applying
provision matrix on debtors based on the Group’s historical
information, existing market conditions as well as forward looking
estimates at the end of each reporting period. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference
will impact the carrying amount of trade receivables.

Allowance for slow-moving inventories

Allowance for slow-moving inventories is made based on the
ageing and estimated net realisable value of inventories. The
assessment of the allowance amount involves judgement and
estimates. Where the actual outcome in future is different from
the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and allowance charge/write-back in the
period in which such estimate has been changed. No allowance
for slow-moving inventories was made for the year ended 30
June 2019 (2018: HK$NIl).

6. %‘Eﬁﬁﬁ BUER B 2 B8 5
(#0)
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(&)

(e)
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(9)
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: foreign
currency risk, price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk.
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(@)

Foreign currency risk

The Group has minimal exposure to foreign currency risk as most
of its business transactions, assets and liabilities are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (‘RMB”) which
are the functional currencies of the principal operating entities of
the Group. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets
and liabilities. The Group will monitor its foreign currency
exposure closely and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

Price risk

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period.
Therefore, the Group is exposed to equity security price risk. The
directors manage this exposure by maintaining a portfolio of
investments with different risk profiles.

At 30 June 2019, if the prices of the Group’s investments
increase/decrease by 10%, loss after tax for the year would have
been approximately HK$74,300 (2018: HK$193,900) lower/
higher.

Bt 7% L By B

AEBXGEHESEMBRR S5
EHW‘FWH%*EEHM*ﬁQE
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ﬁﬁﬁ%vimﬁﬂm%TTﬁﬂz%
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SESZ IS EEINERR - XN
FERZEEHPERINERR -

(b) E%R K

AEBRAFEFABRRZRZE®
EEREBEREHNELEERRR

:FTEEJFE o EIt - AL EMEH R A
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—NENA=TH " fix&E
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c)

Credit risk

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables and cash
and cash equivalents represent the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk in relation to financial assets. As at 30 June 2019
and 2018, all bank balances were deposited in reputable financial
institutions and were hence without significant credit risk.
Management does not expect any losses from non-performance
by these counterparties. Credit sales are made to selected
customers with good credit history. The Group has policies in
place to ensure that outstanding trade receivables are collected
on a timely basis. Trade receivables are subject to the expected
credit loss model. The Group applies HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade receivables from
initial recognition. To measure the expected credit losses, trade
receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The expected loss rates
are based on the historical payment profiles of sales and the
corresponding historical credit losses experienced. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking
information on factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that outstanding other
receivables are collected on a timely basis. Other receivables are
subject to the expected credit loss model. The Group applies
HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for all other
receivables from initial recognition. The expected loss rates are
based on the historical payment profiles and the corresponding
historical credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the
receivables.

7.
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(c)

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7. MR EE @
Credit risk (Continued) c) EER B ()
The following table provides information about the Group's TERREBEEBAEER_Z— 1
exposure to credit risk and expected credit loss for trade FRA=ZTEHEKRESERER
receivables as at 30 June 2019: Bz EERBREREHEEBED
EH
Trade
receivables
Expected before Loss
loss ECL allowance
kR
HHEE
EiEA 2z
EWE S
FEHEE BR1E BEEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% FAT FAET
Current (not past due) BNHA (R #EHA) 7.18 45,851 3,290
Less than 3 months past due Bl R 31E A 7.10 324 23
46,175 &1
Liquidity risk d REBELRR

(d)

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in the short
and longer term.

For term loans which contain a repayment on demand clause
which can be exercised at the banks’ sole discretion, the analysis
shows the cash outflow based on the earliest period in which the
Group can be required to pay, that is if the lenders were to
invoke their unconditional rights to call the loans with immediate
effect. The maturity analysis for other bank loans is prepared
based on the scheduled repayment dates.

AEEZBRRAEREZERBR
BHRPESTE  UERAERT
HwASRHE BNEEHEEHR

i B E A IR - MARE
KA ARITEEBBITE 8D
TeEBRTRBEAEEEANRZ &
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1 W B R S {4 A R B ) 0 R A
ZHREME - EMRTER 2 EH
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Gontinued) 7. MBEABREE@®
(d) Liquidity risk (Continued) (d) REBE SR @
The maturity analysis of the Group’s financial liabilities is as AEBeREEZIHE ST
follows: R
Between Between
On Less than 1 and 2 and Over
demand 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years
EER LMMFE 15225 26F5F BESF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKH000 HKS000
FET FET FET FET FET
At 30 June 2019 R=Z—-—AEA~A=1+H
Term loan subject to a HAEBTEAERZ
repayment on demand E B E R
clause 18,670 - - - -
Other bank loans HARITE R = 35,589 2,719 8,505 10,629
Trade payables e E 5 BRIE - 58,555 = = =
Bond payables fE & - 11,250 10,841 712,037 725,790
Other payable and accruals  E b & < 7X 38 & fE =t ;I8 - 126,010 208,799 - -
Other loans H A E K - 31,655 - - -
At 30 June 2018 R-ZE-—NFEXA=+H
Term loan subject to a AEBTREAGRZ
repayment on demand THER
clause 34,548 = = = =
Other bank loans HEMiRITER = 40,017 2,661 8,329 13,777
Trade payables ENE SERE - 100,171
Bond payables J& < 18 2 - 8,387 18,957 556,118 891,557
Other payable and accruals  H /b & 1~ 7038 & & =t 2018 - 159,276 251,313 - -
Other loans HEiBER 26,266 33,189 - =
The maturity analysis of term loans subject to a repayment on BETEMIERZEHERRIE
demand clause based on scheduled repayments is as follows: EZTREERELEZEHBE M
s
Contractual undiscounted
cash flows
EHNXRMBEERE
Less than Between
1year 1and2years
DPR1E 1EZ25F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET
At 30 June 2019 R=ZZF—hEXA=TH 19,342 -
At 30 June 2018 RZZE—-N\FXA=+AH 36,839 -
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 7. MR EE @
(e) Interest rate risk (e) FEE

Bonds payable and other loans were arranged at fixed interest
rates and therefore were subject to fair value interest rate risk.

Bank loans and other loans were arranged at floating rates varied

with the then prevailing market condition.

At 30 June 2019, if interest rates at that date had been 1%
lower/higher with all other variables held constant, consolidated
loss after tax for the year would have been approximately
HK$359,000 (2018: HK$736,000) lower/higher, arising mainly as
a result of lower/higher interest expense on bank loans and other

1 0 3 T 2 Y e L
Ei B MAEATEFAEAR -

RITERREMERTIIRE SR
TRKE ZFBFRG S -

RZE—NFAA=Z+H ' MEAR
MR T EF1%0Mm BT A H b &
HUERTE AXFEBRBREREE
18 15 8 41 Hn 49359,00058 7T (=
=T — J\4F : 736,000 7T) - Ut I E

loans. ZHRBITERREMERZF
BRAX TR/ EAB-
Categories of financial instruments H &WMIEESE
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET
Financial assets: SREE:
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEETAEBZEZ
profit or loss: SEEE
Held for trading BEEE 743 1,939
Amortised cost b R I DN 109,914 -
Other financial asset HEh e a&E 6,351 -
Loans and receivables (including cashand B X EEKRZIE (BIER S
cash equivalents) RS BEEE) - 214,404
Financial liabilities: cMas:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost REEKAGFEZCREAE 1,401,831 1,482,332
Fair values (99 ~¥F¥E

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and
financial liabilities as reflected in the consolidated statement of
financial position approximate their respective fair values.

HRAMBRARFATAEE SR
EENZREGBCREEERLR
BZRAFEBEE -
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 8.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. The following disclosures of fair value
measurements use a fair value hierarchy that categorises into three
levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value:

Level 1 inputs: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the Group can access
at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs:  inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly or indirectly.

Level 3 inputs:  unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and transfers out of
any of the three levels as of the date of the event or change in
circumstances that caused the transfer.

AV EMHE
RTERMGLRELEFERETZH
KFRX ST HE-—REEMKRNKE
E-HABEAXNZER - ATHEZ
RFEAHEERBRIFEER BB
ERAVFEZEERMZBABES R=
B FEBMT

FIRBABE: AEEAEFE AR
BZHREEXEE
BTS2 HECK
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 8. AFEINEwW
(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy: (@ AFEBREE:
At 30 June 2019 R-ZEBE-AFXNA=1H
Fair value
measurements using: Total
FAUTERED
PANE SR st
Level 1 Level 3 2019
Description ot F14 3/ —ZT—IF
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT FER
Recurring fair value measurements: &M AFEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABEZ
profit or loss EREE
Listed securities in Hong Kong FEFTES 743 - 743
Other financial asset B mEE = 6,351 6,351
Fixed assets FEE
Properties in Hong Kong EEME - 10,200 10,200
Properties in PRC o ) % - 439,383 439,383
- 449,583 449,583
Total recurring fair value BREMAFLETEHE
measurements 743 455,934 456,677




EBEXREEERAR —Z-hFFR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mRa B R R MY AL ()

for the year ended 30 June 2019 #Z —F—NFNA=1+HILFE

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) 8.

(a) Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy:
(Continued)
At 30 June 2018

Description 5t

R-ZFE-NFEXNA=1H

Fair value
measurements using: Total
FRAUTERESY
ZRFEEFE: #BEt
Level 1 Level 3 2018
R #I/k —T—N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

THET THET THET

Recurring fair value measurements: &EEM N FEFE :

Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFABRZ

profit or loss EREE

Listed securities in Hong Kong BERELEMES 1,939 - 1,939
Fixed assets FEE

Properties in Hong Kong BEREME - 11,900 11,900

Properties in PRC W ) 2 - 669,000 669,000

- 680,900 680,900

Total recurring fair value BREMATEFAEZAE

measurements 1,939 680,900 682,839

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2, or transfer into or out of Level 3 (2018: Nil).

Note: For the purpose of impairment assessment, the recoverable
amount of other fixed assets is fair value less costs of disposal. In
the absence of current prices in an active market for similar other
fixed assets, the Group considers information by reference to the
valuation performed by an independent valuer based on the
depreciated replacement cost (“DRC”) approach. The DRC
approach requires a valuation of the market value of the other fixed
assets in its existing use and an estimate of the new replacement
cost of the other fixed assets from which deductions are then
made to allow for physical deterioration and all forms of
obsolescence and optimisation.

FA BEFIREF2RE2HEH
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Reconciliation of assets measured at fair value

(c)

based on level 3:

The movements of the properties under Level 3 fair value
measurements during the year are presented in note 18 to the
consolidated financial statements under the heading of “Buildings”.
Fair value adjustments on properties are recognised in the line
item “deficits on property revaluation” in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements:

The Group’s financial controller is responsible for the fair value
measurements of assets and liabilities required for financial
reporting purposes, including level 3 fair value measurements.
The financial controller reports directly to the Board of Directors
for these fair value measurements. Discussions of valuation
processes and results are held between the financial controller
and the Board of Directors at annual basis.

8.

AT EFE @

(b)

(c)

RELIPERAFETEZ
EEYHK:
FREIRATHEABETZY
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8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Disclosure of valuation process used by the
Group and valuation techniques and inputs
used in fair value measurements: (Continued)

For level 3 fair value measurements, the Group will normally
engage external valuation experts with the recognised

professional qualifications and recent experience to perform the

8. A¥EFEw

) *REEHRAZHEERFK
AFESEREANMGE
Bl R o A B Y 4R
()

REE KRR AN GEEER
ETESRATEHE - ZSER
AAGRTEELER BOHAE

valuations. iAo
Effect on
fair value
Valuation for increase
Description technique Unobservable inputs Range of inputs Fair value
LoD $:
¥ N FEE
1 {8 £ 1l TAHERAYE gE a7 A¥E
HK$'000
FHET
At 30 June 2019
R-ZB—NLERA=+H
Fixed assets
& & B
Properties in Direct Adjusted market price HK$35,000/ Increase 10,200
Hong Kong comparison (HK$/square feet) square feet
BB HELEE KRHESE 35,000 o
(BT FEHR) Bt/ R R
Properties in PRC Depreciated Depreciated replacement RMB23 - Increase 439,383
replacement cost (RMB/square feet) RMB2,845/
cost Building/Structure life square feet
15-40 years
R MHRBERR MHRBEKR AR¥23TE 3
(AR¥FHR) AR¥284557T/
BF HBEsH AR
16 E 404
At 30 June 2018
R-ZE—NFEXA=+H
Fixed assets
BxaE
Properties in Direct Adjusted market price HK$36,000/ Increase 11,900
Hong Kong comparison (HK$/square feet) square feet
EEYE HELER RPARME 36,0007 7T, 3 n
(BT FEHR) FHR
Properties in PRC Depreciated Depreciated replacement RMB56 — Increase 669,000
replacement cost (RMB/square feet) RMB5,293/
cost Building/Structure life square feet
15-40 years
FEI MHRBERAR MHREBERAR AR#B56TE 3
(AR¥E/FHR) ARS52037T,/
BF s F 75 R

15 E40%F
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<)

REVENUE 9.

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts, and after eliminations of all
significant intra-group transactions during the year.

iy &
WHERAFRHEEEmZERFER
ERERBEREZIMN YEHHEH
HRMEEARS -

2019 2018
—B-hE —FN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Heat supplying services ZhBE P AR 1% 160,189 166,432
Electricity supplying services B E RS 12,456 18,530
Sales of calcium carbide HE LG 75,844 74,661
Facilities construction services % hE 2 % AR 7S 73,897 108,009
Commission income el A 662 =
323,048 367,632

(i) Disaggregation of revenue (i) YA B 4H

For the year ended 30 June 2019
BE-_Z—hGRA=+HLEE

Heat and Calcium Construction

Power carbide services Unallocated

Segment 2 BERED Bt 45 BERK Ko E
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000

FAT FET FAT FAT

Heat supplying services =B i FE AR 75 160,189 - - -
Electricity supplying services & /7 & iR 75 12,456 = = =
Sales of calcium carbide $HE (LT = 75,844 _ _
Facilities construction services % JitE £ 5% IR 7% - - 73,897 =
Commission income HE WA - - - 662
172,645 75,844 73,897 662

(i) All revenue is a point in time excepted construction services is
over time.

(i) FrAMYEE—EREZ -
BRI EE —BER .
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expenditure and subsidy for operating costs. There are no unfulfilled

conditions or contingencies attached to the grants.

10. OTHER INCOME 10. A
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Conveyance service income (Note (a)) & RIS WA (M 5 @) 4,219 8,185
Gain on disposal of prepaid land lease payments  H & 78 {5 + 1 78 & & U 25 - 7,085
Gain on disposal of fixed assets E EE B E R R =S - 430
Gain on settlement of other loan HEEEMERH K 14,796 =
Government grants (Note (o)) BT 6 Bh & (B 3£ (b)) 6,342 3,609
Bank interest income AT A B WA 13 14
Other interest income H A F B A 1,888 1,248
Property management service income YT RRB WA 16,718 16,036
Reversal of trade receivables U E 5 B8R 18 2 #E El 3,496 3,684
Reversal of prepayment, deposit and TR RIE - 5T & R EH AL B W RIE
other receivables Z B0l 4,893 6,311
Write off of other payables due to deregistration TBEE & 50 T &8 H fh FE S 1B - 3,327
Realised gain on financial assets through FRERARCZEREE
profit or loss 7B 269 705
Sundry income WA 2,724 210
55,358 50,844
Notes: B eE
(a)  Conveyance service income represents the income from provision of the @ EHRBEWAEABLETFPREMfESR
service for connecting the transition of steam to corporate customers. e HERBATEWA °
()  Government grants for the years were received as incentive for capital b)) FRUDRRFB@#HDE FAEARTZ

BB R EERAZ R - ARMBEL
THHEEMRBITZ GEREIARAER -
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION 1. 2 HER

The Group has five reportable segments as follows:

Polyvinyl-chloride manufacture and sale of polyvinyl-chloride;

Vinyl acetate — manufacture and sale of vinyl acetate;

Heat and power — generation and supply of heat and power;

Calcium carbide — manufacture and sale of calcium carbide; and

Construction — construct and monitor of public facilities
services construction.

On 7 January 2018, the Group completed the acquisition of 100% of
the equity interest of Mudanjiang Jinyang Municipal Engineering
Company Limited (“Jinyang Municipal”). Jinyang is engaged in the
construction and monitor of public facilities construction and its
segment information was presented individually.

The Group’s reportable segments are strategic business units that offer
different products. They are managed separately because each
business unit requires different technology and marketing strategies.

Segment profits or losses do not include fair value loss on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, impairment of goodwill and
corporate administrative expenses. Segment assets do not include
bank and cash balances, financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and corporate assets. Segment liabilities do not include bank
loans, bonds payable, bond interest payable, other loans and other
payables and accruals for general administrative use.

REEF AT I AT 3 & D E

RELB - BEREERRLE:
BRZEm - BUERHERRLEG
REREN - EERMERERE

BACE - BERSEREE R
RERY - RRERERAMRM
-

R-ZZE-NF-—HAEB AEBEZTKK
BHAISGETRIEARQR (25
mERDE2MRE - ENEBR/ER
EENARKER HOMERNCES
25

AEFEEAHRENHBRRETRERZ
REEMEEBEN  ERNTEBELRT
Bl b T 45 HE SRR N R T BB IR e

7> BB N 3k B 18 I | AT AR QP EE
ABRZERMEEZRAFEEE BE
AE R R RAITHR X o O #BE E I A
ABRTREASET BAVEFAER
ZEMEERRREE - NHABLE
AAARTER BNES  BAESH
B B A B SRA R CE A A RIE R — &R
T A& Z Rt 7R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
mRa B R R MY AL ()
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 11. 2PER @
The Group accounts for intersegment sales and transfers as if the sales AREBRRAFE=ZAFEHZEEEZE
or transfers were to third parties, i.e. at current market prices. (BMRIBTmB)FTE s SHEEE RE
=
Information about reportable segment profit or EBRAURED I ERREE -
loss, assets and liabilities: BEENERE 2§;|6} :
Heatand Calcium Construction Polyvinyl-
power carbide services chloride Vinyl acetate Unallocated Total
By
ESf Befb 85 ERRE BEZE B®Z&E AOE Fohy
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
TERT TERT TERT THERT THERT THERT THERT
Year ended 30 June 2019 %zi_ T-NF
NAZTRLEEE
Revenue from external PREFE KR

customers 172,645 75,844 73,897 - - 662 323,048
Segment profit/(loss) AEEH/(EB) 20,174  (398,218) 3,252  (129,202) (57,509) - (561,503
Gain on fair value of financial Bz TEF )\ BEze

assets at far value through &t ﬁ E TE

profit or loss, net Wezs % - - - - - 4,904 4,904
Corporate administrative NGIEST ¢ Faﬁ i

expenses - - - - - (140,983)  (140,983)
Consolidated loss for the year & R4 4 B (697,582)
Interest revenue 2 - 3 - - - 10 13
Interest expense B H% 3,830 4,353 2,306 - 826 81,312 92,627
Depreciation and amortisation 47 & % % £ 12,147 82,781 5,151 13,055 12,322 1,421 126,877
Other material items of income £ ﬁﬂ i OB

and expense:

Government grants B( !ﬁ e 6,342 - - - - - 6,342
Income tax credit FEHES - - 1,233 - - - 1,233
Other material non-cash items: & AFHEIEE :

Provision/(reversal) of BN ERE/

allowance for B (@) FH

receivables, net

— trade receivables -EWESEE 7,211 (3,497) - - - - 3,714

— prepayment and —BRFER

other receivables Hib R - (3,637) - (606) - (650) (4,893)

Written-off of fixed assets TEEMS - 288,200 - 92,076 29,541 - 409,817
Deficits on property MEER/E

revaluation - 28,725 - 21,476 13,872 - 64,073

Additions to segment BRI BERBEE

non-current assets 9,505 8,686 52 - - - 18,243

As at 30 June 2019 \=2-NE

/\ )E] = + El
Consolidated total assets GEBERE 662,121 1,171,049 121,606 57,685 40,889 213,492 2,266,842
Consolidated total liabilities HARBEEE 142,951 208,206 2,589 12,707 21,691 1,013,789 1,401,933
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Information about reportable segment profit or
loss, assets and liabilities: (Continued)

1. 2BE R @)

FRTHRESMENNNEE
EEREBZEN @

Heat and Calcium  Construction  Polyvinyl-
power carbide services chloride  Vinylacetate  Unallocated Total
2
EW) fix 1L 85 BERYE BELB [ RAE Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT THET THT AL FTAEL FTAEL FTAET
Year ended 30 June 2018 HE-Z-N\%
NA=tHLEEE
Revenue from external INREP W
customers 184,962 74,661 108,009 - - - 367,632
Segment profit/{loss) AEEF (B8 30,796 (107,175) 16,013 (21,619) (31,415) - (113,3%)
Corporate administrative ARTHRAY
expenses - = = = = (105,218)  (105,218)
Consolidated loss for the year & A 474 518 (218,614)
Interest revenue | 2 - 14 - - - - 14
Interest expense FER% 3,756 4,499 1,164 - 2,598 70,577 82,594
Gain on bargaining purchase WM B A E 2
on acquisition of subsidiary ZEBE NS - - 27,491 - - - 27,491
Depreciation and amortisation ~ #7 & [ 4 4% 11,007 76,579 29,422 13,457 12,228 2,683 145,371
Other material items of income  E 4t & AU A R B
and expense: A :
Government grants BHE & 3,609 - - - - - 3,609
Gain on disposal of prepaid ~ HEFE LTS
land lease payment ol - 7,085 - - - - 7,085
Income tax credit FEHER - - 7,267 - - = 7,267
Other material non-cashitems: EEAFESER :
Reversal of allowance for YT ERERD
receivables
— trade receivables -EWESEKE (3,568) - - - (116) - (3,684)
— other receivables — Hb e P A - (5,341) - - (910) (60) (6,311)
Impairment of fixed assets BEBERE - 4,218 - - - = 4,218
Deficits on property W% E B
revaluation - - - - 15,758 - 15,758
Additions to segment ERDHIERDEE
non-current assets 17,221 7,868 = — — — 25,089
As at 30 June 2018 RZZ-N\F
/N )E] E + EI
Consolidated total assets RABELE 814,200 1,730,251 169,525 193,531 98,025 171,257 3,176,789
Consolidated total liablities 44 & 4% 145540 275,619 59,449 14,751 30,030 974,485 1,499,874

7N B 28 R A R AR EFIE (o
B2 &S Bt BE2HmEER -

The Group’s revenue is derived from customers based in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and accordingly, no geographical
information is presented.
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12.

13.

FINANCE COSTS

12. B3 AR

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
Interest on bank loans RITERF B 6,838 6,256
Interest on other loans — wholly repayable HMWERME-ERNAF
within five years 2 ER(E = 5,079 6,616
Interest on bonds payable — not wholly ERESFMNE-EARA
repayable in five years 2 EpEE 80,710 69,722
Total borrowing costs EERAN4REE 92,627 82,594
INCOME TAX CREDIT 13. FTIBBE R
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Current tax BV A 7% 18
- PRC Enterprise Income tax - RS 34 69
— Hong Kong Profits tax -BBNEN - -
Deferred tax credit EEFIEE R (1,267) (7,336)
(1,233) (7,267)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
did not generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the
year (2018: Nil).

Tax charge on profits assessable elsewhere has been calculated at the
rates of tax prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates,
based on existing legislation, interpretation and practices in respect
thereof.

Pursuant to the income tax rules and regulations of the PRC, the
subsidiaries in the PRC are liable to PRC enterprise income tax at a
rate of 25% during the year (2018: 25%).

HRAKRERAFEYEEREELM
fa] & SR B0 F| - R I A 4 I (e & B A
SRR CE-N\F &) -

Hitiew 2 BRBGHNHBDRAKHE
REXBHEBRFR 2RTRE  RIEE
WHRITER RBEREPE-

RETEMBHARAEER  RERP
BN BRI ARBE2%(—ZF—/\F
25%) B TP B B ERASHR -
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13.

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued)

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC approved by
the National People’s Congress on 16 March 2007, from 1 January
2008, non-resident enterprises without an establishment or place of
business in the PRC or which have an establishment or place of
business in the PRC but whose relevant income is not effectively
connected with the establishment or a place of business in the PRC,
will be subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10% (unless reduced by
treaty) on various types of passive income such as dividend derived
from sources within the PRC.

According to the notice Cai Shui [2008] No.1 released by the Ministry
of Finance and the State Administration of Taxation, distributions of the
pre-2008 retained profits of a foreign-invested enterprise to a foreign
investor in 2008 or after are exempt from withholding tax. Accordingly,
the retained profits at 31 December 2007 in the Group’s foreign-
invested enterprises’ books and accounts will not be subject to
withholding tax on dividend on future distribution.

A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax using
the statutory rate for the countries in which the Company and its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax credit at the effective tax rates
are as follows:

13. IS8 K & @)

BEZEARRRTAGN_ZEZLF=
ATRXB#EZHBECEMREHE B
—EENEFE-HA—ABR EFBRAK
E R EBEBRISH BEEETEH

NRIZEBEBIISH BEREZE
@%Aﬁﬁﬁ¢l%ﬁ% % TS S0
G EERBE 2 IEEREE  §E
HEEEHWA(RE P ERAZRKR
B R EA0% (BR IER LU 5 FE R ) B
MR -

BEGRTIRERRELHE D 2T
PO08IsREA - R_ZTEENFHRZEMA
INEREEEDRIIEFZECE=FZEN

FRIZRBBFERCHMBINFIE -
Hit AEBZIHIERELEZEMK
REAIR -_EE+F+_A=+—8H
Z AR % FI AR AR R DR 2 BB B
TEHMHIE -

BRARBIREMBRAMERR ZAE
MEFEBHABRER 2HBEES

HIRERREFEZRER R 2 HRN
—F:

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FAT

Loss before tax % T Al S 1R (698,815) (225,881)

Tax at the statutory tax rate Hi 5% EMERAE Z2FIE (157,212) (47,102)

Income not subject to tax BAEWNE 2 WA (1,244) (7,078)

Expenses not deductible for tax A H0FE 2 124,251 28,038

Tax losses not recognised RERBIIEEE 40,624 30,880

Utilisation of unrecognised tax losses FAAERZFHIBEIE (7,652) (12,005)
Tax credit at the Group’s effective tax rate BEASEEBRHEFTEY

MIBHE & (1,233) (7,267)

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate amount of
temporary differences associated with undistributed earnings of
subsidiaries for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised is approximately HK$17,929,000 (2018:
HK$28,706,000). No deferred tax liabilities have been recognised in
respect of these differences because the Group is in a position to
control the dividend policies of these subsidiaries and it is probable
that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

RBEESHAEER  BZSETERREL
HBEEZHBRARAARSERMNEEZ
R Z R AL 517,929,000 T (==
— J\& : 28,706,000/ 7T) - MR A &£ E
EREEHZENBARZKRERE A
EAEZENBTIER ARG RER &
VWERZEEZERRECHEAR -
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14. LOSS FOR THE YEAR 14. XFEEE
The Group’s loss for the year is stated after charging/(crediting) the REBRAEEZEBLEHNR (5 A)
following: T 5% IBEFER
2019 2018
—ZE-AF AN
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHET
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 25 Bl BN <& 1,480 1,480
Provision/(reversal) of allowance for FEM OB B R/ B (Bm) FE
receivables, net
— trade receivables -FEWE 5ERE 3,714 (3,684)
— prepayment and other receivables - TE 7 FRIE I E h pE s E (4,893) (6,311)
Amortisation of other intangible assets BHEMERLEE (BT A
(included in administrative expenses) THE X H) 5,067 29,436
Cost of inventories sold EEFENRA 200,734 198,785
Depreciation of fixed assets EEEE 115,282 109,376
Loss on disposal of fixed assets TEEZHEEIE - 44
Minimum lease payments under operating THREFLELEHELHET
leases for land and buildings 2 RIERBEEMNRK 9,739 9,158
Factory overhead incurred during suspension of (EEHEEL > THEE
production (note) B (ffat) 75,493 60,421
Revaluation deficits on buildings BFEzEHEM 64,073 15,758
Staff costs (excluding directors’ emoluments): EIXRA(TBIEEEMNE) :
Wages, salaries and benefits in kind IE -FehkBEYWHN= 23,966 31,313
Employee share option benefits 8 T &Rt A 3,454 10,269
Retirement benefits scheme contributions R AR F AT 4 3R 6,879 7,334

Cost of inventories sold includes staff costs and depreciation of
approximately HK$12,475,000 (2018: HK$12,244,000) and
HK$6,398,000 (2018: HK$5,522,000) respectively, which are included

in the amounts disclosed separately above.

Note: During the years ended 30 June 2019 and 2018, factory overhead was
incurred during the temporary suspension of the production line of

CEFERABEEIRARITE D
Bl #912,475,0007% w( = & — N\ F:
12,244,000 7T ) % 6,398,000/ T (= =
—\%F : 5,522,000/ 7T) - HEFAR L

NBIRBEZEHEA -

M- B2 FT-AWEFrR-_ZF-NFAA=
THLEFE IHAERTINENE

Polyvinyl-chloride segment, Vinyl acetate segment, Calcium carbide
segment due to a substantial decrease in profit margin.

ERBETRERBAZLBOH BEL
BB RS DA EEREIFLE
HREL -
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’

15. EEMEREET N

EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments of each director were as follows: SEEZ2MEWT
Basic salaries, housing
benefits, other allowances  Retirement benefits Share option
Fees and benefits in kind scheme contributions benefits Total
HEExge REEREAN
ne HtRERENN G RRERGEHK BRENG @zt
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
ZE-NF ZB-0\F ZB-nE ZE-\f ZE-0F -0\ ZE2-nf T\ ZE-NF ZB-)N\F
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HKSO000  HK$'000
TR TET TER TR TiER TR TER TET TER TER
Executive directors  H{TEZE
Ms.Chan Yuk Foebe RS %+ - - 120 120 - = - 1,494 120 1,614
Mr. Yu Defa TEsgs - - 320 362 - - - - 320 362
Mr.LawTzePingEric ~ EFF 4 - - 300 300 15 15 - 1,342 315 1,657
Mr. Chen Lei (note) REXL (Hi2) - - 45 - 2 - - S 47 =
Independentnon-  BUFHTEE
executive directors
Mr. Ma Wing Yun Bryan & 88 1t 5 4 180 180 - - - - - - 180 180
Mr. Tam Ching Ho BRREE 180 180 - - - - - - 180 180
Mr. Hau Chi Kit REREE 180 180 - - - = - = 180 180
540 540 785 782 17 15 - 2,836 1,342 4178

Note: Mr. Chen Lei was appointed as executive director with effect on 24 April

2019.

The five highest paid individuals in the Group during the year included 1
(2018: 2) director whose emoluments are reflected in the analysis
presented above. The emoluments of the remaining 4 (2018: 3)

individuals are set out below:

M - REAENR-_ZT-AFOA-_+EA
ERZEIRNTES-

FRA AEELEERRFEERE 1S

“E-NF2R)EF REZHEE
REXZINZOMRBR - 2 T4R(ZF
—N\F:3R)EEBZHMEHIIWMT

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FBT FET

Basic salaries, housing benefits, other EXFHe FERMN - K2k
allowances and benefits in kind LEYH = 2,009 960
Post-employment benefits BB 12 1@ A 7 18
Employee share option benefits B BB HER = - 4,330

2,080 5,308
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND EMPLOYEES’ 5t

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

EEMEREEFMHN@

BN F LA TSR

Number of individuals

EEAR
2019 2018
—E-nE —2N\F
Nil to HK$1,000,000 = % 1,000,000/ 7T 4 -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7% 7T & 1,500,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T & 2,000,000 7% 7T - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 % 7T & 2,500,0007% 7T - 1
4 3

The Company granted 110,000,000 share options to employees on 24
December 2018. The fair value of share option is HK$3,454,000.

The Company granted 32,340,000 share options and 43,120,000
share options to employees on 17 July 2017 and 26 July 2017. The fair
value of share options are HK$4,026,000 and HK$5,975,000,
respectively.

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office in both years and no
director waived any emolument during the year ended 30 June 2019
(2018: Nil).

ARARZZE—NFE+_A=-+tHmAHEM
& 8 #% 110,000,000 17 & A% 4 - B8 A% #
2 A F1E 53,454,000 7T ©

ARRIESRAR_ZT—ttF+tA+tH
E—_Z—+tHE+t A+ HRAREREE
32,340,000 17 f % # K 43,120,000 17 & fx
W o B Z N FE D B A4,026,000%8
7T &% 5,975,000 7T °

I 7% P 8 2 - AN 58 A R ST A AT B
ETENEFTXALERSFHRERENER
0B 3 W% 51 18 55 00 B AR R B 2 AR 3K R
BHEREXRBZE-_Z-NAFXA=1H
LFE BEEENEFM—F AN
T
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16.

17.

DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend the payment of dividend for the year
ended 30 June 2019 (2018: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share

Calculation of basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the
Company is based on the loss for the year attributable to the owners of the
Company of approximately HK$667,369,000 (2018: HK$199,324,000) and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,231,598,662 (2018:
1,108,743,867) in issue during the year.

Diluted earnings per share

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years did not assume
the exercise price of outstanding share options of the Company since
did not assume the exercise of the outstanding share options as these
options were anti-diluted during the year of 2019 and 2018.

16.

17.

iR 2

EETEARNBE_Z-—NFAA=
THIEFEZRE(CE-NF: 8-

BREE

BREXEE
KARBEEAREEREARNEA
DRERXAAEBEAERLGARFE
/&5 18 49667,369,00078 jt( — T — J\ & :
199,324,000 ) M AN F E 2 17 & 3
% N4 S 15 801,231,508,662 8% (— T — )\
£ :1,108,743,867 %) it & ©

TR#ERF

55 IR SRR S S B AR A
AZHRTEBREOTER RER
SE-AFRZTN\FHRITEMR
LR S U R A R B
AR -
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18. FIXED ASSETS 18. BIEEE
Furniture,
office
equipment
Construction  Plant and Leasehold and motor  Pipelines
Buildings  in progress machinery improvements vehicle and trench Total
BE-BAE
B EEIR BERKE HENXEELE RER"E BERER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET FET TR TR TET FET
Cost or revaluation RARHEME
At 1 July 2017 R=ZE-—+t&+A—H 739,160 852,200 1,623,793 4,234 24,596 119,038 3,363,021
Additions NE - 17,197 5,675 - 1,497 720 25,089
Disposal He (798) = (1,521) = (459) = 2,772)
Revaluation B (82,073) - - - - - (82,073
Transfer B = (73,159) 38,308 - - 34,851 -
Additions through acquisition 3 B Yz B [t B 2 F)1E A0
of subsidiary - - - - 143 - 143
Exchange differences EHERE 24,611 26,563 39,052 - 754 3,518 94,498
At 30 June 2018 and RZZE-NFRA=+H
1 July 2018 kR=ZT-NFtA—-A 680,900 822,801 1,705,307 4,234 26,537 158,127 3,397,906
Additions NE - 6,539 3,725 - 7,979 - 18,243
Write off s = (73,793)  (924,344) - (5,809) - (1,008,946)
Revaluation 4 (202,871) - - - - - (202,871)
Transfer B - (296,290) 296,290 - - - -
Additions through acquisition % 18 4 i 4 /B 72 711
of subsidiaries - - - - 18 - 18
Exchange difference EHERE (28,446) (29,769) (61,282) - (847) (6,992)  (127,336)
At 30 June 2019 RZZE-NEAXA=TAH 449,583 429,488 1,019,696 4,234 27,878 161,135 2,082,014
Accumulated depreciation R E
At 1 July 2017 R-Z—+&tA—H = - 736,734 3,194 20,191 30,009 790,128
Charge for the year FRAY 29,530 - 70,932 358 945 7,611 109,376
Disposal e (27) - (1,445) - (263) - (2,139)
Impairment loss HEEBE = = 4218 = = = 4218
Write back on revaluation EEEERE (30,430) - - - - - (30,430)
Exchange differences EXER 1,327 - 43,448 - 661 998 46,434
At 30 June 2018 and RZZE-\EAA=TH
1 July 2018 k=ZE-N\F+tA—-H - - 853,887 3,552 21,634 38,618 917,501
Charge for the year FRRX 25,205 - 79,965 358 2,333 7421 115,282
Charge through acquisition FRUE N B D A
of subsidiaries - - - - 3 - 3
Write off s = - (589,020) = (5,109) - (594,129)
Write back on revaluation EEEEE (24,899) - - = = - (2489
Exchange difference EXES (306) - (28,795) - (586) (1,733 (31,420)

At 30 June 2019 RZZE-NF A=+H = = 316,037 3,910 18,175 44,306 382,428
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18. FIXED ASSETS (continued) 18. B E & E @)
Furniture,
office
equipment
Construction  Plant and Leasehold and motor  Pipelines
Buildings  in progress machinery improvements vehicle and trench Total
BE - BAE
B EEIR BERKE HENXEE RER"E BERER o
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET FET TR TR TET FET
Carrying amount REE
At 30 June 2019 R-B-AFRA=1H 449,583 429,488 703,659 324 9,703 106,829 1,699,586
At 30 June 2018 RZZE-NF~A=tH 680,900 822,801 851,420 682 5,003 119,509 2,480,315
Analysis of cost or revaluation R =Z—HREXA=+HZ
at 30 June 2019: RASE- D :
At cost B A - 429,488 1,019,696 4,234 27,878 151,135 1,632,431
At revaluation REf 449,583 - - - - - 449,583
449,583 429,488 1,019,696 4,234 27,878 151,135 2,082,014
Analysis of cost or revaluation R ZE—-N\EXA=tHZ
at 30 June 2018: AR E /A -
At cost B A - 822,801 1,705,307 4,234 26,537 158,127 2,717,006
At revaluation RERG 680,900 - - - - - 680,900
680,900 822,801 1,705,307 4,234 26,537 158,127 3,397,906

At 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of certain buildings amounted to
approximately HK$240,276,000 (2018: HK$352,000,000) for which
relevant legal titles have not yet been obtained. At the date of approval
of these consolidated financial statements, the application for obtaining
the aforesaid legall titles is still in progress.

At 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of buildings and plant and
machinery pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans and other
loans amounted to approximately of HK$330,806,000 (2018:
HK$526,230,000) and HK$679,471,000 (2018: HK$697,265,000),
respectively.

R—ZZE—NAFE~NA=Z+8 BHBET
¥REEMAERZETEFZEEE
#4) /240,276,000 (= T — )\
352,000,000/ 7T ) © R A 4R & B 75 7 &K
HEBH  EMAM AT ERZBHED
FEEATH o

R-ZE—NAFEFNA=Z+THBH ERAE
ERTERKEMERKBERER
CEFURBER#SE ZEEED B
#J /330,806,000 ;L ( = T — J\ F:
526,230,000 Jt.) % 679,471,000/ 7t (=
T — \ 4 : 697,265,000/ 7T ) °
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18. FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

At 30 June 2019, the Group’s buildings were revalued on the
depreciated replacement cost basis/direct comparison approach by
Ample Appraisal Limited, independent firm of chartered surveyors, at
approximately HK$449,583,000.

At 30 June 2018, the Group’s building were revalued on the
depreciated replacement cost basis/direct comparison approach by
Sino-Infinite Appraisal Limited, independent firm of chartered surveyors,
at approximately HK$680,900,000.

The carrying amount of the Group’s buildings would have been
approximately HK$377,098,000 (2018: HK$416,511,000) had they
been stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.

During the year ended 30 June 2019 and 2018, the Group carried out
reviews of the recoverable amount of fixed assets used in the
Polyvinylchloride, Vinyl acetate and Calcium carbide segment, having
regard to the condition of product lines and the market conditions of
the products. The reviews led to the recognition of written off on
construction in progress, plant and machinery, furniture, office
equipment and motor vehicle approximately of HK$73,793,000,
HK$335,324,000 and HK$700,000 during the year 30 June 2019
respectively and an impairment loss plant and machinery of
approximately HK$4,218,000 for the year ended 30 June 2018 that
has been recognised in profit or loss. The recoverable amount of the
relevant assets has been determined on the depreciated replacement
cost basis, details of which has been set out in note 8(c) to the
consolidated financial statements.

18.

BlEEE®m
R-ZB—NEAA=+AR AEEE
ThBURSNEMTERTEERD
ARFSMEERAL B EE B
#) /449,583,000 7 JT, °

R-ZZ-N\FEXA=1+TH A&EENE
FTHEZFFANEMITHRAGERA
ARNTHREBERANE ERLEEER
#9 /%680,900,0007% 7T °

BEAEEZEFERARZ I
EXREBEAKR EHEKEEER
#4) /377,098,000 T( = ZT — )\ F:
416,511,00078 7T ) °

BHE_ZEZ— L&k ZT—-—N\FXA=
THLEEE AEELARERRER
FERMARBAREE LK BB ZG
EixbiEoBzETEE 2 /] O & 58
HITEMN - BHIBEE-ZT—ALEAX
A=+HALLFERRAMBEEEIR Y
¥ BEEZRE BM WAZRERA
B % Bl #773,793,0008 JT * 335,324,000
BT K 700,0008 TAREE —T—\F
ANAZTHALEFEERRE RS RE
E518 494,218,000/ 7t - WE KRB 1
ReBREEZTRESENIRNTHE
BERNEET  EFBHREEVER
=M 5E8(c) °
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19. PREPAID LAND LEASE PAYMENTS 10. AL HEE
HK$’000
FAET
Cost R
As at 1 July 2017 W-—_ZE—+HF+H—H 417,696
Disposal H & (22,859)
Exchange difference fE =5 6,513
As at 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 RZE—N\EFENAZ+BER=_ZTE—NFtA—H 401,350
Exchange difference PE N =58 (14,024)
As at 30 June 2019 R-ZZE—hFEA=1+H 387,326
Accumulated amortisation S
As at 1 July 2017 R-_ZE—+F+tH—H 71,318
Charge for the year FARXE 6,559
Disposal H e (3,483)
Exchange difference EH =% 1,100
As at 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 RZE—NEXNA=+BE-_Z—NF+tA—H 75,489
Charge for the year FRAX 6,528
Exchange difference B o, =58 (2,979)
As at 30 June 2019 R-ZZE—hFNA=+H 79,038
Carrying amount EREE
As at 30 June 2019 RZE—NAFEA~A=1+H 308,288
As at 30 June 2018 R-ZZE—NFXA=+H 325,861

The Group’s prepaid land lease payments are held under long leases
located in Hong Kong and held under medium-term leases located in
PRC.

At 30 June 2019, the carrying amount of prepaid land lease payments
pledged as security for the Group’s bank loans and other loans
amounted to approximately HK$233,948,000 (2018: HK$246,764,000).

AEEZENTHEEREBREBERS
HOKERRPEREPHBOFS -

R-ZE—AFEXNA=1+H gAEER
TEFRREMEFRERERERZEMN
+ i A & BR [ (& %) /& 233,948,0007% JT
(ZZ— )\ 4 : 246,764,000/8 7T ) °
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20. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE

Reconciliations of the Group’s investment in joint venture accounted for

using the equity method are as follows:

mRa B R R MY AL ()

20.

REELEZRE

AEEEARREARZRAELEY
REZHERWT

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-N\F

HK$°000 HK$’'000

FTHER FHET

At 1 July ntA—H 3,614 -

Additions NE - 3,727
Share of post-acquisition loss and other FE(E UL BB 12 B8 &

comprehensive expenses Hth2EHAX (682) -

Exchange realignment PE 5 58 & (145) (113)

At 30 June WARA=+H 2,787 3,614

Details of the Group’s joint venture:

Name of joint venture

RELEER

Principal activity

AEEGELEZHE:

Place of incorporation Proportion of ownership

and principal place interest/voting right

of business held by the Group

= 8 B 37 3t 26 rEBEFEEZ

REZEXK I ek REELH
2019 2018

—2-nF ZF-N\F

Zhongshan Dongjing Property
Consultant Limited*
(“Zhongshan Dongjing”)

o L T 3R 8% B 3 2E B
BRAR([FILRE])

Property agency service ~ PRC

) 2 IR IR 7 B

Summarised financial information of the joint venture is set out below.

The amounts presented below are after adjustments made to equity-

account the joint venture.

* for identification only

51% 51%

EOMBEARBERN T T
SHERALOERAEIELSE

|
S
=
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20. INVESTMENT IN A JOINT VENTURE (continued) 20. REEBLEZKRE @
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FET FAET
At 30 June: RANA=1+8:
Current assets MEBEE 8,841 7,330
Current liabilities MEBAE (5,043) =
Year ended 30 June: HENA=Z=+THILLEE:
Revenue & 105 =
Loss for the year KEEFEE (1,363) -
Commitments HHIE
2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Capital investment to a joint venture REBLEZEARKSE 2,214 2,313

The Group and independent third party (“JV investor”) entered into an
agreement (“JV agreement”) for formation of a joint venture company,
Zhongshan Dongjing. It is intended that the Zhongshan Dongjing would
be held as to 51% by the Group and 49% by JV investor. According to
the JV agreement, Zhongshan Dongjing would jointly operating by the
Group and JV investor. Sharing of result of Zhongshan Dongjing would
be 50% by the Group and 50% by JV investor.

FEBEBUE=F(AELERE
FURILHAE(RLELEBHEDERZ—
MAELEATRURE - FILREF
EMAKEREGERCERENDAFKE
51% % 49% - RIBE A L X W& & 1L
REFHAKRBERAELERET AR
LE-AKBERAGZLOERETHNH
IWRERAE -
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21. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 21, HhE\EEE
Exclusive Trade Technical Construction
right name know-how  contracts Goodwill Total
5% BHE REMAR  BESAY wE @
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TET TET THEx TE=R
(Note)
(F3E)
Cost BA
At 1 July 2017 RZT—+5+tA—H 72,347 33,459 17,619 - - 123425
Acquired in a business REBAHHLE
combination - - - 38,606 - 38,606
Exchange difference N EZ% - - 516 (425) - 9
At 30 June 2018 and RZE-NEXA=TH
1 July 2018 k=ZE-NF+tA—H 72,347 33,459 18,135 38,181 - 162,122
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHB AR = = = = 699 699
Exchange difference EHZH = = (771) (1,623) - (2,39
At 30 June 2019 RZZE-h&~ A=+H 72,347 33,459 17,364 36,558 699 160,427
Accumulated amortisation R BERHEER
and Impairment losses
At 1 July 2017 RZE—t&E+A—H 72,347 33,459 17,533 - - 123339
Amortisation for the year FNEH - - 0 29,346 - 29436
Exchange differences R =R - - 512 (432) - 80
At 30 June 2018 and RZZE-N\EXA=+H
1 July 2018 k—T-NF+tA—H 72,347 33,459 18,135 28,914 - 152,855
Amortisation for the year F R = - - 5,067 = 5,067
Impairment loss EERE - - - - 699 699
Exchange differences &R ER - - (771) (1,291) - (2,062)
At 30 June 2019 R-ZE-A&EX A=1H 72,347 33,459 17,364 32,690 699 156,559
Carrying amount IREE
At 30 June 2019 R-B-NEXA=TH - - - 3,868 - 3,868
At 30 June 2018 RZZE-N\FXA=T+H = = = 9,267 - 9,267
Note: During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group acquired 100% issued M 2T —hAFEA=1+THIHF

B AEERBEGELBBIZR
ERATNEHDEHITRA  BR
U B8 52 A 12 7 3R 78 2 4699,00078
T HRMBRREL REE=
E-NERNA=1TBLEFE®ER
SR (B JE5 18 49699,00078 JT °

share capital of Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited and
goodwill of approximately HK$699,000 was recognised upon completion
of the acquisition. An impairment loss of approximately HK$699,000 has
been recognised during the year ended 30 June 2019 due to deterioration
performance.
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Place of incorporation/

22. B A T &E#

Percentage of

registration and Issued and paid up/ equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
gL/ BRTRHR/ ADRMR
£ RS AfMELS EREAEIHE FTEEXR
Direct Indirect
H# %
Dragon Boom Investments Limited British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$1 ~ 100% - Investment holding
(“BVI")
EEREARAR RBRAES TBBR1ZET REER
(RERL#HS])
Gold Capture Investments Inc. BVI Ordinary US$1 ~ 100% - Investment holding
RERZHS E@BRI1IZET REER
Prosper Path Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 ~ 100% - Investment holding
EEELHS ETER1ZT REER
Quality Gain Investments Ltd. BVI Ordinary US$1 ~ 100% - Investment holding
KBRERES TER1ZT REER
Better Day Power Ltd. BVI Ordinary US$2  100% - Investment holding
ERREFRAA HBERES T@EkoET REER
Master King Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 ~ 100% - Inactive
EREEERAA EH LERIBT TEXH
Daytech Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$2 = 100% Investment holding
REEEERAR ERELHS LEkoxT REER
Powerful Rise Group Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 = 100% Inactive
HBEXES TER1ZT EREH
Racing Dragon Group Limited BVI (Note (a)) Ordinary US$100 = 90% Investment holding
(“Racing Dragon”)
FESEFRAATEED ERELHS LERI00ET REER
(Hi3E (a)
Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited PRC (Note (b)) RMB110,000,000 - 100% Generation and supply of heat and power
(“Mudanjiang BD Power”)
HATEAREERAA(MHEAIERRE]) #E(H0) AR #110,000,000 70 EERHERERESN
Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical Limited PRC (Note (c)) RMB558,844,178 - 100% Manufacture and sale of calcium carbide
(“Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical”)
HATHECIERAA(MEAIEELRT]) R B () AR #558,844,178 T BUE R EBRLES
Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical Engineering PRC (Note (d)) RMB110,910,000 - 63.11% Manufacture and sale of vinyl acetate
Company Limited (“Mudanjiang Dongbei
Chemical”)
HATRIECTERA R (MHATRIACT]) & (i) AR %110,910,0007¢ BERHERR LS
Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin Chemical Co., Ltd.  PRC (Note (e)) HK$230,000,000 = 100% Manufacture and sale of
(“Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin”) polyvinyl-chloride
HATIRESHEIERAA B (Pt (e)) 230,000,000/ 7 SERHERALR
(M IR
Heihe LongJiang Chemical Limited PRC (Note (f)) RMB265,000,000 - 90% Manufacture and sale of calcium carbide,
(“‘Heihe LongJiang Chemical”) polyvinyl-chloride and vinyl acetate
BARIEIBRARATRAEIEI) B (I () A R #265,000,000 70 BUERHERLST BLRER
BERZE
Mudanjiang Jinyang Municipal Engineering PRC (Note (g)) RMB23,900,000 = 100% Provision of municipal engineering
Company Limited (“Jinyang Municipal”) construction services
HATEETRIRERAA(EBTR) & (HiEQ) A #23,900,0007C RETB I REERS
China Zenith Construction Materials Limited Cayman Islands Ordinary HK$0.01 = 100% Inactive
REREMBRRA REHS LAR0.01%E T EREH
Success Eagle Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 = 100% Provision of administrative and
consultancy services
BRREFERAR 0 LTER1IET RATTBRB Kk R
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

—NENA=ZTHALFE

Place of incorporation/

22. i D T E R @)

Percentage of

registration and Issued and paid up/ equity attributable
Name operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
gEmRL/ BRTR#R/ ADR
8 R E E R AfMELS EREAESHE TEER
Direct Indirect
BE %
Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited BvI US$50,000 = 100%  Investment holding
EHEEREBRERARAR EBEXEE 50,000% 7T REEK
China Xinyang Maojian Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 = 100% Investment holding
FEEREREBERA e & ® % 10,0007 T REER
Xinyang Maojian Overseas Development Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 = 100% Inactive
EHERBHERBBRLDA Bk i AR 10,000 7T EEEYL
Shenzhen Pinxiang Trading Limited PRC RMB50,000,000 = 100% Investment holding
AIREEHERAF FE AR #50,000,0007C REEK
Xinyang Maojian Chaye (Shenzhen) Company PRC (Note (h)) RMB20,000,000 - 100% Sales of beverage products
Limited
EHEERKE(RINERR B (B EE () AR #20,000,0007T HERH
Notes: B 5
(@  The Group acquired further equity interests in the subsidiary on 17 June @ AEBRZZTE-—A"FAAT+EBAKE
2016, and the percentage of equity interests attributable to Company ZMBARIZEZRE AR AR

increased from 67% to 90%.

Mudanjiang BD Power is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise registered in
the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing from the
approval date of 9 June 2006.

Mudanjiang Daytech Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 30 December 2006.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Chemical is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture
established in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 27 May 2004.

Mudanjiang Dongbei Gaoxin is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
registered in the PRC for an operating period of 50 years commencing
from the approval date of 26 April 2005.

Heihe LongJiang Chemical is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise
established in the PRC for an operating period of 20 years commencing
from the approval date of 5 June 2008.

Jinyang Municipal is a limited liability company established in the PRC
with indefinite operating period.

Xinyang Maojian Chaye (Shenzhen) Company Limited is a limited liability
company established in the PRC with indefinite operating period.

B 5t R 67% 1% I ZE90% °

HATEARESNPEEMZINE

BELE - W“%am&a%fjvﬁ
FRANB R BHEIS0F -

HATIREAIARPEZMZING
BELE LLEHEHAEBH -

FH-—A=1THRBRH504F -

HATREIAT AR P KL ZF I
AERELE KEHAMERE =
TNERA -+ BB BH50F -

HEIRIESHARTREEMZIINEG
BEMCE KEHEMERPR=-FZTA
FA -+ NARAHS04E -

ﬁm% W%@Q&EH@_??AE
NAT B REI204F -

EHEMBRARFEKIZAERAR I
ERETCEH -

EBERFERIDERDARBRH
BRIz BRAR WEBEELEH -
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22. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have non-
controlling interests (“NCI”)) material to the Group. The summarised
financial information represents amounts before inter-company

22. B A TER @)

TRITEEHAEEBEAZ FIEMR
Bam(FERES D ZMB AR ER -
PRl M EMIERRFEEHEAZE

eliminations. 2 o
Mudanjiang
Dongbei Chemical Racing Dragon
La = DA | (A FEEE
2019 2018 2019 2018
—E-AFE ZE2E-NE —E-AFE ZE-NF
Principal place of business/ FEEE MM
country of incorporation XS B R PRC/PRC PRC/PRC PRC/BVI PRC/BVI
HELRE B RE HE FE
EERZHEE ABEXHS
% of ownership interest/voting  3F #22 I& 1 %5 P 15 P & 1
rights held by NCI R EREY 36.89% 36.89% 10% 10%
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FA&T FET FAT
At 30 June: RAB=+8:
Non-current assets EMENE E 41,495 100,834 1,012,274 1,193,383
Current assets MEAE 289,112 299,609 30,247 50,656
Non-current liabilities EMBEE - - (146,273) (221,821)
Current liabilities nEBBE (81,995) (81,464) (1,175,511) (1,267,802)
Net assets/(liabilities) BE/(AR)FE 248,612 318,979 (279,263) (245,584)
Accumulated NCI REtEERER 91,713 117,671 (27,926) (24,558)
Year ended 30 June: BEAA=+THLEE:
Revenue & - - 75,844 74,661
Loss &5 18 (57,509) (81,415) (89,982) (77,005)
Total comprehensive income 2 [ Yg A 42 %8 (70,367) (27,821) (33,679) 61,512)
Loss allocated to NCI DETIEERER B (21,215) (11,589 (8,998) (7,701)
Total comprehensive income DB FIFERER 2 &2 E
allocated to NCI WA B R (25,958) (10,264) (3,368) (6,151)
Dividends paid to NCI IR TIHERERZRE - = - =
Net cash (used in)/generated &% &8) (FT ) AT 15
from operating activities REFRE (1,030) (926) (13,658) 23,336
Net cash used in investing KEEHFTAIR S F5
activities - - (8,579) (7,869)
Net cash generated used in BMEEBAR S F5
financing activities - - (16,276) (35,813)
Effect of foreign exchange INEEREH) v &
rate changes 1,029 928 39,673 3,035
Net (decrease)/increase RekREeEBEEE
in cash and cash equivalents  (J§4>) /& Hn % 58 (1) 2 1,160 (17,311)
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23.

24.

INVENTORIES 23. &

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-)N\F
HK$°000 HK$’000
FH&xT FAET
Raw materials B R R 40,485 28,231

TRADE RECEIVABLES 24. EWE ZERIE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E—)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Trade receivables eI E 5 k1B 55,455 168,656
Less: impairment R E (12,593) (161,908)
42,862 6,748

The Group’s trading terms with customers are mainly on credit. The
credit terms generally range from 60 to 180 days (2018: 60 to 180
days). The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by the directors.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, based on the invoice date,
and net of allowance, is as follows:

AEBFEREERIETPETR
S FEH RN TFE0EI80R(ZZF —
N 60E180H ) » AN & E B /1 B 18 4%
FIHREERERE SHREHREHE
EEHERM -

MR 5 BRE (N B ) R B
SHZERAFMT :

2019 2018

—E-NF —E-)N\EF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FER FET

Within 30 days 30H R 17,239 77
31 to 60 days 31£60H 393 6,660
61 to 90 days 61£290H 1,630 11
91 to 120 days 912 120H 1,006 -
121 to 150 days 121 2150H 934 -
151 to 180 days 1512 180H 21,359 -
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 301 -

42,862 6,748
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24. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 24. EWE 3 RE @)

As at 30 June 2019, an allowance of approximately HK$12,593,000
(2018: HK$161,908,000) was made for estimated irrecoverable trade
receivables.

The reconciliation of allowance for trade receivables is as follows:

R-ZBE—HhERNA=+H B2ttt ra
U Bl e W & 5 AR TH AT 32 5 4912,593,000
BT (ZZ— )\ : 161,908,000/8 T) °

EWE ZRERE UKW T

2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
At beginning of year REA 161,908 160,832
Provision/(reversal) of allowance, net B, S (BB R 3,714 (3,684)
Adoption of HKFRS 9 BB B R E LR L5 12 -
Expected credit loss TEHEEEE 3,301 =
Written off i 85 (149,412) -
Exchange differences ME i, = 2 (6,930) 4,760
At end of year RER 12,593 161,908

As of 30 June 2019, trade receivables of approximately HK$301,000
(2018: HK$11,000) were past due but not impaired. These mainly relate
to an independent customer for whom there is no recent history of
default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:

MNZZ—NAFERNA=1H EKWBFE
I8 #9301,000% T (=& — /U £ : 11,000
B EaBETSERE tEBHEH—F
MHEE R ERCRZ2BIRFAR -
ZERWESREZERRTAT

2019 2018
—E-hE —E-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THER FET
Overdue: A
Up to 90 days & %90H 301 11

The Group’s trade receivables are denominated in RMB.

The Group’s policy is that it recognizes an allowance for doubtful debts
that represents 100% of all trade receivables overdue for more than
365 days. For trade receivables that have been overdue for less than
90 days, the Group closely monitors the recoverability of these
receivables. Management believes that the amounts of which no
allowance was made are recoverable taking into account the
relationships with and settlement history of these customers.

AEBZREKEZHRBAARKE:

AEBERRRE 2 A8 H 8 B35 K
MEWE ZERBARKERRE - ZERXNA
HAORORNEWE 5 RE - NEBE &
BUERZEERRFENA KRB Z
BRREZEEFZANBERERERE B
T EEERR UEFLBEENAH
SRIEAL A Y o
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25. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

26.

27.

25.

ANRE TR EMEER

RECEIVABLES FIE
2019 2018
—E-NEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHExT FHET
Prepayment A FE 94,820 89,086
Deposits I 17,311 62,131
Other receivables H o fE Y 3R IR 42,556 107,357
Other financial asset (Note) Hiom&E (M s 6,351 =
161,038 258,574
Note: B E -
Other financial asset represents the fair value of put option for acquisition on HtheMEERRKECEBEELABRZERSE
100% issued share capital in Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited. BRARIZEEHITRANZEREZ AFE-
4= +
BANK AND CASH BALANCES 2. RITRBAEHEF

As at 30 June 2019, the bank and cash balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately HK$3,006,000 (2018:
HK$3,089,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject
to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations.

RZFE-NAFARNA=ZTH A&EEN
ARBREMNZRORBEEFOR
3,006,000/ 7T (= % — J\ % : 3,089,000
BIT) e AR R IMINE AR BECONE
BREOIDRCGEE - EERMEETER
FED BRI ©

SHARE CAPITAL 27. B
2019 2018
—E-hE —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHER T T
Authorised: JETE
5,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 5,000,000,000 % & f% T &
HK$0.10 each 0108 Lz L @K 500,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEEITRHR
1,332,427,319 (2018: 1,110,427,319) 1,332,427, 319 (= ZF — )\ F :
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each 1,110,427,319 /%) B IR E &
010 T2 E@I% 133,243 111,043
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

27. B A (@)

Number of
ordinary
shares issued Par value
ERITEBER
4= HE
‘000 HK$’000
TR FAT
At 1 July 2017 W-Z—+t&+HA—H 1,078,087 107,809
Exercise of share options (Note (a)) 17 {58 BB A% A (Fft 7% (a)) 32,340 3,234
At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 RZZE—NFA=+H
EZ_ZE-—NF+tHA—H 1,110,427 111,043
Issue of new shares under a subscription B IE R 1T R, (K5 (0)
agreement (Note (b)) 220,000 22,000
Exercise of share options (Note (c)) 17 {58 R A% A (BfY 7% (c)) 2,000 200
At 30 June 2019 R-ZZE—NFEA=1+H 1,332,427 133,243

Note (a): On 20 July 2017, the subscription rights attaching to 32,340,000 share

options issued pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company
were exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.31 per share, resulting
in the issue of 32,340,000 shares of HK$0.1 each for the total cash
consideration of approximately to HK$10 million was used for general
working capital.

Note (b):On 5 October 2018, the Company entered into a private placing

agreement with the substantial shareholder of the Company for the
placing of an aggregate 220,000,000 new ordinary shares of the
Company at a placing price of HK$0.315 per share. The gross proceeds
raised amounted to approximately HK$69,300,000 (the net proceeds
will be approximately HK$68,800,000) and resulted in the new increase
in share capital and share premium of approximately HK$22,000,000
and HK$47,300,000 respectively. The placing was completed on 10
December 2018. Details of the placing were set out in the Company’s
announcements dated 5 October 2018, 15 November 2018, 30
November 2018 and 10 December 2018 respectively.

N EACE

B 5 (o) -

R-T—t+tF+LtA=-+B BEX
7~ 7] B8 AR R 5t &l B 17 232,340,000
DEBRERNSCREERTRRE
H03IE T RBERITE  EH
%% 1732,340,000 % & §% 0.1 7% T 2 I%
m BESRENICES S LE A
E—REEES -

R=ZZF—NFE+ARH ' AARH
AARKMEERET LI AREH
% AR A B S 4 220,000,000
BARAFEER BEBAESR
R5H03158 L FTE &£ 2 FT 18 &K
T8 44 %8 #) /69,300,000 7T ( Fr 15
IR F B 1§ B #968,800,0007% T )
KB B R A R &0 5 B o Bl 8
22,000,000 Jt } 47,300,000 7T °
EEEHER-_ZT—N\EFE+-_A+
AEK BEEFEFBIAHR R
AR AE-_ZT—N\F+AHEA "
—E2—NF+—A+HB - —_F—
NFE+—A=Z=+BE=ZE—NF+
—ATRZAER-
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27. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued) 27. 7 m)

Note (¢): On 1 April 2019, the subscription rights attaching to 2,000,000 share
options issued pursuant to the share option scheme of the Company
were exercised at the subscription price of HK$0.345 per share,
resulting in the issue of 2,000,000 shares of HK$0.1 each for the total
cash consideration of approximately to HK$0.9 million which was used
for general working capital.

28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was adopted on
20 December 2012 for a period of 10 years. The purpose of the
Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible
participants as incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group.
Under the Scheme, the directors may, at their sole discretion, grant to
any eligible participants options to subscribe for ordinary shares of the
Company at the highest of (i) the closing price of the shares of the
Company as stated in the daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange
on the date of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotations sheet of the Stock Exchange for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant; and (i) the nominal
value of the shares. The offer for a grant of share options may be
accepted within 21 days from the date of the offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercise
period of the share options granted is determinable by the directors
and in any event not later than 10 years from the date of grant of share
options, subject to the provisions for early termination thereof.

e R=ZZFE—HAEMA—H  REAA
7] B AR A 5t 8 3% 97 2 2,000,000 17 BB
RRAEFT 75 2 RIBE IR B RRH0.345
BITHRBERTE BRET
2,000,000 8% & BX 0178 7T 2 B 19+ 48
BEREHOIOBAEB TEAE—K
BEES -

28. B HEETE

RARN - E——F+_A -+ HEH
BHI0F 2 BRE I ([ZEr 8 - %
SEIZEMAFEASEERAG LIRS A
ERLERE FARSHASEED
Rtz B ER BIEZTE EF
AeERNERERNEER2HEERTE
B UIRGARRKRORIEEREE
BREZBE(WEREXR)EHMIAMETAH
MERARWTE: (A DARDRE
FRERIEREZANAEZEEAR
BMXMBAREBERAREHRME: &
(iR AE=EFTESIERRBLRA
AEEK - BRETRNREEE L ABHR
21 BB AR ABRE NS
BB T2 RHANNKRE o FTi% L B AR E
ZOEHhRESEY EEBRESKLL
ZHEERBRT EXMNBERLTRAELE
A& B BB AT 10F AR -
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The maximum number of shares to be allotted and issued upon the
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Group
must not in aggregate exceed 30% of the relevant class of shares of
the Company in issue from time to time. The total number of shares
which may be allotted and issued upon exercise of all options to be
granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent to 10% of the
shares of the Company in issue as at the date of the extraordinary
general meeting held on 20 December 2012.

Share options do not confer rights to the holders to dividends or to
vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Details of the specific categories of options are as follows:

28. BRESTE w0

Fr B 1R 45 3% 5t 8 J2 AN & [ 4F ] H b B AR
REETEIE R E M ARITE 2 BREET
ERETEERET RO EE
GEHIABEZRARARTREEITHBE
R AR 73 2 30% ° B 1% Z 5T 8l 4§ =% 2 P
EREREETERARSERETZRNG
weE - HERERRER RKE AFA &
—E——HF+ A+ HZAATDE
TR EE #910% ©

BREYEETHEEABRZREIRNR
RREBREZHER -

BREZEEDERFFMNOT

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Option C Option A Option B
BREC BREA fEREB
Grant date 24 December 2018 17 July 2017 26 July 2017
=i A —E-N\F+ZAZ+mMmA el o = —EZ—+FELA=+A

Vesting period (Note (a)) 24 December 2018 17 July 2017 26 July 2017

% 8 5 (M55 () ZE-NF+ZAZ+mIH ZE—tF+A+tH —ZT—+tF+tA=+H

Exercise period 24 December 2018 to 17 July 2017 to 26 July 2017 to

23 December 2021 16 July 2020 25 July 2020

1766 58 ZE-NF+ZAZ+tWMAZE —ET—+tFtAt+tHE T tFtAZ-+XRAZE

—EZ—F+-RA=+=H i S A —Z-ZF+A-+HA

Exercise price at date of grant 0.325 0.31 0.345
REHBBZTEE

Price of the Company’s shares at 0.325 0.31 0.345

the date of grant (Note (b))
ARBRG KL B H# 2 B
(Ff 7 (o)

Notes:

(@) The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the grant until
the commencement of the exercise period.

(b) The price of the Company’s shares disclosed as at the date of the grant
of the share options is the higher of the closing price of the shares of the
Company on the date of grant of the share options and the average Stock
Exchange closing price for the five business days immediately preceding
the date of the grant of the share options.

@ BREz2EEHARHLAHETEH
s LEHAR -

() ARAERGRAERER
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 28. BRETE W

At 30 June 2019, 172,680,000 share options (2018: 64,680,000 share
options) remains outstanding under the Scheme, representing 13% (2018:
6%) of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at that date. The
Scheme allows the Directors of the Company, when offering the grant
of any option, to impose any condition including any performance
target which must be met before the option shall vest and become
exercisable. The share options granted so far by the Company have
been imposed with just a service condition. The exercise price is
determined by the Directors of the Company, and will not be less than
the highest of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on the date
of grant and (i) the average closing price of the shares for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant. HK$1 is
payable by each eligible participant to the Company on acceptance of
an offer of options, to be paid within 1 month from the date of the offer.

The movement of share options granted and

R-ZZE—NENA=Z+H8 ZtE =@
T E 172,680,000 B E(ZZF — N\
F : 64,680,00017 ¥ A% #) i KR 1T 1E + 48
ERADNARNZADEHITERK Z213%
ZE—)\F :6%) c i Sl R HAARRA]
B BRI WA ) B A% A B B 0 £ {77 58
B BRENERESBRKXAAITE
RAEZEAMERREBEZE - AR A B AR
o AR N —ERB G - 1T1E
BHRARRESETE  RATERUT
EmalARRRONZL A2 KT
BERiEORBEERHANATAES %
AzFEHUME SEERSHEER
EMERBZEORAARAZMF1E LR
ARBHBHRBT—@ARNIH-

EREBEREREREMNEF

weighted average exercise prices of share options HiTHEE2E2T
Director Employee
=3 B8
Weighted Weighted
Number of average Number of average
share exercise share exercise
options price options price
BRE mMELEY BRE mELH
HE TEE HE TEE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Outstanding at 1 July 2017 RZFE—tF LA —BEKRTE - - 12,980,198 3.72
Forfeited during the year KEERK = - (12,980,198) 3.72
Granted during the year KEERH 21,560,000 0.328 75,460,000 0.33
Exercised during the year RKEFZITE - - (32,340,000) 0.31
Outstanding at 30 June 2018 and R —ZE— NFXA=+H X
1 July 2018 —Z-NF+A-HEKRITHE 21,560,000 0.328 43,120,000 0.345
Granted during the year KEERH - - 110,000,000 0.325
Exercised during the year KEEZITE - - (2,000,000) 0.345
Outstanding at 30 June 2019 RZZE—-hFENA=TH
i R AT 2 21,560,000 0.328 151,120,000 0.33
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28. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 28. BRESTE W

The share options outstanding at 30 June 2019 have exercise prices of
HK$0.345 per option (2018: ranging from HK$0.31 to HK$0.345 per
option) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 1.53 years
(2018: 2.06 years).

For share options granted during the year ended 30 June 2019 and
2018, the share options were measured at fair value at grant date with
reference to a valuation report prepared by Sino-Infinite Appraisal
Limited, calculated using Black-Scholes Pricing Model with the
following key assumptions:

M-ZE—-HERNA=ZTHEERTEER
BEZITEBRO3MGET(ZT — )\ F
FHEKRENT0.318 T E0.345%8 7T)
ENMEFHBRTEHFERAR13F(=ZF
—\F :206%F) -

RREBEE-_ZE-—NFE_FT-N\FXA
STRELEFERBZBEREMS Bk
REERLAMZATFERE Eh2%E
TRFEARAAREZGEEREL(E
A — FRATEBRALETHE
FrE e RS RN T

2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\E
Option C Option A Option B
BREC BREA BR#EB
Share price R B 0.325 0.31 0.345
Exercise price TR B 0.325 0.31 0.345
Expected volatility (note below) T8 BA% B (T 3BT ) 85% 85% 85%
Expected options life T8 HA BB A% 4 & HR 3years 3F 3 years 34 3 years 34
Expected dividends TEHARR B 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rate (per annum) mERFIE(FF) 1.869% 0.907% 0.934%
Fair value of a share option at grant date &R ER % H B Bl 2 A F & 0.0314 0.124 0.139

Note: The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility based on data
available for the past 1.5 years. Changes in the subjective input
assumptions could materially affect the fair value estimates.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss for the current year in
respect of the Scheme amounted to HK$3,454,000 (2018:
HK$12,837,000).

Share options were granted with a service condition. This condition has
not been taken into account in the grant date fair value measurement of
the services received. There were no market conditions associated with
the share option grants.

B 5 < T8 583 B 7 BA 25 0B 1.5 T 18 B
TELRBAER - THMEARRER
PRRRYAFEGHELEANE -

AEERZTERBEERZAX
48 78 53,454,000 (=T — N\ F:
12,837,000 7T) °

BhEZROMERBEESE S EZR
BRELBH XA FEFERTAZEK
1 o RE R HE X ) 48 T S5 AR 0 AR B AR 1 o
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 20. ARRI2MBERRRRBEE

30 September 2019. EROE R
Chan Yuk Foebe Law Tze Ping Eric

& ETY

Chairman Executive Director

]

HITEF

MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY =)
(@) Statement of financial position of the Company (@) ADaZHBMRRE

2019 2018
—E-hE —E—N\F
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
B 7 FBT FET

Non-current assets IRBEE
Investment in subsidiaries BB AR Z®E 22 45,341 45,341

Current assets REBEE

Due from subsidiaries JE U Bt /B 2 B 3R IE 754,083 1,266,798
Other receivables H fth fE U FRIB 1 11,364
Bank and cash balances RITERESET 116 28,238
754,200 1,306,400
TOTAL ASSETS wWEE 799,541 1,351,741

Capital and reserves BRAERFEE
Share capital E@iN 27 133,243 111,043
Reserves ke 29(b) (483,120) 149,570
Total equity HRER (349,877) 260,613

Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Bonds payable FEfHE S 895,111 820,458

Current liabilities REBAE

Due to subsidiaries & -} BT BB 2 B 3R IE 241,468 267,779
Other payables and accruals E b FE < 518 K FERT RUE 1,589 2,891
Bond payable BT EH 11,250 =
254,307 270,670
Total liabilities wmes 1,149,418 1,091,128
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES HEZREE 799,541 1,351,741
Net current assets REBEESE 499,893 1,035,730
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRBEE 545,234 1,081,071
Approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on R-E—NFNLA=ZTBHEES
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29. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 20. ARRI2MBERRRRBEE

MOVEMENT OF RESERVE OF THE COMPANY B @)
(Continued)
(b) Reserves movement of the Company (b) K TR z®EEES
(Accumulated
Share losses)/
option Other Retained
reserve reserve profits Total
i8R (BstEB)/
f#HE HtREE R 88 Fl Hat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET FHT
At 1 July 2017 R-_ZE—+F+H—H 10,722 - 244,997 255,719
Loss for the year AEEERE = = (125,777)  (125,777)
Cancellation of share options 5T $H BB A% hE (10,722) - 10,722 -
Employee share option benefits & & B I% # 7| 25 12,837 - - 12,837
Exercise of share option T2 (4,026) - 10,817 6,791

At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 R =—ZE—NEA=1+H

EZZ—-NEtHA—H 8,811 - 140,759 149,570

Loss for the year rEEBE - - (684,196)  (684,196)
Issue of shares under 1B 4 B 10 B & 3517 I 1D

share placement - - 47,300 47,300

Employee share option benefits & 5 B I& # 5125 3,454 = = 3,454

Exercise of share option 1T{E R AR AE (277) - 942 665

Acquisition of subsidiaries W B Bt /B A &) - 87 - 87

At 30 June 2019 RZZT—NFRA=+H 11,988 87 (495,195) (483,120)
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30. RESERVES

(a)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
are presented in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Nature and purpose of reserves of the Group

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Fixed asset revaluation reserve

Fixed asset revaluation reserve has been set up and is
dealt with in accordance with the accounting policies
adopted for buildings in note 5(d) to the financial
statements.

Share option reserve

Share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual
or estimated number of unexercised share options granted
to employees and business associates of the Group
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
adopted for equity-settled share-based payments in note
5(r) to the financial statements.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign operations. The reserve is dealt with
in accordance with the accounting policies set out in note
5(c) to the financial statements.

Other reserve

Other reserve represents the fair value of the contingent
consideration for acquisition on 100% issued share capital
in Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited. The
acquisition is set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

30. f# &

rEHE
ARBZERCERARDRE
AREMAZRRGAEREHE

(@)

275
rEEREZHEERAR
() BEEEEEMHE

(ii)

(i)

(iv)

BEBEEEGRBIRERNM
5 3R R MT 5 5(d) T # Bt 12 F K
MeB8tBRRILIMEE -

BRERE

R R A % 18 15 AR IR B B 75
2 P EEB() A B AR 5 B 2 B £
RN SRR ER
TEERERXRBHREAL
BB ARTT (R Bt B R K
HEtEB ZAFE-

HNEE 1 18
SNERBEESMERRES
SINEBHBHRRMEL ZE
REB ZEEIDRERB
WA M EESC) P& ot R B
o

HibfEE

Hi R EREREEE TR
BMIETR AR AR 2 EE BT
BARFANREZAFE- %
WHEEESNRETERE
B 7E37 ©
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31. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

The movement in deferred tax liabilities account is as follows:

3. EEHRERR
EEHARRRE ZEHMT -

2019 2018
—E-hEF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHER FHET
At beginning of year REH (17,542) (17,017)
Credit to profit or loss (Note 13) T AEZ= (MFE13) 1,267 7,336
Charge to equity MAa#Ez= 15,485 2,656
Acquired in a business combination REBE G IE - (9,652)
Exchange differences EH =R 688 (865)
At end of year RER (102) (17,542)
The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised THARRTEBERESHE  NEFH
by the Group, and the movements thereon, during the current and prior MRZIEEREEMBEELEE (AR RE
reporting periods: SE)
Other
Accelerated tax temporary Revaluation
depreciation differences of buildings Total
Deferred tax EER E H fth B B
b B 18 Hr =8 BFEM mEt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET
At 1 July 2017 W—_Z—+FtA—H 64,029 30,878 (111,924)  (17,017)
Credit to profit or loss FFAEE 7,336 - = 7,336
Charge to equity me#n - - 2,656 2,656
Acquired in business combination 1A 3 7§ & 4 i Uk BE (9,652) - - (9,652)
Exchange differences E N =% 1,875 904 (3,644) (865)
At 30 June 2018 and 1 July 2018 R=Z—\FXA=1+AH
E=F—NFtHA—H 63,588 31,782 (112,912) (17,542)
Credit to profit or loss FTAER 1,267 - - 1,267
Charge to equity mek#Es - - 15,485 15,485
Exchange differences X Z5 (2,801) (1,340) 4,829 688
At 30 June 2019 RZZE—NFA=1H 62,054 30,442 (92,598) (102)

Other temporary differences on deferred tax liabilities represent the tax

effect on allowance of account and

other receivables.

iR E TR B (E B E bR B Z R R
AR EAMEBRAR BRI E
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32. TRADE PAYABLES 32. ENEZKRE
The Group normally obtains credit terms ranging from 30 to 120 days AREB —REMRERES TFI0E1208 (=
(2018: 30 to 120 days) from its suppliers. T—)\F :30E120H) 2= EH -
The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on the date of receipt of ENESEREEWNERAHEY 26
goods, is as follows: BoOmmT :
2019 2018
—E-AF —E—-)N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Within 30 days 30BN 8,437 3,499
31 to 60 days 31260H 7,178 15
61 to 90 days 61£290H 2,486 8,328
91 to 120 days 91&E120H 5,910 10,348
121 to 365 days 121 £ 365 H 26,091 36,118
Over 365 days #1365 H 8,453 41,863
58,555 100,171
The Group’s trade payables are denominated in RMB. NEF 7 ENESEBEIUARKS(FE -
33. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 33. HtEREREFTRE
2019 2018
—E-AF —E-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Other payables H h FE < 5/IE 322,746 390,865
Accruals fE st I8 12,063 19,724
334,809 410,589
Less: Other payables for repayment more than & : #B¥@ 1218 A & K b fE B &
12 months (show under non-current BITRRIERE B E)
liabilities) (208,799) (251,313)

126,010 159,276
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34.

35.

OTHER LOANS

At 30 June 2019, a loan of approximately HK$28,263,000 (2018:
HK$29,633,000) is interest bearing at 4.35% p.a. (2018: 4.35% p.a.),
secured by the pledge of the Group’s fixed assets and prepaid land
lease payments and is repayable within one year.

At 30 June 2018, a loan of the Group of approximately HK$23,706,000
granted from an independent third party is interest bearing at 12% p.a.,
secured by the pledge of the Group’s fixed assets and prepaid land

lease payments and is repayable on demand.

BANK LOANS

The Group’s bank loans are repayable as follows:

. Hitb &K

M-ZB—HENA=18 " #28,263,000
Bt (ZZ— N\ : 29,633,000 T)E
FIRFEFEABENB(ZE—NF: F
FEA3BE)  UAEBENETEEERTE
NS ERT YAR—FANEE -

M-BE—NENA=1+H KEHE—
BENE =B E 2B K 28,706,000
BT IRENR12EBE WAEEE
TEEREMNLTHE S EIFIELKE
WERBREE -

CRITER

AEBZRITEFAR T HAEER

2019 2018
—F-NF —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAET

Term loans subject to a repayment on AT RS Y TR
demand clause 18,670 35,559
Within one year —F R 33,770 37,957
In the second year F_F 2,663 2,606
In the third to fifth years inclusive F=FRERTF(RIEEREMSE) 8,330 8,158
After five years AF% 10,410 13,495
73,843 97,775

Less: Amount due for settlement within W12 A RAEEEZKIEB
12 months (shown under current liabilities) GBlERBHEE) (52,440) (73,516)

21,403

24,259
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35. BANK LOANS (continued) 35. (RITER @)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s bank loans are denominated in NEBETERZEBMETIA TS EH
the following currencies: y=%::K VM
2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAET
Hong Kong dollars BT 24,009 26,812
RMB AR 49,834 70,963
73,843 97,775
At 30 June 2019, bank loans were arranged at floating rates ranging RZE—NENA=1H"  RTEXR
from 2.10% to 8.50% p.a. (2018: 2.10% to 8.50% p.a.), thus exposed ZEFEF KRN F210EB E850EB(ZF
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Bank loans are secured by the —N\FE: EFEK210EE850F ) 5t & -
pledge of the Group’s fixed assets, land held under finance leases and WAREBRBAZHSRANRE - $£17
prepaid land lease payments. BERUARE EEE REREHEE
BEzLHREMLHESERIELSIKR
o
36. BONDS PAYABLE 36. B ES
The movement of the bonds payable is as follows: EREER SN T :
2019 2018
—B-hE —FN\F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHExT FHET
At beginning of year REH) 820,458 633,475
Issuance of bonds BITES 22,380 126,548
Interest charge for the year FARFBEHAX 71,910 69,722
Interest paid for the year FAZFHF B (8,387) (9,287)
At the end of year RE R 906,361 820,458

During the year, the Group and the Company issued fixed rate
corporate bonds with total principal amount of approximately
HK$307,000,000 (2018: HK$1,084,900,000).

AEBEAARRFANBITEEHNEZ
EESH - AN 854 A307,000,0007%8
7T (=ZZF — J\4F : 1,084,900,0007%& JT) °
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36. BONDS PAYABLE (continued)

The Group'’s total outstanding bonds were repayable as follows:

37.

36.

[ EORE- 20 )
AR E Y BB E AR T

fER

2019 2018

—E-NEF —E-)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

TEx TAET

Within one year R—FRA 11,250 -
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_FEERF(RIEEEMT) 722,878 549,311
After five years AF 1% 725,790 887,607
1,459,918 1,436,918

The bonds payables are unsecured and interest bearing at coupon ENELEAEERARIEEE XN FIE

rates ranging from 3% to 12%.

The bonds payable are measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method, and the effective rates are ranging from 3% to 18.92%
p.a. (2018: 3% to 18.92% p.a.) after taking into account the transaction
costs directly attributable to the issuance of the bonds.

E12EF B °

JE - 18 55 DA B B B 0K 12 8 8 Bk AN &1
E RARBOIBFEERGZRSGE
AEERFEFENTRIEEZ18.92E (=
T—N\F:FHNENFIEE1892F) °

BUSINESS COMBINATION 37. ¥ 5t
2019 —E-NE
Business combination that took place in the year NEERIEPNEKRS G
On 5 October 2018, a subsidiary of the Company acquired 100% RZZE—NFT+AREB AQAaKHBEA
issued share capital in Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited Al LA 8 %0.397% JT #9220,000,000 f& A%
and its subsidiaries, at consideration of 220,000,000 shares at DHRBWEESSELEHEIZEREE A
HK$0.39, in order to continue the Group’s expansion of new operation. FIRENRB AT I BBITIRA - LA
The 220,000,000 shares will be issued to the vendor upon satisfy the &R N &£ B /) #H ¥ 7 0 220,000,000 A%
profit guarantee as below: RDEREF N aMEREBRE S E
7 :
For the six months For the eighteen
ended 31 December For the year ended months ending For the two years
Guarantee Period 2018 30 June 2019 31 December 2019  ending 30 June 2020
BE-Z-N\¥ BE-Z-1F BE-Z-h&F BE-Z-%2%F%
+=A=+-8 AHA=1H TSAEr=E ANRA=T+AHLE
RELE EAEA LEFE E+NEA MEFE
Accumulated audited Not more than loss of ~ Not less than profit of Noloss  Not less than profit of
profit/(loss) after tax RMBS5,000,000 RMB8,500,000 RMB21,500,000
BRER RITEERRT(BE) BETEBARE wEHAORARE BER BRI DR AR
5,000,0007T 8,500,000 7T 21,500,000 7T
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 37. ¥k 6tmw

2019 (Continued)

—E-NIFuwm

Business combination that took place in the year

(Continued)

The acquisition has been treated as a business combination. The

details are as follows:

Principal activity of the acquiree

KEEBRENELS O @)

WECREBEHRE #B0T:

The Group’s equity interest

and voting power acquired

HEBANETEEY rEEWBHNEERRER
Xinyang Maojian International Holding  Sales of beverage products
Limited and its subsidiaries 100%
EEERBEBREZERER QA H & Bk
REKE A
Contingent consideration RARRE
HK$’000
FET
Fair value of contingent consideration XAREZ A TE 87

Details of assets and liabilities of the acquiree RIKEBEHHEANB KRB REE
recognised at the date of acquisition REEFHS
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB MEE 4
Accounts receivable & 5
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR RIE - 5T @ K& A b E YRR 475
Bank and cash balances RITERSET 850
Other financial asset Hiv e m&E 1,016
Accounts payable FEF 5RIR (630)
Other payables and accruals H fth &S FRIB M FE AT FE (2,432)

Net liabilities acquired

BAZREFRE

612)
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 37. ¥ 6tmw

2019 (Continued) —E-NF @
Goodwill arising on acquisition WBEEZESE
HK$’000
FHET
Consideration KRB 87
Add: Identifiable net liabilities acquired m:EBAZABANAGEFE 612
699

Performance of the acquiree from the date of acquisition
up to the end of the reporting period

Included in the Group’s loss for the year was HK$6,414,000 generated
by Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited and its subsidiaries
since the date of acquisition. The Group’s revenue for the year included
HK$662,000 generated by Xinyang Maojian International Holding
Limited and its subsidiaries since the date of acquisition.

Goodwill arose in the acquisition of Xinyang Maojian International
Holding Limited and its subsidiaries because the consideration for the
acquisition reflects the future economic benefits expected to be
generated from combining the acquiree’s operation with the Group’s
operations.

If the acquisition of the Xinyang Maojian International Holding Limited
and its subsidiaries had been completed on 1 July 2018, the Group’s
revenue for the year ended 30 June 2019 would have been
approximately RMB665,000 (approximately to HK$764,000) and loss
for the year ended 30 June 2019 would have been RMB4,445,000
(approximately to HK$5,107,000). The pro forma information is for
illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 July 2018, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

HUEBFEBWBEHEEZRSE
HRz®kE

BUEE B SRR ERBBRIERER
» A& E B A A E L E 186,414,000
B AL EEFEFE - A5SE®
FERZEFEEGERNEABRERERA
AREMNBATARERHEELRN
662,00078 7T °

REBERERRBREEND  BHK
BEBERERERARARLENE
RAEEZHEBERELORKBLEE
RASBEEENAHIER -

MR EBEEETARBERERARRE
WEBARR_E—NFLtA—HZEK"
AEERBE=_ZE—AFNA=1H
LEFEE2Z2WEB N A AREE650007T
(#)764,000%8 L) MREBEE=ZF — 1L
FRAZTHLEEEZEBEBAARE
4,445,0007T (#75,107,000/8 7T ) ° I &=
EREHGHRR T—ThAREKE
MR-ZZE—NFLtA-—BERZBRTA
SEERMBREREEEEZERZ.
A ER BB EE 2 TEAl -
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (Continued) 37. ¥ &/t @
2018 —E-N\F
Business combination that took place in the year REEREINEBEH

On 7 January 2018, a subsidiary of the Company acquired 100%
voting equity interest in Jinyang Municipal, at consideration of
RMB64,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$76,704,000), in order
to continue the Group’s expansion of the “Construction services”
operation. The acquisition has been treated as a business combination.
The details are as follows:

Principal activity of the acquiree

MR-ZZE—NE—AtH RARAFH—K
Mo /B A ") AR E A R # 64,000,000 7T (6
ERH76,704,0008 L) WEE B TR 2
R NEERRAEENEER
HIES - WECKEBAHERE  F15
FUNNE

The Group’s equity interest
and voting power acquired

HEBETNEEXER AEBUBENESRRERE
Jinyang Municipal Provision of municipal engineering construction service 100%
ol REMRIERERE
Consideration transferred CEERE
HK$'000
TET
Cash paid during the year FALZAMIES 24,794

Details of assets and liabilities of the acquiree
recognised at the date of acquisition

REUBRHBRINRUBLIEE
REEHE

HK$’000

FHETT

Property, plant and equipment M BB R 143
Intangible assets mLEE 38,606
Inventories EE 12,327
Accounts receivable JE U 2B 352
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables AR HRIE - 5l & R E b KRR 329,922
Bank and cash balances RITRREET 605
Accounts payable &S RIE (156)
Other payables and accruals H th & 1~ R8I FE RT RUE (171,970)
Tax payable FES R IE (102)
Short-term bank loan RHERITER (95,880)
Deferred tax RIEF I8 (9,652)
Net assets acquired BAZEERE 104,195
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued)

37. %i%é‘ﬁ?(ﬁ)

2018 (Continued) = — \F @)
Gain on bargaining purchase arising on acquisition H&,ﬁE E2REB AR
HK$'000
FHETT
Consideration KB 76,704
Less: Identifiable net assets acquired W EBAZAEANEEFE (104,195)
Gain on bargaining purchase HEBAZKE (27,491)

Net cash flow effect arising from the acquisition

WRELEZFRESRELE

HK$’000

FAET

Cash consideration paid 2fEeNRE (24,794)
Cash and cash equivalents acquired BAZReMESEEEE 605
Net cash outflow FIRE R A (24,189)

Performance of the acquiree from the date of acquisition
up to the end of the reporting period
Included in the Group’s profit for the year was HK$16,013,000
generated by Jinyang Municipal since the date of acquisition. The
Group’s revenue for the year included HK$108,009,000 generated by
Jinyang Municipal since the date of acquisition.

Had the business combination been effected on 1 July 2017, the
revenue of the Group from continuing operations would have been
HK$445,865,000, and the loss for the year from continuing operations
would have been HK$205,607,000. These amounts have been
determined based on the following assumptions:

- the annual depreciation of property, plant and equipment was
determined based on the fair value of the property, plant and
equipment at the date of acquisition; and

- the annual amortisation of intangible assets was determined
based on the fair value at the date of acquisition.

Management of the Group considers that these ’'pro-forma’ numbers
are just for reference only which the acquiree may or may not achieve
these results in the future.

- PR -EBERX

- BREEZEFEHEHEE

WHEFRBWERHZRE

RZRHE

BWEBSHE SBETRELF AR

;‘%$¢F§5§%IJZ<£%E7,%16,013,000%
CAKBAFERERIESHETMRA

LISZE%EIHEEEZH& £108,009,0007 Tt

WEKAHEE-_T—tFLtA—B4&
e Elmﬁlﬁﬁf,ﬁé*’%ﬁ%?im&m
15 5 445,865,00078 7T * A R IF B K & %
1 2 7N [ B 18 1§ /205,607,000 T ©
ZESBEDNENUTBRET :

Rz FENEER
ME BELEREREEABMZ A

FEEE &

MU EE B
HZRAFEEE -

AEHEEEBRAZETHEBBREM
2E HERBEBTARRABEEERS
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38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On 19 November 2012, China Electricity Construction Consultant
Group Dongbei Electricity Design College (translated from the Chinese
name of FEIE N T2 EEEILE RGP (the “Plaintiff’) filed a
writ (the “Writ”) at the high court of Heilongjiang Province in the PRC (“the
Heilongjiang High Court”) against Mudanjiang Better Day Power Limited
(“Mudanijiang BD Power”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

Mudanijiang BD Power had contracted the Plaintiff to construct certain
coal-powered electricity generating facilities at the business address of
Mudanjiang BD Power (the “Contract”). Owing to the alleged delay in
the progress of the construction, the Plaintiff claimed () the payment of
the contract sum in the amount of approximately RMB42,700,000 and
the interest thereon; (i) the grant of the first priority right to receive
payment from Mudanjiang BD Power in respect of the subject
construction project under the Contract; (i) damages in the sum of
approximately RMB13,300,000 for alleged termination of the Contract;
and (iv) the legal fees arising from this legal case. The Company has
been seeking legal advice in respect of the Writ on the dispute in the
payment for the Contract since December 2012. According to the
management of Mudanjiang BD Power, the construction work had
been slowed down because the financial resources available for the
project development were tied up by unfavourable business operations
since 2009.
During the year, the Heilongjiang High Court had adjudged that
Mudanjiang BD Power was liable to compensate the Plaintiff of
approximately RMB36,700,000. Upon the end of the financial year,
Mudanjiang BD Power was negotiating with the Plaintiff to continue the
construction of the coal-powered electricity generating facilities. Once
performance of the Contract was resumed under the mutual agreement
between Mudanjiang BD Power and the Plaintiff, part of the damages
granted may be absorbed in the cost of construction.

The management has made sufficient provision for this legal claim and
believes that a favorable settlement could be reached with the Plaintiff.

38.

ZREE

R-B——F+— ﬂ+h5 HEE
ITREREERILENRAKRTRED
APEREIESFER(REISS
ERDREHSHARBAEEZENER
AHMATIERREARAR(HATLE
BRE) 2RISR -

HNETEBRESURAHAIEBRST
EEWE P ETHRRBEREELLR
M TFRETERD BAREBERT
BESEL REHRIINERSHE
A8 A R ¥ 42,700,000 7T & E A &
@&ﬁaﬁﬂiﬁaﬁﬁﬁAﬁﬁTz

BRESHABWDMREBEZELELE:
mlﬁm%ﬁéH&%%@ﬁAEM
13,300,0007C : R((WARERFREEZ
FRERH -AQRRE-T—Z—F+=A
B—ERBHARNRFRZSHKSE
kEARER - BREHAIEBRTER
B ARE-_ZZTNFRAEETER
BACZVBERITAEFREAME
G SREBIR—HES-

RAEER ZEISSEAREHSH
RBIERREEARNRERENOARE
36,700,000t ° R BREFE K& - H AT
EARTHREETER  NEER

BMRBEERN - AR — & ST ERER
BHREEEFRETMERT ML
B EBR (BT BE BN IR AN A R 2R AR AR AP

BEEECHRILEZZARRTCEE
I AR {E 7Y B2 R 5 5 A A A A IR K o
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39.

40.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 39. EAXREIE
The Group’s capital commitments at the end of the reporting period are N EHEEER NEF 2 ENKIE
as follows: N
2019 2018
—B-hE —T-N\F
HK$°000 HK$’'000
FER FHET
Contracted but not provided for BRI B KRB
Buildings and construction in progress BFREETRE 38,379 593,461
Capital investment in joint venture REEREZERKE 2,214 2,313
40,593 595,774

LEASE COMMITMENTS

The total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases are payable as follows:

40. HE & IE

AEEREAAHBELLEHENRKE
NZREBEBBEARTIRR M

2019 2018

—E-hF —E—)N\F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTET FET

Within one year —F RN 2,164 2,424
In the second to fifth years inclusive F_EEERF (BIEEEMF) - 1,414
2,164 3,838

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for
certain of its offices. Leases are negotiated for a lease term of 3 years
(2018: 3 years) and rentals are fixed over the lease terms and do not
include contingent rentals.

The Company did not have any operating lease arrangements as at 30
June 2019 (2018: Nil).

REVMESNREAEEREETHAE
EfRzHEE HERTHEMA/IF(=F
—NF:3F) MES HRHEHHAEE R
T AERAARBE -

RZB-—NFERA=+H ARALE
EARERELRHE(CTE-—N\F &) -
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41.

42.

(a)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 41. %8B & RE XK=
OF CASH FLOWS
Major non-cash transaction FEXRRERS
The payable for business combination of HK$51,910,000 was RZ=ZT—\FXA=+H" 51,910,000
outstanding as at 30 June 2018. BT EBA RN RIEMARER -
The proceeds from disposal of prepaid land lease payments of 25,080,000/ ;2 HE BN L FH £ FT
HK$25,080,000 were settled with the other payable of HK$25,080,000. 18 FX A 125,080,000 7 JT 2 H b & 1 3%
THHKEH o
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 42. BEALTRS
Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, BIRAMERERMIBEEII AEFHE
the Group had the following transactions with related parties: BiEATHZTSWT :
Transactions with related parties (@ BEBEALHRS
The Group had the following transaction with the related parties RER  AEBHBEBEALTHRS
during the year: m
2019 2018
—E-NF —E-N\F
Note HK$ HK$
B =E & T BT
Acquisition of subsidiaries W B M /&8 1 =) (0 87 -
Purchases of goods from related B AR B EESm
company 0] 754 =

i) The related company was controlled and beneficially owned by
connected person.

) BB AR mEAEALTERIESR
A -
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42.

43.

44.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 42. BEALIRZ @)
(b) Other transaction with related parties b) ERAEALTHNHEMERS
Compensation of key management personnel FTEEEBAEBNTMGSGE
The remuneration of directors and other members of key FA EENEMTEEEERKS
management during the year was as follows: HOE BN a0 T -
2019 2018
—E-hF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Short-term employee benefits RHEBRA 2,210 2,070
Post-employment benefits B B 1218 A 33 33
Employee share option benefits EEBRENR - 5,672
2,243 7,775
EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 43. REWREH
On 9 September 2019, the Company entered in a loan agreement with RZE—NLFELAALB AARE—F
a financial institution to borrow an amount of HK$35,000,000. The loan SREEBIIVER S WEASE
is secured by the property of the Group in Hong Kong, interest bearing 35,000,000/ L - ZE XU AR EBRF
at 18% p.a. and repayable in one year. EHMEEERT  REFNERIBES S
WER—FANEE-
APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 44, #tEMBHR T

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
Board of Directors on 30 September 2019.

MBEBRRER_-_ZFE-NFHLA=THE
E=eERBETE-
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